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·1· ·Thereupon, the following proceeding began at 9:32 a.m.:

·2· · · · · · ·VICE CHAIR BROWN:· We are going to set this

·3· · · · meeting today, September 15th.· Time is 9:32.· This

·4· · · · is our first live GoTo Meeting.· I apologize to the

·5· · · · folks if we have a little hiccup.· I personally did

·6· · · · this morning as well.

·7· · · · · · ·Just for purposes of decorum, though, please

·8· · · · raise your hand.· For those of you that are on the

·9· · · · call, Commissioners, raise your hand so that we

10· · · · don't speak over each other.

11· · · · · · ·Same thing with staff, please feel free to

12· · · · just wait for people to finish their speaking

13· · · · before we interrupt so that the stenographer can

14· · · · also have a clear record.

15· · · · · · ·Also for those that want to speak from the

16· · · · public, if you would like to speak, you can raise

17· · · · your hand as well or send Dixie Parker an email

18· · · · right now.· Her email address is

19· · · · Dixie.Parker@FLGaming.gov.

20· · · · · · ·And then for the items, we have three items

21· · · · before us today.· Again, you can speak.· You can

22· · · · raise your hand, and I'll identify you.· Or you can

23· · · · let Dixie know, and then we'll let you speak.

24· · · · · · ·So with that, if there are no further

25· · · · administrative matters, Mr. Trombetta, I think we
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·1· ·go ahead and go to Item 1.1.

·2· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· My name is Louis Trombetta, as

·3· ·it's spelled on the screen.· I'm joined here with

·4· ·three other members of staff on video.· I'll kind

·5· ·of just run through it.· Joe Dillmore,

·6· ·D-i-l-l-m-o-r-e.· Joe is the Director of the

·7· ·Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering.

·8· · · · On the other side of the table is Ross

·9· ·Marshman, general counsel, M-a-r-s-h-m-a-n.· And

10· ·then next to him is Ms. Jamie Pouncey,

11· ·P-o-u-n-c-e-y.

12· · · · So thank you, Commissioner Brown.· As you

13· ·mentioned, I think the first item on the agenda is

14· ·an application for cardroom license, which, Jamie,

15· ·are you prepared to present?

16· · · · MS. POUNCEY:· Yes.· So this is Ocala Breeders'

17· ·Sales initial cardroom license application, Case

18· ·2023042076.· Ocala Breeders' Sales possesses a

19· ·current and valid quarter horse permit that held an

20· ·operating license for the conduct of pari-mutuel

21· ·wagering for the 2020-2021 fiscal year.

22· · · · And Ocala Bets was issued a pari-mutuel

23· ·operating license for the 2023-2024 Fiscal Year.

24· ·They have submitted an initial application for a

25· ·cardroom license and paid the $34,000 licensing fee
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·1· ·to operate 34 tables.

·2· · · · The Commission must confirm that Ocala Bets is

·3· ·a licensed pari-mutuel permitholder that held an

·4· ·operating license for the conduct of pari-mutuel

·5· ·wagering for the 2020-2021 fiscal year.

·6· · · · They have paid their $1,000 per table annual

·7· ·licensing fee for the cardroom.· The authorized

·8· ·cardroom will be operated at the same facility in

·9· ·which the permitholder is authorized under its

10· ·valid pari-mutuel wagering permit to conduct

11· ·pari-mutuel wagering activities.

12· · · · We've confirmed that they have submitted their

13· ·written internal controls and that Ocala Bets has

14· ·provided proof of authorization of the cardroom by

15· ·the governing body where the cardroom will be

16· ·operating.

17· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you, Ms. Pouncey.

18· ·For purposes of just our legal posture, we heard

19· ·this at our last meeting on September 7, 2023.

20· · · · Mr. Trombetta or Mr. Marshman, do you want to

21· ·just give us the legal posture we're in today?

22· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Sure.· The applicant has

23· ·applied for an initial cardroom license.· This was

24· ·previously on the agenda scheduled for last week,

25· ·last Thursday.· We, due to just getting some
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·1· ·information in, we decided to move this to a

·2· ·separate meeting to make sure that the public had

·3· ·full notice and materials to be provided to the

·4· ·public.· So we're now in a position where the

·5· ·Commission is in a position to make a decision on

·6· ·whether or not the applicant is fit for licensure.

·7· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you for summarizing

·8· ·that.

·9· · · · Commissioners, do you have any questions?

10· · · · Or, Mr. Ventura, would you like to speak?

11· · · · If not, we can take it to the Commissioners.

12· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Vice Chair Brown, can I

13· ·ask a question?

14· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Certainly, Commissioner

15· ·Drago.

16· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Director Trombetta, is

17· ·there a staff recommendation on this item?

18· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Commissioner Drago, we can

19· ·provide -- I'm just trying to figure out how to

20· ·answer this question.· I think we're comfortable

21· ·kind of saying that it appears that the applicant

22· ·has provided the required information.

23· · · · But in a situation like this where the

24· ·applicant is applying for a license for a cardroom,

25· ·we didn't necessarily think it was our position to
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·1· ·advocate for or on behalf of the applicant.

·2· · · · So we'd be happy to provide any information

·3· ·about any documentation as part of this

·4· ·application.· But I think in terms of the

·5· ·recommendation, the applicant has provided and met

·6· ·all the requirements as part of this application.

·7· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Thank you.

·8· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Commissioner Drago, any

·9· ·further comments or questions?

10· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· No.· I'm good.· Thank

11· ·you.

12· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Vice Chairman Brown,

13· ·may I ask a question?· This is Commissioner

14· ·D'Aquila.

15· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you, Commissioner.

16· ·Yes.

17· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Executive Director

18· ·Trombetta, have all of the internal control

19· ·concerns that were addressed earlier in the

20· ·application process been addressed to the

21· ·satisfaction of the Gaming Commission.

22· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· We can't hear you,

23· ·Mr. Trombetta.

24· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· I'm going to refer to Joe

25· ·Dillmore to answer that question.
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·1· · · · MR. DILLMORE:· Joe Dillmore, for the record.

·2· ·Yes, there were a couple of slight clarifications

·3· ·in internal controls and then one slight amendment

·4· ·to the internal controls.· So we think the internal

·5· ·control requirements have all been met with the

·6· ·amended application.

·7· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Thank you.

·8· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you.· Good question,

·9· ·Commissioner D'Aquila.

10· · · · Any other questions from Commissioners?

11· · · · Commissioner Repp.

12· · · · COMMISSIONER REPP:· No questions.

13· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· All right.· Well, we are

14· ·ripe for a motion to take up this application for a

15· ·cardroom license.· Commissioners, can I get a

16· ·motion to approve the initial application here?

17· · · · Commissioner D'Aquila.

18· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· I would like to make a

19· ·motion to approve this initial application to

20· ·operate a cardroom.

21· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you.· Can I get a

22· ·second, please?

23· · · · Thank you, Commissioner Drago.

24· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Second.

25· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· All those in favor, signify
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·1· ·by saying aye?

·2· · · · (Multiple ayes.)

·3· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· It passes unanimously.

·4· ·Thank you.· And thank you, Mr. Ventura.

·5· · · · MR. VENTURA:· Thank you.· I just want to thank

·6· ·the Commission for doing this in this fashion.  I

·7· ·appreciate the effort that was made on the Division

·8· ·side and the Commission side to accommodate this

·9· ·situation.· I just want to thank you, and hopefully

10· ·we'll be open soon.

11· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Excellent.· Thank you.

12· ·Good luck.· Best of wishes to you.

13· · · · Let's move on to Issue No. 2, which is a

14· ·discussion of Florida Gaming Control logo design.

15· ·Commissioners, you have all been given -- I know,

16· ·Commissioner D'Aquila, we've been given a few

17· ·different examples of potential logos over the past

18· ·few months.

19· · · · Since that time, we have a new Commissioner as

20· ·well on board.· My understanding is that we have a

21· ·team of creative folks, and I don't see them on,

22· ·but I know that they're on.

23· · · · MR. HUNT:· We're here.

24· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Before we get to

25· ·Commissioner questions, can we have staff kind of
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·1· ·just give us an overview of how we got to these

·2· ·different design options, please.

·3· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Yes, Vice Chair.· So

·4· ·background, we've been working with 223 Agency.

·5· ·I'm going to introduce Mr. Jim Hunt.· We initially

·6· ·entered into a contract with them to procure

·7· ·services related to design.

·8· · · · There's been several back and forth where we

·9· ·provided feedback to the graphic designers.· They

10· ·have been very responsive and accommodating to our

11· ·requests and to our information.

12· · · · (Inaudible.)

13· · · · Would you like me to repeat?

14· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you.

15· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· That's not a problem.· So we,

16· ·the staff, has been working with 223 Agency on the

17· ·solicitation and procurement and essentially to get

18· ·them to draft a design for us.

19· · · · We have had several back and forths with them

20· ·where we provided feedback and they gave us some

21· ·drafts and some options based on that feedback, and

22· ·then we've had kind of further feedback based on

23· ·that.

24· · · · Included in the meeting materials is a

25· ·document that kind of summarizes.· There's one,
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·1· ·two, three, four, five, six, seven, eight.

·2· · · · There's ten options that have been provided.

·3· ·They are contained in the meeting materials.· And

·4· ·the idea today is to allow Mr. Jim Hunt to

·5· ·introduce his team and to interact with the

·6· ·Commission directly in a public setting so that the

·7· ·Commissioners can all get feedback from each other

·8· ·because up until this point, I have been

·9· ·interacting with each of you individually.

10· · · · So in a second, I will stop talking, and I

11· ·will turn it over to Mr. Hunt, who will then kind

12· ·of report to you, Vice Chair Brown, however you'd

13· ·like to do this to kind of then go through the

14· ·options and get further feedback.

15· · · · The goal here today is to leave this meeting

16· ·with more feedback so that the graphic design team

17· ·can essentially give you guys one or two options

18· ·based on the feedback today so you can then make a

19· ·vote at some later evening.· Any questions?

20· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· No questions on the

21· ·process.

22· · · · Commissioners, any questions before we turn it

23· ·over to Mr. Hunt?

24· · · · MR. HUNT:· Good morning, and thank you for

25· ·allowing us to join your meeting this morning.· On
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·1· ·behalf of the 223 Agency, we're very pleased to be

·2· ·working with the Commission, and nice to meet with

·3· ·the Commissioners.· Our team here --

·4· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Can I just stop you for a

·5· ·second.· If you could identify yourself and all of

·6· ·those in the room for the record, that would be

·7· ·great.

·8· · · · MR. HUNT:· Yes.· Good morning.· My name is

·9· ·Jim Hunt, and I am the COO and partner at the 223

10· ·Agency here in Tallahassee.· I'm joined today by my

11· ·colleagues, Nick Williams.

12· · · · MR. WILLIAMS:· Nick Williams, Director of

13· ·Business Development for the 223 Agency.

14· · · · MR. HUNT:· And Javier Lopez.

15· · · · MR. LOPEZ:· Javier Lopez, partner and design

16· ·director.

17· · · · MR. HUNT:· And Andy Hlushak.

18· · · · MR. HLUSHAK:· Andy Hlushak, creative manager.

19· · · · MR. HUNT:· This is the team that has been

20· ·working throughout the process with the Gaming

21· ·Commission.· Today what we're going to do is

22· ·hopefully answering questions from the Commission

23· ·and get some fine tune direction on finalizing the

24· ·project.

25· · · · We have been very pleased with our working
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·1· ·relationship thus far.· We are committed to the

·2· ·success of this to represent the agency, not only

·3· ·across the state, but by anyone who is interested.

·4· ·So with that, I'm going to turn it over to Nick

·5· ·Williams who's led the project.

·6· · · · MR. WILLIAMS:· Hi, everybody.· So does

·7· ·everybody have the PDF that has like all the

·8· ·options included --

·9· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· We do.

10· · · · MR. WILLIAMS:· -- that's part of the agenda

11· ·packet?

12· · · · We'll go through this really quick just so you

13· ·can understand our thinking, our thought process,

14· ·and I think that will lay kind of some foundational

15· ·work and kind of understanding of like how we got

16· ·to where we've gotten.

17· · · · So the first iterations, we were a little bit

18· ·more playful, a little bit more open.· Some of the

19· ·examples we were given, this kind of models that.

20· ·We wanted to include some symbols of the State, but

21· ·also make a nod to the gaming.

22· · · · So you'll notice throughout you'll see kind of

23· ·a poker chip element that is kind of the edge of a

24· ·poker chip that's just kind of used, whether that's

25· ·in the sunrise, whether that's kind of connecting
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·1· ·the Keys to the Florida Panhandle.

·2· · · · In option B, a sunrise has this kind of poker

·3· ·chip element as well as the orange.· If you're

·4· ·asking how we were really stuck with a poker chip

·5· ·when we initially started based on our meeting with

·6· ·staff, this was kind of the one element that we

·7· ·were really allowed to use, even though it covers

·8· ·-- the agency covers more.

·9· · · · After this kind of first round, we came back

10· ·with kind of having a more corporate feel, a little

11· ·bit more of like a State agency, so we kind of

12· ·revisited.· This is where you have option E through

13· ·H.· You know, option E and F kind of both represent

14· ·having kind of a seal.

15· · · · The option G with a lion kind of creates some

16· ·trust and strength and security.· That also has

17· ·kind of a standalone element that can be used.

18· ·Option H is a direction I think we wanted to head.

19· ·And then our last option kind of goes towards that

20· ·a little bit more with some modifications.

21· · · · But this is kind of your more traditional

22· ·seal.· Some of the feedback we were hearing was we

23· ·kind of liked that traditional approach, and so we

24· ·began to work throughout some refinement.

25· · · · The shield was also on the table for
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·1· ·discussion, so this is where we landed with option

·2· ·I and option J.· Option I is a refind version that

·3· ·doesn't have the stylized eagle.

·4· · · · It more elevates the State and kind of the

·5· ·oversight kind of with the columns and the stars.

·6· ·And then option J was kind of a modernization of

·7· ·the shield kind of for protection for the State

·8· ·that incorporated the two logos or the two initial

·9· ·elements to it.

10· · · · Any version of, you know, what we're elevating

11· ·as far as the weight within the font, those are all

12· ·easily modifiable.· So really kind of where we've

13· ·landed based on our initial conversation with staff

14· ·and where we are now, really I and J, from our

15· ·understanding, I is a very strong contender.

16· · · · There's other options.· There's variations of

17· ·that.· There is a variation that has the elements

18· ·broken out of the seal into a more horizontal style

19· ·approach that can be used for envelopes,

20· ·letterheads, items where a round logo just may not

21· ·work.

22· · · · These were all provided to staff.· There's

23· ·multiple varieties within the setups of each of the

24· ·logos.· So that's kind of where we are today.· You

25· ·know, I think it's been a little working through
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·1· ·just finding general consensus, you know, of things

·2· ·that either represent the State or represent the

·3· ·gambling elements.

·4· · · · You know, originally we were really limited to

·5· ·the poker chip, and now it's our understanding that

·6· ·there may be some flexibility in that.· So we're

·7· ·really just trying to find some consensus on a

·8· ·direction, that way we can really kind of bring

·9· ·this in for a landing.

10· · · · So we realize everybody has a different

11· ·palate, different taste, different vision

12· ·potentially.· You know, this is what we do day in

13· ·and day out is kind of pull out these ideas that

14· ·are in your head and you can't necessarily

15· ·articulate it in trying to create, like I said,

16· ·this consensus from everybody.

17· · · · So that's really kind of where we are today.

18· ·Like Jim said, we're committed to getting this

19· ·across the finish line.· We've invested a

20· ·significant amount of time and effort into this,

21· ·and I think we're headed in the right direction,

22· ·but we're welcoming this opportunity to hear from

23· ·everybody.

24· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you so much, and

25· ·thank you for the time and effort that you have
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·1· ·spent on it.· I know it can be difficult when

·2· ·you're not interacting directly with the

·3· ·commissioners, so this form is really great to get

·4· ·direct feedback.

·5· · · · I'm sure each of the commissioners have strong

·6· ·opinions about some of them and maybe others, so it

·7· ·is somewhat hard to come to a decision without all

·8· ·of us being in a room together.· So this is great,

·9· ·so thank you for your time.

10· · · · Commissioner D'Aquila, I know you had your

11· ·hand raised earlier.· If you want to start by

12· ·asking some questions, that would be great.

13· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Yes, please.· Thank

14· ·you, Vice Chairman Brown.· Mine is a general

15· ·question.· Today quite often the phone or a passing

16· ·logo is the one way you identify an organization.

17· · · · Did you consider putting the URL within any of

18· ·the logos?· I was curious if that was a

19· ·consideration in the process, specifically just

20· ·FLGaming.gov?

21· · · · And I mention that for a number of reasons, as

22· ·there are many other gaming URLs out there that

23· ·could be confused, and we're concerned about it

24· ·being clear which is ours and how best to reach us.

25· · · · So was that a consideration, and is that a
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·1· ·possibility?

·2· · · · MR. WILLIAMS:· It's a point that we discussed

·3· ·internally.· We would consider that a variation.

·4· ·Really, when we're going in this creating kind of

·5· ·the main option, this is what would be on your

·6· ·sign, what would be on your car, what would be on a

·7· ·badge.

·8· · · · We would consider that a variation.· In our

·9· ·daily work, it's not something that we would really

10· ·consider as a primary logo.· It can be, should the

11· ·Commission choose that.

12· · · · But it would be our suggestion to have that as

13· ·an option, and that's kind of where we really

14· ·focused on creating a main.· But there would be

15· ·multiple variations of it.

16· · · · MR. HUNT:· One of the elements that we provide

17· ·in the logo development --

18· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Could you hold on one

19· ·second, Mr. Hunt.· I just want to make sure

20· ·Ms. Cooper is okay with each -- okay.· Great.· All

21· ·right.· Thank you, Mr. Hunt.

22· · · · MR. HUNT:· One of the elements that we provide

23· ·in this whole process would be what we'll call a

24· ·brand book.· So once the final logo is approved in

25· ·whatever format, our team puts together a full
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·1· ·array of how that logo can be presented, as Nick

·2· ·alluded to, on letterhead, on vehicles, on business

·3· ·cards.· And in there, that is where a lot of the

·4· ·places where the URL will be displayed.

·5· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Commissioner D'Aquila.

·6· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Well, I understand the

·7· ·point.· I guess I'd like to maybe hear from the

·8· ·other commissioners and maybe even the staff as to

·9· ·is there value in having it there within the logo

10· ·itself.· I understand the point of that.· It's an

11· ·option in adding such.

12· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Commissioners or staff, do

13· ·you have an opinion?· Yes, Mr. Trombetta.

14· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Just to add to what Mr. Hunt

15· ·just said, the variations or what they provide are

16· ·done for each of the examples that we've asked them

17· ·to do are different.· So each of these options,

18· ·they have provided kind of how that option could be

19· ·in use.

20· · · · They show usually each option.· They show

21· ·where there's one that would work for like a

22· ·website.· There's one that would look good on a

23· ·T-shirt and would all be the same option, just kind

24· ·of little variations.· I think that having a URL

25· ·incorporated in one variation is probably a good
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·1· ·idea.

·2· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· I would tend to agree as

·3· ·well, Commissioner D'Aquila.

·4· · · · Commissioners, do you have any other comments

·5· ·on that point?

·6· · · · COMMISSIONER REPP:· I would also agree.

·7· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you.

·8· · · · Commissioner D'Aquila, do you have any other

·9· ·questions?

10· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· No.

11· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Commissioners, do you want

12· ·to talk about the options or if you have any other

13· ·questions on the options?

14· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· One question.· Is it

15· ·possible to have a screen share of the options when

16· ·discussing them so we're not all fumbling through

17· ·our drives?

18· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· That's a great question.

19· ·Ms. Stinson, she's working the screen, so I think

20· ·it would be great if she could help out with that.

21· ·She could share her screen.

22· · · · MS. STINSON:· Absolutely.· I'm working on that

23· ·right now.

24· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· While you're working on

25· ·that, I did want to talk about option C.· First, I
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·1· ·did like a more formal look.· I like a more

·2· ·professional look.· I guess when we started out

·3· ·with this originally, it was less more enforcement.

·4· · · · And I was looking at various other Commission

·5· ·states that have a very strong regulatory

·6· ·enforcement arm.· There were three that really

·7· ·jumped out at me that I liked.· I loved the Nevada

·8· ·Gaming Commission Board.

·9· · · · They have like an actual sheriff's symbol.  I

10· ·like that kind of a more enforcement oriented.

11· ·Ohio also had a more professional, sophisticated

12· ·less playful look.· I liked that one.· I loved

13· ·Mississippi as well.

14· · · · I love the more professional rather that the

15· ·poker chip itself somehow on option C,

16· ·particularly.· At one point, I was talking with

17· ·staff about the emphasis on gaming isn't really

18· ·necessarily what we want to be focused on, so that

19· ·was another comment.

20· · · · We have the screen shared right now with

21· ·everyone.· So those are just some comments.  I

22· ·liked the look with the Florida.· I didn't

23· ·understand the eagle or the lion, although I

24· ·thought those options -- I mean, I thought option H

25· ·definitely had that more professional look, as well
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·1· ·as option I.

·2· · · · I just don't get what the column is, really.

·3· ·It's just not obvious to me.· I'm just trying to

·4· ·give you transparent feedback, not criticism, but

·5· ·feedback.

·6· · · · Commissioners, do you have any comments?

·7· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Vice Chair Brown.

·8· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Yes, Commissioner Drago.

·9· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· If I could just make a

10· ·couple of comments, I think I like a combination of

11· ·option C and option E.· I think it meets a lot of

12· ·the things I think that we stand for, if we were to

13· ·combine C with E.· And by that, I mean take C, put

14· ·it inside the shield of E.

15· · · · So it would be kind of like E, but the inside

16· ·would be actually C, but without the Florida Gaming

17· ·Control Commission in there.· So I know I'm

18· ·probably confusing you even more.

19· · · · So the shield with the drawing of C inside the

20· ·shield and the Florida Gaming Control Commission

21· ·written underneath like E is.· So not emphasizing

22· ·gaming, but making it -- I think the way it's

23· ·written in E is a little more official looking and

24· ·not emphasizing the gaming as much.

25· · · · But once we put that C inside the shield of E,
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·1· ·then I would add -- I think I would add if we could

·2· ·cross flags behind Florida, the flag, the

·3· ·United States flag and the Florida flag to give it

·4· ·the government authority look.

·5· · · · And then again, we've gone back and forth

·6· ·about the law enforcement side and the regulatory

·7· ·side, and I think those kinds of things would cover

·8· ·both.· And if everybody was so inclined, we might

·9· ·be able to add in place of the chip around the

10· ·state of Florida, some stars around the state of

11· ·Florida.

12· · · · You know, I agree with Vice Chair Brown in

13· ·trying to show enforcement official organization, a

14· ·State jurisdiction and in both regulatory and law

15· ·enforcement.

16· · · · So if you have any questions or if I've

17· ·confused you even more, I apologize, but that's

18· ·kind of where I'm thinking.

19· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you, Commissioner

20· ·Drago.· You encapsulated that pretty well.· I like

21· ·your idea as well, and it would be more official

22· ·looking.

23· · · · Does 223 have any questions or clarification?

24· · · · MR. HUNT:· No questions.· We're just

25· ·feverishly taking notes.
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·1· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· That's great.

·2· · · · Commissioners, do you have any comments or

·3· ·additional questions?· I liked Mr. Drago's

·4· ·suggestion.

·5· · · · Commissioner D'Aquila.

·6· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· I concur with

·7· ·Commissioner Dragos's suggestion.· I favor option E

·8· ·and again with maybe a smaller font size on the

·9· ·Florida Gaming Control Commission wording.· I'm not

10· ·necessarily sure I understand the stars and

11· ·crowning.

12· · · · My only other thing was is gambling today is

13· ·more understood by the general public with regard

14· ·to sports gambling, and there's so much more

15· ·besides chips.· I just question the value of the

16· ·chip and might it crowd the shield.

17· · · · I think I'm going to repeat myself.· I think I

18· ·would always like people to be aware of that it's

19· ·FLGaming.gov and not one of the many copycat sites

20· ·out there.· That's it.

21· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· That's great.

22· ·Commissioner D'Aquila, great.· We're getting

23· ·somewhere here.

24· · · · Commissioner Repp, do you have any comments or

25· ·questions?
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·1· · · · COMMISSIONER REPP:· Yes.· I do, too, like the

·2· ·idea of C inside the shield.· I think that I like

·3· ·the colors and the simplicity, which is why I

·4· ·really wouldn't want any more added.· I think for

·5· ·the effect of being able to put it -- embroiderer

·6· ·it like on a shirt or something or put it --

·7· ·transfer it onto a vehicle.

·8· · · · If you're putting too much in there, I think

·9· ·if you shrink it down to size, it's going to be

10· ·less recognizable.· So I think C inside of E,

11· ·something like that where it's easy to recognize

12· ·and see and to actually go various sizes

13· ·comfortably without it becoming just a blob if we

14· ·ever tried to shrink it down.· That's all.

15· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you,

16· ·Commissioner Repp.· Good points as well.

17· · · · If 223 has any additional questions?

18· · · · MR. WILLIAMS:· General consensus is we

19· ·appreciate the feedback.· I think we have some

20· ·clear direction.· We've been having some internal

21· ·conversation and internal questions while

22· ·listening.· I think we got very clear direction.

23· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· That's great.· Again,

24· ·really thank you all for the time and work you've

25· ·done.· I want to make sure we're good on the color
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·1· ·scheme as well.

·2· · · · Commissioners, do we like the color scheme of

·3· ·option C and E?· I personally do as well.

·4· · · · Yes, Commissioner Drago.

·5· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Yes, I do, too.· I guess

·6· ·I would like to know what the Commissioners think

·7· ·about the flags, whether we want to keep that idea

·8· ·or eliminate it?· I think it gives the appearance

·9· ·of authority for the organization to have the State

10· ·of Florida and the United States flag in there.

11· ·But also, I think it also gives it a little bit of

12· ·color.

13· · · · And I understand what Commissioner Repp was

14· ·saying that sometimes when you replicate these

15· ·things, you can get too many colors with the State

16· ·emblem and all the little figures and everything

17· ·that are in it can sometimes be very difficult to

18· ·replicate.

19· · · · But I wonder if we want to consider the flags

20· ·in there?· Or if nobody wants them, then we can

21· ·eliminate that now and not have to put everybody to

22· ·work on that.· Do we want to consider the flags in

23· ·there or do we want to not, I guess?

24· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· I do think it gets a little

25· ·busy with more than two colors.· When you look at
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·1· ·option F, it's just a little flashy.· I don't know

·2· ·if you put a flag in there, it will add a lot more

·3· ·busyness.

·4· · · · Commissioner D'Aquila.

·5· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· I think as you use the

·6· ·logo on printed matter, in an app, in an email, it

·7· ·gets a bit crowded, as the flags have a lot going

·8· ·on.· So I like the concept and the idea, but I

·9· ·don't know if it's practical.· I'll leave that to

10· ·the design folks.

11· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Absolutely.

12· · · · Commissioner Repp.

13· · · · COMMISSIONER REPP:· I also think that the

14· ·flags in there is going to make it difficult for us

15· ·to replicate it in various sizes and formats.

16· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Maybe 223 can add an

17· ·option, and we can just see it without spending too

18· ·much time on that aspect, if that's okay.

19· · · · MR. WILLIAMS:· Yes, we would be happy to add

20· ·that element as an option.· Just to echo, when

21· ·we're printing this -- or really when designing

22· ·this, it needs to be printable and legible as the

23· ·size of your thumb.

24· · · · So if you can't print it and read it at the

25· ·size of your thumb on a business card, on a
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·1· ·letterhead, on something like a small stationery,

·2· ·it's going to start to run into issues.· These are

·3· ·kind of all tests that we run throughout our design

·4· ·process.

·5· · · · So I love the enthusiasm and the Americana of

·6· ·it.· You're not going to find a more Americana crew

·7· ·than us.· We've got some Army Reserve here.· We can

·8· ·create it as an option.· But as a primary, we're a

·9· ·little hesitant.

10· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Commissioner Drago.

11· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Sounds good.· Thank you.

12· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· If there are no other

13· ·questions from Commissioners or if staff have no

14· ·other questions -- I'm just going to pause -- then

15· ·we thank 223 for your time, and we look forward to

16· ·seeing some additional options.· Again, thank you

17· ·for your time.

18· · · · Now we are going to take public comment.· For

19· ·those that would like to speak under this item,

20· ·please feel free to raise your hand.

21· · · · I'm going to turn to Dixie Parker, actually,

22· ·or Ms. Stinson and see if we've received any

23· ·notification of people who would like to speak?

24· · · · MS. STINSON:· It does not appear that we have

25· ·anyone who has requested to speak in the group
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·1· ·chat.

·2· · · · MS. PARKER:· I have received no emails.

·3· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you, Ms. Parker and

·4· ·Ms. Stinson.

·5· · · · If there is nobody on the phone here that

·6· ·would like to speak?

·7· · · · We don't have a place here for other matters,

·8· ·but are there any other matters to discuss?

·9· · · · Mr. Trombetta, any other matters to discuss?

10· ·I know we have a workshop coming up next week, just

11· ·a reminder.

12· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· No, I have nothing else to

13· ·discuss, Vice Chair.

14· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· What time is the workshop

15· ·next week, just a reminder?

16· · · · MS. STINSON:· It's at 9:30 in the morning.

17· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Great.· Thank you.

18· · · · Commissioners, any other matters to discuss?

19· ·Seeing none, this concludes our first virtual

20· ·meeting.· Thank you.

21· · · ·(Proceedings concluded at 10:09 a.m.)
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·1· ·Thereupon, the following proceeding began at 9:30 a.m.:

·2· · · · · · ·VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Good morning.· Today is

·3· · · · October 5th.· The time is 9:30.· This is the

·4· · · · Florida Gaming Control Commission's October

·5· · · · meeting.

·6· · · · · · ·And if you would like, please join me with the

·7· · · · Pledge of Allegiance, which will be led by

·8· · · · Commissioner D'Aquila.

·9· · · · · · ·(Pledge of Allegiance.)

10· · · · · · ·VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you, Commissioner

11· · · · D'Aquila.· All right.· We're going to just jump

12· · · · right into the agenda today.· Our first item is the

13· · · · discussion of Florida Thoroughbred Breeders' and

14· · · · Owners' Association annual plan.· We also have a

15· · · · speaker.

16· · · · · · ·But first, we'll just turn to our staff to

17· · · · introduce the item, please.

18· · · · · · ·MS. FERREE:· Good morning.· As you have just

19· · · · previously introduced, we're going to talk about

20· · · · the Florida Thoroughbred Breeders' and Owners'

21· · · · Association annual plan, which is in your packet

22· · · · there.

23· · · · · · ·They're required annually to file this plan,

24· · · · and it has to be filed within 60 days of their

25· · · · annual payment plan.· They're on a calendar fiscal
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·1· ·year.· They submitted the plans on September the

·2· ·5th, which is 118 days prior to the beginning of

·3· ·their payment plan, so they timely filed it.

·4· · · · There's a rubrics, which is called a checklist

·5· ·in your materials where we compare the statutory

·6· ·requirements with the plan that's filed.· It meets

·7· ·the requirements that are listed.· So I'm here to

·8· ·answer any further questions you may have.

·9· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you so much.· Before

10· ·we get to the speaker, does anybody have any

11· ·questions for staff?

12· · · · Thank you for the introduction.

13· · · · With that, we've got Mr. Lonny Powell, CEO of

14· ·FTBOA.· Welcome back.

15· · · · MR. POWELL:· Thank you, Madam Chair.

16· ·Commissioners, it's good to be back.· It's good to

17· ·be here to convey good news, which in your Miami

18· ·workshop, I had anticipated we might have good news

19· ·to talk about it sometime, but we weren't all the

20· ·way there.

21· · · · And now thanks to a lot of people, we were

22· ·able to get there.· I will note, our CFO, Peggy

23· ·Yost, asked to be put on the same speaker slip, in

24· ·case there's going to be any questions needed of

25· ·her or comments or so forth.
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·1· · · · Thank you for having us.· This is an annual

·2· ·submission, our second in front of the Gaming

·3· ·Commission.· I think what's really exciting about

·4· ·this one is if you approve this, this will be the

·5· ·most robust, the most lucrative breeding and

·6· ·stallion awards program in the 75-year history of

·7· ·breeders and stallion awards in my organization's

·8· ·history.

·9· · · · So that's an exciting thing.· That's a big

10· ·deal.· We have to be totally focused on the fact

11· ·that it would not have been possible at all without

12· ·the passage of HB 7063.

13· · · · Because approximately what makes this plan

14· ·different from plans in the past is the way 24 is

15· ·being handled is 50 percent of the money that's

16· ·coming from Statute 550 funds, the funds you

17· ·normally make in the decision of this plan, and the

18· ·other 50 percent by legislative design is coming

19· ·from the money that's from the Department of

20· ·Agriculture.

21· · · · I will advise that the Department of

22· ·Agriculture and myself concluded the fully-executed

23· ·contract on the $10 million as of yesterday, so

24· ·they have approved their 50 percent, and I'm here

25· ·talking to you about the other.
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·1· · · · But forgive me if I talk to them collectively

·2· ·because ultimately to the breeders out there and

·3· ·the owners, the money is the money.· The plan

·4· ·before you, Ms. Kimberly advised you, checks off

·5· ·all of the statutory boxes.

·6· · · · Again, what makes it different is the way the

·7· ·funding happens.· This year, it's a 50/50 blend.

·8· ·Next year in '25, it may be a 60/40 blend.· It just

·9· ·depends.· We're trying to manage both of the

10· ·accounts.

11· · · · As you can see, it leads to an incredible

12· ·increase in breeders awards, and we're anticipating

13· ·about a 50 percent increase in breeders awards,

14· ·payments in '24 over this year.· That's a very big

15· ·deal.

16· · · · On the racing side, which we're not really

17· ·here to talk about, but to tell you what that

18· ·legislation did and because Florida breds are

19· ·involved in a big part of it, just to show you the

20· ·impact on the racing side that legislation is going

21· ·to have -- and I'm just talking about for Florida

22· ·breds.

23· · · · Florida bred thoroughbreds and Gulfstream in

24· ·'24 are going to be running for approximately 90

25· ·percent more money than was offered this year.· At
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·1· ·Tampa, it's going to be worth 50 percent more money

·2· ·that Florida breds will be running for.

·3· · · · By the way, Florida breds win 40 percent of

·4· ·all the races.· They earn 40 percent of the purses,

·5· ·40 percent of the starters.· And of those Florida

·6· ·breds, 73 percent of them are sired by Florida

·7· ·stallions.

·8· · · · So the tracks in this state are very dependent

·9· ·on each other, and that's why something like the

10· ·year-round racing circuit and no wholesale

11· ·elimination of live racing dates is still important

12· ·because no matter what our awards are, the purses,

13· ·if you don't have enough live dates to make people

14· ·to want to race here, none of this makes any

15· ·difference.

16· · · · But going back to the way things are and with

17· ·this plan, this is I think a plan that is going to

18· ·make a lot of the breeders happy.· Because our new

19· ·funding exists for two years, I don't think it

20· ·brings true stability to racing or breeding, but

21· ·it's a heck of a start.

22· · · · For those that said what we achieved at this

23· ·last session was a Band-Aid, I say I'd rather take

24· ·a Band-Aid than multiple amputations, and Band-Aids

25· ·help you get better.
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·1· · · · To be truthful, we started working on the

·2· ·future years and what we're going to do after those

·3· ·two years, you know, yesterday and the day before

·4· ·because that's what we always do.

·5· · · · But getting back to the plan before you, we

·6· ·are here to answer any questions.· We certainly

·7· ·hope that you may approve so we can advise our

·8· ·membership.· Again, none of it would have happened

·9· ·without the passage of that legislation.

10· · · · We will always be very grateful to President

11· ·Passidomo, Speaker Renner, obviously the governor

12· ·for signing it, and then all those that did a lot

13· ·of the spade work like Representative Stan McClain

14· ·and a number of others.

15· · · · So that's my overall presentation.· Again,

16· ·this will be the biggest award.· We've done 20

17· ·percent a number of years ago when Calder was still

18· ·around and some of the things that have happened in

19· ·this industry hadn't happened.

20· · · · But we didn't make any other adjustments

21· ·within the caps of the payout up to different

22· ·categories.· The reason why this one is most

23· ·lucrative, not only does it have the top statute 20

24· ·percent, it has adjustments allowing for more money

25· ·to be made in races by breeders by raising the
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·1· ·caps.

·2· · · · Otherwise, it's pretty much the same plan.· So

·3· ·I'd be more than happy to answer any questions or

·4· ·if you would like to hear from our CFO, Peggy Yost,

·5· ·or if she needs to answer any questions.· But

·6· ·that's the general presentation.

·7· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you, Mr. Powell.· And

·8· ·I have to first compliment you with such a thorough

·9· ·award proposal in your letter summarizing the key

10· ·points were just spot on and very helpful in then

11· ·reviewing the plan.

12· · · · So it is exciting that this program is going

13· ·to keep Florida competitive and the industry

14· ·competitive, so hats off to you for all the work

15· ·that you and your team did on getting that

16· ·legislation passed.

17· · · · MR. POWELL:· Thank you very much.· By the way,

18· ·I want to say something that is pretty interesting,

19· ·too, that's a credit to you all just in general

20· ·what you do.

21· · · · You know, I used to do what you do for a

22· ·living.· I've been a longtime regulator, and you

23· ·can do business like you all do and still be

24· ·supportive of the industry and want to see it do

25· ·good.
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·1· · · · And since this Gaming Commission has come

·2· ·together, I will tell you, it's a feeling that's

·3· ·across the country I'm not used to, but I like what

·4· ·you do there.

·5· · · · Even if we don't agree on some things, I like

·6· ·the way that you all seem to very much want to see

·7· ·what you're regulating still be in existence more

·8· ·than just to regulate, just because it has a

·9· ·purpose.

10· · · · So I'm sorry to get tangential there, but you

11· ·reminded me of something I was just telling my

12· ·folks last night over dinner.· So I like the

13· ·Commission's approach to how they look at the

14· ·industry they regulate.

15· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you very much.

16· ·You've warmed us up very well, so thank you.

17· · · · Commissioner D'Aquila.

18· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Sir, can you share the

19· ·amount of the money that's coming from the

20· ·Department of Agriculture beginning in the calendar

21· ·year 2024?

22· · · · MR. POWELL:· Sure.· The Department of

23· ·Agriculture became the holding agency for our money

24· ·created in the legislation.· And now with the

25· ·release of that money as per the legislation,
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·1· ·$5 million each over the next two years will be put

·2· ·in towards breeders and stallion awards.

·3· · · · And obviously the purse components and so

·4· ·forth, they kick in over the two years.· Because

·5· ·right now, we're looking at, even though we have to

·6· ·come to you for approval each year for the plan,

·7· ·this is a two-year vision, right, because the

·8· ·legislative money is for two years.

·9· · · · So $5 million each of '24 and '25 will go

10· ·towards the breeders stallion awards and the

11· ·general breeders and mounters.· And then on top of

12· ·that, the tracks are supposed to race purses with

13· ·this.· That raises breeders awards.

14· · · · We don't know what Gulfstream is going to be

15· ·doing.· We can see Tampa did a great job with what

16· ·they're doing with that new money so far.

17· · · · So it's really tough for us to absolutely say

18· ·how high the awards will go until you know what the

19· ·purse structure is going to be like at Gulfstream,

20· ·but that is the money.· It's $5 million each of the

21· ·two years.

22· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Could there be an

23· ·instance where Florida horses are not doing as well

24· ·that awards are not distributed and go the

25· ·following year, or they'll all be distributed based
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·1· ·on --

·2· · · · MR. POWELL:· Well, they way that -- they way

·3· ·that -- if I understand, Commissioner, Madam Chair,

·4· ·the question the way -- the way you put it, the

·5· ·money is right now the way the legislation was is a

·6· ·must spend by the end of the second year.

·7· · · · So you might see, depending on how -- now, I

·8· ·don't expect us to win less than 40 percent of the

·9· ·races.· I think we're going to probably win more.

10· ·But if, let's say, the performance wasn't there,

11· ·you're going to see even higher.

12· · · · You know, we do a lot of other things.· We

13· ·bonus.· We do all kinds of other things to enhance

14· ·Florida-bred participation.· Twenty-five -- here's

15· ·my dream.· Twenty-five and becoming an even more

16· ·aggressive plan, and then I'm going to be able to

17· ·tell you about -- let's see.· What time of year is

18· ·it.

19· · · · I'm going to tell you about the legislation we

20· ·got passed this session that we're about to face,

21· ·and that will add to future years of discussion on

22· ·what we're doing because obviously two years does

23· ·not a stable future make.

24· · · · But again, it gets us to the launching pad.

25· ·I'm hopeful we'll have even more things to talk
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·1· ·about a year from now when I'm talking about the 25

·2· ·plan.· In addition to answering the core of your

·3· ·question and wandering all over, did I hit there

·4· ·what you were looking for?

·5· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Yes.· I think the

·6· ·answer, as I understand it, is that if there is a

·7· ·residual, it will be permitted to be rolled into

·8· ·year two.

·9· · · · MR. POWELL:· Yes.· And right now, year two

10· ·can't be moved forward because it was a two-year

11· ·legislation.· Now, that might change.· But if we

12· ·have additional things going on that may help in

13· ·future years, I just assume it be a transitional

14· ·thing with no real noticeable difference, yes.

15· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· That was my question.

16· ·Thank you.

17· · · · MR. POWELL:· You know, I did this with the CEO

18· ·over at -- are you okay?· Okay.· Yes.

19· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Commissioners, do you have

20· ·any questions for Mr. Powell?· I do want to just

21· ·mention that the projected expenses continue to go

22· ·down.· Again, I appreciate that.· I wanted to get

23· ·maybe some further clarity on how you are going to

24· ·strive to get those expenses down?

25· · · · MR. POWELL:· Expenses, I'm trying to put that

October 05, 2023

www.lexitaslegal.com
(800) 676-2401

October 05, 2023

www.lexitaslegal.com
(800) 676-2401

YVer1f



Page 16
·1· ·into perspective.· On the plan?

·2· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· For December 31, 2024, the

·3· ·total expenses are the awards stakes program and 10

·4· ·percent admin promo fee.

·5· · · · MR. POWELL:· Right.· Do you understand the

·6· ·question, Peggy?· This will give me a reason to

·7· ·have her come up.

·8· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· It's always great to have

·9· ·an accountant nearby.

10· · · · MR. POWELL:· Yes.· Peggy Yost, our CFO who

11· ·makes me look good all the time.

12· · · · MS. YOST:· Thank you, Madam Chair,

13· ·Commissioners.· If I understand the question

14· ·correctly, the expenses for 2023 versus 2024, it is

15· ·a little bit more complicated because 50/50 is

16· ·being paid out of the House Bill 7063 and 50

17· ·percent out of 550.

18· · · · And if you look at the breeders and our

19· ·stallion award expenses for 2023 projected, they're

20· ·about $5.2 million.· And then there's also stakes

21· ·payments in there as well.

22· · · · Going forward, if you look at 50 percent of

23· ·the $5.2 million at 15 percent, that amounts to

24· ·$2.6 million.· And then there is another $1.6

25· ·million in additional breeders awards that will be
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·1· ·paid out due to purse increases and other things,

·2· ·such as the increase in the cap.

·3· · · · Our 50 percent of that would amount to about

·4· ·$75,000.· Just going from 15 to 20 percent increase

·5· ·in the breeder and stallion awards amounts to a

·6· ·total of $1.6 million a year, which half of that

·7· ·obviously is $800,000 that would be an expense to

·8· ·us.

·9· · · · In addition, the tri-party agreements

10· ·increased by $2.05 million, which increases

11· ·breeders and stallion awards as well.· So our 50

12· ·percent of that would be about $200,000.· And what

13· ·that did was last year, our FBIF FTBOAs portion was

14· ·$450,000.

15· · · · This year through the tri-party agreement, the

16· ·amount that Gulfstream Park alone is putting in is

17· ·$1.8 million.· So that increase alone increases

18· ·breeders and stallion awards as well.· We have also

19· ·projected that the amounts that the tracks are

20· ·getting from the House Bill 7063 Gulfstream Park's

21· ·$15 million, a lot of that is supposed to go

22· ·towards purses.

23· · · · So in our projections, we have included 50

24· ·percent of that to go to increase purses, and we've

25· ·also included $5 million from Tampa Bay to go to
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·1· ·purses as well, which is a total of $12.5 million.

·2· · · · And at the rate that our Florida breds are

·3· ·winning at the 40 percent, that would increase the

·4· ·expense to breeders and stallion awards of

·5· ·$500,000.

·6· · · · So the total increase over the 50 percent of

·7· ·the breeders awards that are projected to be paid

·8· ·out by the end of 2023 is an additional $1.6

·9· ·million.

10· · · · In addition to that, the stakes payments for

11· ·the upcoming year projected because the $450,000

12· ·that was FTBOA's responsibility for the FBIF has

13· ·now moved over to $1.8 million that is totally

14· ·going to be funded by Gulfstream Park.· That will

15· ·reduce our expenses another $450,000.

16· · · · So therefore, you can see the swing from a

17· ·projected deficit of about $650,000 at the end of

18· ·this year to a profit of $800,000.

19· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· That's excellent

20· ·clarification.· Thank you for being thorough.

21· · · · Commissioner D'Aquila.

22· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· So if I understand

23· ·correctly your presentation, the projected 2024

24· ·total expenses of awards, stakes programs, admin

25· ·fee, and promo fee of $6.42 million does not
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·1· ·include expenses that are related to the money

·2· ·coming from -- or the expenses getting covered

·3· ·by -- or coming from through the Department of

·4· ·Agriculture?

·5· · · · MS. YOST:· That is correct.· That is strictly

·6· ·550.

·7· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· And that is why we're

·8· ·not seeing -- we're seeing the increase in

·9· ·projected revenue, but the drastic increase in

10· ·expenses, which always raises eyebrows.

11· · · · MS. YOST:· That is correct.

12· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· I've read the audited

13· ·financial statements prepared by your auditors for

14· ·the 2022 year.· I believe that when you work with

15· ·your auditors for 2024, you will include all that

16· ·information in the notes for the financial

17· ·statements?

18· · · · MS. YOST:· Yes, sir.

19· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Explaining all the

20· ·uses of proceeds as it pertains to that a little

21· ·bit differently than this presentation?

22· · · · MS. YOST:· Absolutely.

23· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· I understand the

24· ·timing and so forth of when this was submitted.  I

25· ·think you had mentioned you had just received
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·1· ·approval this week?

·2· · · · MR. POWELL:· Executed agreement.

·3· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Executed agreement.

·4· · · · MR. POWELL:· We had the approval.· We needed

·5· ·the agreements.

·6· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· If I may ask one more

·7· ·question.· Has your management team discussed a

·8· ·contingency plan in the event that this is not

·9· ·renewed at the conclusion of two years?

10· · · · This is all wonderful news.· But then when an

11· ·organization gets accustomed to such good news, if

12· ·things should turn, do you have a plan in place

13· ·specifically referring to the year 2026 or --

14· · · · MR. POWELL:· You know, in our industry I've

15· ·been in all my life, you always have backups for

16· ·everything.· Because first of all, you can't

17· ·control some of the things, and also sometimes what

18· ·people say is not actually what they do.· That's

19· ·the plain, hard facts.

20· · · · Oh, yeah, just like it looked like there was

21· ·not going to be any tri-parties successfully

22· ·negotiated this year, just like we had a backup

23· ·plan for that because we're not going to sit and

24· ·stop the industry just because folks aren't ready

25· ·to sign something.
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·1· · · · And we have backup plans for if the year 2025

·2· ·is the last year of the funding and we've achieved

·3· ·no new legislation at that point in time, yes, we

·4· ·do.· This actually gives us some flexibility to be

·5· ·able to handle that second year a little better.

·6· · · · But we would have to be deeply involved in

·7· ·getting successful future legislation because as

·8· ·you all noted last year during our first

·9· ·application, you know, we were doing the ultimate

10· ·for a non-profit.· The auditors always love it.

11· · · · We were spending more money on awards than we

12· ·were bringing in for ourselves, so we did that.

13· ·You can't sustain that forever, but I was glad we

14· ·were able to do it for the industry.

15· · · · This year without that legislation, I would

16· ·have been standing before you in all likelihood

17· ·saying we had to go 10 percent below statute, and

18· ·you had the ability to approve that.

19· · · · And there were going to be a lot of various

20· ·concerns I was going to make you aware of in my

21· ·presentation.· That's how much the successful

22· ·legislation that we were the ones that led and

23· ·facilitated, that's how much of a difference it

24· ·made.

25· · · · And because of our nature -- at least my
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·1· ·nature, and those folks can all tell you,

·2· ·especially Matt, our lobbyist, is the day we got it

·3· ·passed, the first thing I asked is what are we

·4· ·going to do for '26?· We got to get on '26.· That's

·5· ·the way we do things.

·6· · · · And then also, you go conservative.· If it's

·7· ·not a certainty what '26 looks like, as I'm in

·8· ·front of you a year from now, it's going to be a

·9· ·more conservative plan.· But yeah, backups on top

10· ·of backups.

11· · · · In this business no matter where you are in

12· ·this country no matter how great things are going,

13· ·if you don't have a bunch of backups, you're in

14· ·trouble because things just change so much.

15· · · · And by the way, it's been fun talking in front

16· ·of you.· This is my first time, I think, other than

17· ·the workshop.

18· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you.

19· · · · MR. POWELL:· Thank you.

20· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you so much.  I

21· ·appreciate it.

22· · · · Commissioners, is there any discussion on the

23· ·program?· If not, I'm ready for a motion to

24· ·approve.

25· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Motion to approve the
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·1· ·program as presented.

·2· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Is there a second?

·3· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Second.

·4· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· All those in favor, say

·5· ·aye.

·6· · · · (Multiple ayes.)

·7· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· It passes unanimously.

·8· · · · Also I did want to note, we do have our court

·9· ·reporter, I believe, on the phone.· So just for the

10· ·record to make sure everyone is clear speaking so

11· ·that she can transcribe the record pretty clearly

12· ·today.

13· · · · ·All right.· We're going to move on to Item

14· ·2.1.· Ms. Pouncey.

15· · · · MS. POUNCEY:· Good morning.· Jamie Pouncey for

16· ·the Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering.· Item 2.1 is

17· ·Case No. 2023-048899, South Marion Real Estate

18· ·Holdings requesting to add additional cardroom

19· ·tables.

20· · · · South Marion possesses a quarter horse permit,

21· ·was issued an operational license and cardroom

22· ·license for the 2023-2024 fiscal year.· They are

23· ·currently licensed to operate 31 tables and is

24· ·requesting permission to add four more tables to

25· ·its cardroom.
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·1· · · · They have paid the $1,000-per-table fee.· No

·2· ·other restrictions on the number of card tables

·3· ·that they can have, and the Division is

·4· ·recommending approval of their request to add

·5· ·additional tables.

·6· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you, Ms. Pouncey.

·7· ·This is a straightforward item.· Can I get a motion

·8· ·to approve the request to add additional card

·9· ·tables?

10· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Motion to approve.

11· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Is there a second?

12· · · · COMMISSIONER REPP:· Second.

13· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· All those in favor, say

14· ·aye.

15· · · · (Multiple ayes.)

16· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you, and thank you

17· ·for your work on this.· Item No. 3.1.

18· · · · MS. POUNCEY:· Permission to combine 3.1 and

19· ·3.2?

20· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· That would be great.· Thank

21· ·you.

22· · · · MS. POUNCEY:· Yes, ma'am.· 3.1 is Gulfstream

23· ·Park Racing Association, Case No. 2023-051743.

24· · · · Item No. 3.2 is Gulfstream Park Thoroughbred

25· ·After Racing Program, Case No. 2023-051759.· Both
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·1· ·of these are requesting to amend their operating

·2· ·dates.

·3· · · · Gulfstream Park, Item No. 3.1, is requesting

·4· ·to cancel 9 thoroughbred performances and add 2

·5· ·performances.· They're currently licensed for 169

·6· ·performances.· 164 of those are matinees, and 5 are

·7· ·charities.

·8· · · · In canceling those 9 performances and adding

·9· ·2, it will become a total of 162 performances, 157

10· ·matinees and 5 charities will be its new schedule.

11· · · · In addition to submitting a completed

12· ·application, they satisfied all their requirements

13· ·requesting to amend less than 49 percent of their

14· ·performances for the total year.

15· · · · We are recommending approval.

16· · · · In Item No. 3.2, it's Gulfstream Park

17· ·Thoroughbred After Racing Program.· They have also

18· ·requested to amend their dates by canceling 5

19· ·thoroughbred performances and adding 5

20· ·performances.· They currently have 40 performances,

21· ·35 matinees, and 5 charities.

22· · · · In canceling the 5 and adding the 5, they will

23· ·remain with 40 performances, 35 of those matinee

24· ·and 5 charity.· They have satisfied their

25· ·requirements requesting less than 49 percent of
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·1· ·their total performances from the current license.

·2· · · · The Division is recommending approval of both

·3· ·these requests to amend.

·4· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you.

·5· · · · Commissioners, are there any questions on 3.1

·6· ·or 3.2?· If not, can we get a combined motion to

·7· ·approve the staff recommendation?

·8· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· So moved.

·9· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Is there a second?

10· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Second.

11· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· All those in favor, say

12· ·aye?

13· · · · (Multiple ayes.)

14· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you.· The two items

15· ·pass unanimously.· All right.· Item 4.1, please.

16· · · · MS. POUNCEY:· Item No. 4.1 is Gulfstream Park

17· ·Racing Association, Case No. 2023-048253.· This is

18· ·Gulfstream Park's request to renew their annual

19· ·slot machine license.· Gulfstream Park is

20· ·authorized in Miami-Dade -- excuse me.

21· · · · Slot machine gaming is authorized in

22· ·Miami-Dade and Broward County's pari-mutuel

23· ·facilities.· Gulfstream Park is located in Broward

24· ·County and possesses a valid thoroughbred permit.

25· · · · We received their application to renew their
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·1· ·license August 4, 2023.· The required documentation

·2· ·has been submitted, along with the application fee.

·3· · · · The Division is recommending approval of their

·4· ·slot machine license effective October 13, 2023

·5· ·valid through October 12, 2024.

·6· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you for that summary.

·7· · · · Commissioners, any questions on this item?

·8· ·If not, can we get a motion to approve renewal for

·9· ·the slot machine license?

10· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· So moved.

11· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Second.

12· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· All those in favor, say

13· ·aye.

14· · · · (Multiple ayes.)

15· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Passes unanimously.

16· · · · All right.· We're going to consent orders now,

17· ·5.1.

18· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· Emily Alvarado, for the record.

19· ·Item No. 5.1 is Sarasota Kennel Club, Case No.

20· ·2022-059436.· This case was a filed administrative

21· ·complaint alleging that respondent violated Rule

22· ·75-11.014(4)(d)(3) and 75-11.014(4)(a) by failing

23· ·to alternate the deck of cards in and out of play

24· ·with each deck being used for every other game and

25· ·failing to withdraw the entire deck of cards when a
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·1· ·damaged card was discovered.

·2· · · · There was no prior violations for these

·3· ·respondents.· The respondent has sent back a signed

·4· ·settlement and consent order with a fine of $500.

·5· ·Therefore, the Division would ask the Commission

·6· ·enter an order adopting the consent order in this

·7· ·case.

·8· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Do the commissioners have

·9· ·any questions on this item?· If not, can we get a

10· ·motion to approve the consent order?

11· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Motion to approve the

12· ·consent order.

13· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Is there a second?

14· · · · COMMISSIONER REPP:· Second.

15· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· All those in favor, say

16· ·aye.

17· · · · (Multiple ayes.)

18· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Passes unanimously.

19· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· 5.2 is Alvaro Vasques in Case

20· ·No. 2023-034324.· This case, you'll see a filed

21· ·administrative complaint alleging that the

22· ·respondent violated 75-11.004(8)(a) by failing to

23· ·clear his hands when cash, chips, or tokens were

24· ·exchanged with or provided to a player.

25· · · · This is the respondent's first violation.· You
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·1· ·will also find a settlement and consent order for a

·2· ·$50 fine in this case.· Therefore, the Division

·3· ·would ask that the Commission adopt the consent

·4· ·order in this case.

·5· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you.

·6· · · · Any questions?· Commissioner Drago.

·7· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· If I could, yes.· Just a

·8· ·couple of questions, I think, for clarification.

·9· ·In this case, my understanding is that Mr. Vasquez

10· ·violated this several times throughout the night,

11· ·including after being warned that his actions were

12· ·in violation and still continued to do it, in spite

13· ·of that.

14· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· It seems like it happened about

15· ·eight times in one day, and then he was informed

16· ·about it after that.

17· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· But then he did it again,

18· ·according to the report I read.

19· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· Right.

20· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Even after being warned

21· ·and shown visibly how to do it visibly in front of

22· ·him.

23· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· Right.

24· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· And then continued doing

25· ·it.· So my question is, are we fining him for one
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·1· ·offense and forgetting about all the other

·2· ·violations, multiple counts of the offense,

·3· ·especially after being warned about it?

·4· · · · It just seems like an awful low fine for

·5· ·violating it eight times throughout the night and

·6· ·after even being warned.· How did we come to just

·7· ·$50 fine for that?

·8· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· In the past whenever it was a

·9· ·first offense where we have notification,

10· ·regardless of how many times that it happened, we

11· ·have done the $50 penalty for the first time

12· ·around.

13· · · · And then the second case would take into

14· ·consideration how many times it didn't change.

15· ·That's just how we've done it in the past.· But, of

16· ·course, I can come back and send a new settlement,

17· ·if necessary.

18· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· And also I understand he

19· ·only had a license since November of the year

20· ·before, so what was this, seven months later or

21· ·something along those lines.· So it isn't like he's

22· ·been licensed for years and years and never

23· ·committed an offense.

24· · · · This is a fairly short period of time.· Those

25· ·are the only questions I have.· I have some
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·1· ·concerns about that in relation to the number of

·2· ·violations even after being warned, but that's my

·3· ·only questions.

·4· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you, Commissioner

·5· ·Drago.· I had similar questions in my briefing.· In

·6· ·my understanding, the way that our staff responded

·7· ·was that it can happen very quickly.

·8· · · · Am I correct?

·9· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· Right.· Typically, it happens

10· ·within minutes, and you'll see that in the report.

11· ·They're observing over a period of ten minutes, it

12· ·seems like, and there was eight violations in that

13· ·ten-minute period.· And then it did happen again

14· ·after they were informed about it one time.

15· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Has this individual had

16· ·chip handling behavior training since that time?

17· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· That, I'm not sure about.

18· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Commissioner.

19· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· How many years of

20· ·experience does this dealer have?

21· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· That's not in the report.· To

22· ·go back to your question, it does say in the report

23· ·that he was coached by his supervisor after the

24· ·violations.· And to my knowledge, we haven't

25· ·received a new case for this individual since then,
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·1· ·so I'm not sure if he has fixed this issue since

·2· ·the violation on the first day it happened.

·3· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Commissioner Drago.

·4· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· My understanding was that

·5· ·our investigator went to the supervisor and told

·6· ·him what was happening.· His supervisor went over,

·7· ·coached him, taught him how to do it, and then the

·8· ·investigator watched him continue to do it anyway.

·9· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· Right.

10· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· After that, so he did

11· ·receive his coaching and then ignored it and

12· ·continued to do it.

13· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Commissioner D'Aquila.

14· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Has the supervisor

15· ·coach ever had any issue here that we're aware of?

16· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· I don't even have the name of

17· ·the supervisor in this report, so I can't confirm

18· ·whether they've ever had this violation before.

19· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· So we don't know how

20· ·many years of experience this individual had.· We

21· ·don't know the quality of the supervision he

22· ·received.· You can't answer those at this point?

23· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· No, I can't.

24· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you, Ms. Alvarado.

25· · · · I think the question is really is if there's
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·1· ·appetite to go back and talk further for options at

·2· ·the pleasure of the Commission.· I'm bringing that

·3· ·up for discussion.

·4· · · · Commissioner Drago.

·5· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· I would like to see it

·6· ·opened up again and gone back and looked at a

·7· ·little bit closer, due to the things we're talking

·8· ·about in terms of the amount of violations and

·9· ·being coached and warned and still continuing to do

10· ·it, whether a $50 fine is really setting the

11· ·example to folks that we intend on trying to send.

12· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· We're going to go ahead

13· ·then and just defer that item without voting on it.

14· ·Thank you.· Moving on to 6.1.

15· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· Item 6.1 is Pham Hung in Case

16· ·No. 2023-004357.· This case was a one count

17· ·administrative complaint alleging that respondent

18· ·was excluded from the Casino at Dania Beach on

19· ·January 20, 2023 when it was discovered that he was

20· ·involved in a scheme to steal about $1,250 from a

21· ·designated player.

22· · · · He's therefore subject to exclusion from all

23· ·peri-mutuels and all slot machine facilities in the

24· ·state of Florida pursuant to Section 550.0251(6)

25· ·and 551.112.
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·1· · · · ·You were also provided the USPS tracking

·2· ·confirmed shipping.· Therefore, the Division would

·3· ·ask that the Commission enter an order finding that

·4· ·the respondent was properly served with the

·5· ·administrative complaint, failed to respond within

·6· ·21 days, that the facts in the administrative

·7· ·complaint are accepted as the facts in this case,

·8· ·and that respondent will be added to the permanent

·9· ·exclusion list for all peri-mutuel and slot machine

10· ·facilities.

11· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you.· My

12· ·understanding is that this is also a partnership

13· ·theft with the actual designated player.

14· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· Right.· The designated player

15· ·has already been permanently excluded from all our

16· ·peri-mutuels and slot machine facilities as well.

17· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Commissioners, any

18· ·questions?· If not, can we get a motion to approve

19· ·the default final?

20· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· So moved.

21· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Second?

22· · · · COMMISSIONER REPP:· Second.

23· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· All those in favor, say

24· ·aye.

25· · · · (Mutual ayes.)
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·1· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you.· Passes

·2· ·unanimously.· 6.2.

·3· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· This is Michelle Palacios in

·4· ·Case No. 2023-014183.· This case was a two-count

·5· ·administrative complaint alleging that respondent,

·6· ·subject to exclusion from all peri-mutuels in the

·7· ·state of Florida pursuant to Section 515.02516

·8· ·based on her violation of Rule 75-11.005.

·9· · · · She was seen transferring patrons meals and

10· ·her meals to a private comp check that was covered

11· ·by the facility, and she was keeping the cash that

12· ·she was getting from the patrons for her own

13· ·personal use.· She has since resigned.

14· · · · You were also provided the USPS certified mail

15· ·tracking confirmation, and she failed to respond to

16· ·that.

17· · · · Therefore, the Division would ask that the

18· ·Commission enter an order finding that the

19· ·respondent was properly served with the

20· ·administrative complaint, failed to respond within

21· ·21 days, that the facts in the administrative

22· ·complaint are the facts of this case, and

23· ·concluding that respondent will be added to the

24· ·permanent exclusion list for all peri-mutuel

25· ·facilities.
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·1· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you so much.· If

·2· ·there are no questions, can we get a motion to

·3· ·approve the final order?

·4· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Motion to approve the

·5· ·final order.

·6· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Second?

·7· · · · COMMISSIONER REPP:· Second.

·8· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· All those in favor, say

·9· ·aye.

10· · · · ·(Mutual ayes.)

11· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you, Ms. Alvarado.

12· · · · Now we're moving into recommended orders 7.1

13· ·through 7.3.· My understanding is that we have a

14· ·speaker for Item No. 7.2, as well as 8.1, which is

15· ·the same individual, so I would like to take up 7.2

16· ·and 8.1 together.

17· · · · If we could take them out of order because we

18· ·have a speaker on those, can we can take up 7.1 and

19· ·7.3?

20· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· Sure.· 7.1 is Anthony Wilson in

21· ·Case No. 2022-052207.· This case comes before you

22· ·following a recommended order that was issued by

23· ·the hearing officer on October 3rd.

24· · · · An informal hearing was conducted on July 25,

25· ·2023 regarding an administrative complaint seeking
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·1· ·to exclude this respondent from all peri-mutuels

·2· ·pursuant to Section 550.0251(6).

·3· · · · The hearing officer issued a recommended order

·4· ·recommending that respondent be added to the

·5· ·permanent exclusion list for all peri-mutuels for a

·6· ·period of one year.

·7· · · · Therefore, the Division would ask that the

·8· ·hearing officer's recommended order be adopted in

·9· ·this case.

10· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you.· Commissioners,

11· ·any questions on this?· If not, can we get a motion

12· ·to approve the final order adopting the hearing

13· ·officer's recommendation.

14· · · · COMMISSIONER REPP:· I would like to make a

15· ·motion to approve.

16· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Second.

17· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· All those in favor, say

18· ·aye.

19· · · · (Mutual ayes.)

20· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you.· Moving on to

21· ·7.3.

22· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· Jamil Watson in Case No.

23· ·2023-021423.· This case comes before you following

24· ·a recommended order that was issued by the hearing

25· ·officer on October 3rd.
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·1· · · · The informal hearing was conducted on July 25,

·2· ·2023 regarding a notice of intent to deny

·3· ·petitioner's license application due to one felony

·4· ·conviction which was fleeing or attempting to

·5· ·allude an officer in 2010.

·6· · · · The hearing officer issued a recommended order

·7· ·recommending that the petitioner's license be

·8· ·granted in this case.· the Division had recommended

·9· ·denial, but the hearing officer recommended

10· ·granting the license in this case.

11· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you.· I tend to agree

12· ·with the hearing officer as well when I saw this.

13· · · · Commissioners, any questions?· If not, can we

14· ·get a motion to approve the hearing officer's

15· ·recommended order?

16· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· So moved.

17· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Is there a second?

18· · · · COMMISSIONER REPP:· Second.

19· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· All those in favor, say

20· ·aye.

21· · · · (Mutual ayes.)

22· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you.· Ms. Alvarado,

23· ·can we take up 7.2 and 8.1 together, please?

24· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· Yes.· Sure.· 7.2 is Gilfredo

25· ·Gonzalez in Case No. 2022-061179.· 8.1 is the same
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·1· ·petitioner in this case, respondent in that case.

·2· ·It's Case No. 2008-012886.

·3· · · · ·This case comes before you following the

·4· ·recommended order that was issued by the hearing

·5· ·officer.· An informal hearing was conducted on June

·6· ·15th regarding the notice of intent to deny

·7· ·petitioner's application due to his permanent

·8· ·exclusion from 2010.

·9· · · · Since the hearing, petitioner's attorney has

10· ·submitted an order or a motion to vacate or amend

11· ·the prior order asking that the Commission find

12· ·that respondent's attendance at peri-mutuels in

13· ·Florida is not adverse to the public interest or

14· ·the integrity of the sport or industry to vacate

15· ·the provisions in the final order in this matter,

16· ·to the extent that the order excludes Mr. Gonzalez

17· ·from peri-mutuel facilities, other than Gulfstream

18· ·Park, and order that the final orders in the cases

19· ·prior which were 2011-037755 and 2013-013267 not

20· ·serve as a basis for the denial and the informal

21· ·hearing recommended order case.

22· · · · ·The hearing officer has since issued a

23· ·recommended order on October 3rd recommending that

24· ·petitioner's license be denied without prejudice to

25· ·reapply anytime, that the Florida Gaming Control
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·1· ·Commission finds that the attendance of petitioner

·2· ·at a peri-mutuel facility would not be adverse to

·3· ·the public interest or integrity of the sport, and

·4· ·that petitioner is no longer excluded from

·5· ·peri-mutuels in the state of Florida.

·6· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· And before we get to the

·7· ·speaker, are there any preliminary questions of

·8· ·fact?· It's kind of a complicated petition.· My

·9· ·understanding is that the petitioner is requesting

10· ·the occupational license.· It does not intend to

11· ·work in the cardroom.

12· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· Right.· He is not even

13· ·requesting a cardroom license.· He's trying to get

14· ·a license to work in the back side with the horses,

15· ·a peri-mutuel occupational license.

16· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you, Ms. Alvarado.

17· · · · Commissioner Repp.

18· · · · COMMISSIONER REPP:· Do we have any other

19· ·criminal history?

20· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· No.· That is the only incident.

21· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you.· With that,

22· ·Mr. Dan McGinn is the attorney representing the

23· ·individual petitioner.· Nice to see you here.

24· · · · MR. MC GINN:· Thank you, Madam Chair.· Thank

25· ·you, Commissioners.· For the record, my name is

October 05, 2023

www.lexitaslegal.com
(800) 676-2401

October 05, 2023

www.lexitaslegal.com
(800) 676-2401

YVer1f



Page 41
·1· ·Daniel McGinn.· I'm with Dean, Mead & Dunbar here

·2· ·in Tallahassee.· We are representing Mr. Gilfredo

·3· ·Gonzalez.

·4· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Just ask you for the court

·5· ·reporter to speak closer to the mic.

·6· · · · MR. MC GINN:· Sure.· And also I apologize to

·7· ·the court reporter, as I do every time they're

·8· ·transcribing me.· I talk three times as fast.

·9· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· He talks very fast.

10· · · · MR. MC GINN:· It happens a lot.· So what I'm

11· ·here today to discuss before the Commission are two

12· ·requests.· The first one is to modify the 2010

13· ·order which excludes Mr. Gonzalez, to allow him to

14· ·be eligible to enter pari-mutuel facilities other

15· ·than Gulfstream Park, and then for the Commission

16· ·to grant the license that he's applied for and the

17· ·recommended order that's been issued by the hearing

18· ·officer.

19· · · · So to begin, please understand that what we're

20· ·asking for today is not a determination from the

21· ·Commission that either the current or the former

22· ·pari-mutuel wagering division was incorrect.

23· · · · In 2010 based on the information that was

24· ·available at the time, the Division chose to

25· ·exclude Mr. Gonzalez from its pari-mutuel
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·1· ·facilities.

·2· · · · In its recommended order today, the hearing

·3· ·officer recommends you deny Mr. Gonzalez based on

·4· ·that 2010 order.· And what we're asking the

·5· ·commission today is to look at the facts before it

·6· ·that you have now and to determine whether

·7· ·Mr. Gonzalez's exclusion is still appropriate and

·8· ·necessary under the standards of Chapter 550 of the

·9· ·Florida Statutes.

10· · · · Factually in early 2008, Mr. Gonzalez diverted

11· ·chips into his tip box while working as a dealer at

12· ·Gulfstream Park.· He was terminated from his

13· ·position and excluded from Gulfstream.

14· · · · He was not arrested nor convicted for this

15· ·offense.· Shortly thereafter, Mr. Gonzalez began

16· ·working at table games at a Seminole tribe facility

17· ·in South Florida.· Over the course of the next

18· ·decade and a half, he rose to the position as table

19· ·game supervisor.

20· · · · He currently works in the Tampa facility, and

21· ·he's been there for the entire time from 2008 till

22· ·now while he's been with the tribal facilities in

23· ·Hollywood and Tampa.· He's had no further

24· ·incidents.

25· · · · Like I said, he remains employed today.· He
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·1· ·actually sent me his evaluation, but it's not on

·2· ·the record.· He got a raise, which is hard to do

·3· ·nowadays.

·4· · · · After the 2010 order was issued, Mr. Gonzalez,

·5· ·as you can see, has tried to regain a license from

·6· ·the Division multiple times, most recently in 2013.

·7· ·In each of these instances, he was candid and

·8· ·remorseful when discussing the Gulfstream incident

·9· ·with the Division.

10· · · · But again, he was denied, much like the

11· ·hearing officer recommends in this instance because

12· ·of the 2010 order stemming from the 2008 incident.

13· ·Now with this additional 15 years of employment

14· ·history within the industry, Mr. Gonzalez is asking

15· ·the Commission for a determination that his

16· ·exclusion from the facilities is no long warranted,

17· ·other than Gulfstream, statutorily Gulfstream not

18· ·at issue here.

19· · · · So Section 550.0251(6) which is the exclusion

20· ·statute generally, also grants the Commission a

21· ·basis for modifying this order.· The statute allows

22· ·the Commission to make a finding that

23· ·Mr. Gonzalez's attendance at pari-mutuel facilities

24· ·is neither adverse to the public interest nor the

25· ·integrity of the sport; thereby permitting him to
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·1· ·enter facilities other than Gulfstream Park,

·2· ·Gulfstream because it's the particular location as

·3· ·the offense as a private right of action -- not

·4· ·right of action, but a private ability to continue

·5· ·excluding him.

·6· · · · That's why we're not asking for him to be

·7· ·admitted there.· If they choose to keep him on

·8· ·their exclusion log, that's something that the

·9· ·Commission doesn't have the authority to order.

10· · · · So should the Commission agree with our

11· ·request and the finding and subsequent modification

12· ·of 2010 order would then allow for the Commission

13· ·to grant the remaining relief requested, which is

14· ·the approval of his license.

15· · · · The facts in the matter are not at issue.

16· ·Everything that I've referred to today and that

17· ·Ms. Alvarado has referred to were entered either by

18· ·Mr. Gonzalez or the Division at the informal

19· ·hearing.

20· · · · Again, the sole basis for his denial is this

21· ·2010 order stemming from the 2008 case.· Without

22· ·that barrier, Mr. Gonzalez is otherwise eligible to

23· ·hold the license he applied for.

24· · · · Again, the hearing officer's recommended

25· ·order, while recommending denial, does contemplate
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·1· ·this exact process that we're trying to take today.

·2· · · · Now, what we've done is attempt to consolidate

·3· ·this into a one-day issue before the Commission,

·4· ·rather than asking you to amend the order and then

·5· ·coming back at a later meeting with the same

·6· ·application that we've got before the Commission

·7· ·today.

·8· · · · So if you're willing to make the necessary

·9· ·finding and the modification, we can kind of wrap

10· ·all this up.· And as such, we respectfully request

11· ·this Commission grant the release requested in the

12· ·motion and thereafter approve the licensure

13· ·application either in full or conditionally.

14· · · · Again, Mr. Gonzalez has no interest in being

15· ·permitted to work in the state cardroom facility.

16· ·His son currently works in the Tampa facility in

17· ·the back of the track, and he'd kind of like to

18· ·finish up his twilight years in the industry

19· ·working with his son.

20· · · · If there are any questions, I'd be glad to

21· ·answer them.· Otherwise, thank you for your time.

22· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you, Mr. McGinn.

23· ·This is a case where we're happy that the

24· ·petitioner delves into this matter a little bit

25· ·more thoroughly so that we could look at the facts
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·1· ·of his background of where he is today.

·2· · · · Commissioners, do you have any questions for

·3· ·Mr. McGinn or for staff?· Any comment?· Okay.· With

·4· ·that, thank you.· Now we're going to move on to

·5· ·discussion on the issue.· I think the most

·6· ·appropriate thing, either general counsel or

·7· ·Ms. Alvarado, is to take up 8.1, which is the

·8· ·discussion of vacating the final order; correct?

·9· · · · MS. ALVARADO:· Yes, that's correct.

10· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Commissioners, discussion

11· ·on 8.1, the petitioner's request to vacate the

12· ·final order.· I'll just begin.

13· · · · I think the petitioner presented a very

14· ·compelling case.· Actually, I don't really, with

15· ·due respect, agree with the staff's recommendation.

16· ·I do agree with the petitioner here, and I think

17· ·it's appropriate to vacate the final order as

18· ·requested.

19· · · · Commissioner Repp.

20· · · · COMMISSIONER REPP:· I would agree.

21· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· I would agree.

22· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· I agree.

23· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you very much.· Can

24· ·we get a motion to vacate provisions of the final

25· ·order in this matter, to the extent that the order
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·1· ·excludes Mr. Gonzalez from pari-mutuel facilities,

·2· ·other than Gulfstream Park?

·3· · · · COMMISSIONER REPP:· I'll make a motion to

·4· ·vacate.

·5· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Is there a second?

·6· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· I'll make a second.

·7· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· All those in favor, say

·8· ·aye.

·9· · · · (Multiple ayes.)

10· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· That passes.· And we go to

11· ·7.2.· If there's no discussion, can we get a motion

12· ·to approve the petitioner's request for licensure?

13· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· So moved.

14· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Is there a second?

15· · · · COMMISSIONER REPP:· Second.

16· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Again, just checking with

17· ·legal that's the correct?· All right.· All those in

18· ·favor, say aye.

19· · · · (Multiple ayes.)

20· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· That passes unanimously.

21· ·Thank you, and thank you for your work here.

22· · · · Moving on to license denials, 9.1, Mr. Woods.

23· · · · MR. WOODS:· Good morning.· Steve Woods, for

24· ·the record.· 9.1 in this case Aleksandr Belozerov.

25· ·It's Case No. 2023-038900.· He applied for a
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·1· ·cardroom employee occupational license.· There were

·2· ·two convictions in this case.

·3· · · · There was a grand theft auto.· There was also

·4· ·a failure to return.· I'm not sure how many details

·5· ·are desired.· But a very brief synopsis of what

·6· ·happened was this person rented a car in 2018, lent

·7· ·it to a friend, and the friend did not return it.

·8· ·It was well past the due date.

·9· · · · And then the man went to return it, and he was

10· ·arrested for doing so.· This case remained pending

11· ·until 2023 because he had Corona virus.· He went

12· ·back to court, and then there was a fire alarm.

13· ·And he believed that because a fire alarm had went

14· ·off, he could leave.

15· · · · He did leave.· He never contacted the court

16· ·again.· This caused an FTA, a failure to appear.

17· ·He was then rearrested, and then this was resolved

18· ·for -- he was sentenced.· Adjudication was

19· ·withheld.· He was sentenced to 18 months probation,

20· ·and he had to pay restitution of $1,869.

21· · · · I think that briefly summarizes the two felony

22· ·convictions, those arising out of the same

23· ·circumstances, the same act.· These were disclosed,

24· ·and he applied for a waiver.· That was denied.· The

25· ·recommendation is that the Commission authorize the
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·1· ·issuance of a notice of intent to deny.

·2· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you, Mr. Woods.

·3· · · · Commissioners, do you have any questions on

·4· ·this issue?

·5· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· I just have one question

·6· ·for clarification.· When was the date of the

·7· ·original offense?

·8· · · · MR. WOODS:· 2018.· I believe the date was

·9· ·March 13, 2018 that the vehicle was due, and then

10· ·it was kept long beyond that.· And then he was

11· ·arrested in 2018, and then it remained pending

12· ·because of the Corona virus and because of the FTA

13· ·until 2023.

14· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Thank you.

15· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Mr. Woods, this applicant,

16· ·did he make full restitution?

17· · · · MR. WOODS:· Yes.· I believe the restitution

18· ·was a condition of probation.· I think the

19· ·restitution again was roughly $1,900.· The exact

20· ·figure was something along the lines of $1,869.

21· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Commissioner Repp.

22· · · · COMMISSIONER REPP:· And has the probation been

23· ·completed or has it been determined what date it is

24· ·completed?

25· · · · MR. WOODS:· When the probation began, the date
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·1· ·of disposition, the date on which he was sentenced

·2· ·would have been June 8, 2023.· That's when it

·3· ·began.· It was a term of 18 months.

·4· · · · He was eligible for termination after nine,

·5· ·you know, early termination halfway through if he

·6· ·had done everything that he was required to do.

·7· ·I'm not sure of the exact -- I don't think there's

·8· ·any documentation whether the probation was

·9· ·terminated early.

10· · · · But he did satisfy all the conditions, whether

11· ·that was in 18 months or 9 or some point in between

12· ·those two time frames.

13· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· And he had a license with

14· ·us.· This is appearing before because it expired.

15· ·The one thing that -- he did not notify us, even

16· ·though he had a current license; correct?

17· · · · MR. WOODS:· That is correct.· There were these

18· ·arrests in 2011 and 2017, and there is no

19· ·indication that he notified as required by

20· ·7511.011.

21· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· We talk about that often.

22· · · · Commissioner Repp.

23· · · · COMMISSIONER REPP:· He's still under probation

24· ·until at least March 2024?

25· · · · MR. WOODS:· No.· I believe the probation --
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·1· ·you must be right.

·2· · · · COMMISSIONER REPP:· He's still under

·3· ·probation?

·4· · · · MR. WOODS:· I must have misspoken.

·5· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Commissioners, any

·6· ·discussion on this?· If not, we're ripe for a

·7· ·motion.

·8· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Make a motion to accept

·9· ·the staff recommendation.

10· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Is there a second?

11· · · · COMMISSIONER REPP:· I'll second.

12· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· All those in favor, say

13· ·aye.

14· · · · (Multiple ayes.)

15· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Passes unanimously.· Thank

16· ·you.· On to 9.2.

17· · · · MR. WOODS:· 9.2 is Case No. 2023-040967.· This

18· ·is Jessica Michell Thomas.· She applied for a

19· ·pari-mutuel general individual occupational

20· ·license.· There are several different convictions

21· ·in this case.

22· · · · Three of them have to do with possession of a

23· ·controlled substance while armed.· And on top of

24· ·that, there were other charges having to do with

25· ·possession of cannabis, carrying a concealed
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·1· ·firearm.

·2· · · · There's also a possession with intent to sell.

·3· ·I believe all of these charges arose out of the

·4· ·same incident.· This woman, she gave a statement in

·5· ·which she said that my husband was arrested.· There

·6· ·was this arrest of the husband who was put in jail

·7· ·for traveling to meet a minor, a 14-year-old.

·8· · · · And when he knew he was going off to prison,

·9· ·he left her with these drugs to say, you know, this

10· ·is something that you have to pay the bills.· And

11· ·then there's this incident that's described in the

12· ·arrest report in which she is driving.

13· · · · She hits another vehicle and flees on foot and

14· ·allegedly at one point threatens to shoot someone.

15· ·In this black bag she had with her as she was

16· ·fleeing, there was crack.· There were 12 pills of

17· ·amphetamine.· There were baggies.· There were

18· ·scales, various types of paraphernalia for

19· ·narcotics.

20· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you for the summary

21· ·and background.

22· · · · Commissioners, any question?· If not, can we

23· ·get a motion?

24· · · · COMMISSIONER REPP:· Motion to accept the staff

25· ·recommendation.

October 05, 2023

www.lexitaslegal.com
(800) 676-2401

October 05, 2023

www.lexitaslegal.com
(800) 676-2401

YVer1f



Page 53
·1· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Second.

·2· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· All those in favor, say

·3· ·aye.

·4· · · · (Multiple ayes.)

·5· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Passes unanimously.· 9.3,

·6· ·please.

·7· · · · MR. WOODS:· Yes, ma'am.· 9.3 is Case No.

·8· ·2023-047281.· This is Askari Leon Kemp.· He applied

·9· ·for a slot machine general individual occupational

10· ·license.· The convictions in this case were grand

11· ·theft of a firearm in 2011 and carrying a concealed

12· ·weapon in 2008.

13· · · · They were disclosed.· The disqualifying

14· ·convictions could not be waived.· The

15· ·recommendation is that the Commission authorize the

16· ·issuance of a notice of intent to deny.

17· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you.· Commissioners,

18· ·are there any questions?· If not, can I get a

19· ·motion?

20· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· So moved to approve the

21· ·staff recommendation.

22· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you.· Is there a

23· ·second?

24· · · · COMMISSIONER REPP:· I'll second.

25· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· All those in favor, say
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·1· ·aye.

·2· · · · (Mutual ayes.)

·3· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Passes unanimously.

·4· · · · MR. WOODS:· ·9.4 is Case No. 2023-048275.

·5· ·This is Alfred Lee Gerald, Jr.· He applied for a

·6· ·slot machine general individual occupational

·7· ·license.· The relevant convictions, there were a

·8· ·few in this case.

·9· · · · Sale or delivery of cocaine, sale or delivery

10· ·of cannabis, grand theft and petty theft.· These

11· ·were disclosed.· These took place over a number of

12· ·years.

13· · · · One was a conviction from 2005, one was a

14· ·conviction from 2018, and one was from 2017.· The

15· ·convictions cannot be waived, and the

16· ·recommendation is that the Commission authorize the

17· ·issuance of a denial, intention to deny.

18· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you.

19· · · · This one, again, is a clear-cut case.· If

20· ·there's no questions, can we get a motion?

21· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Motion to accept the

22· ·staff recommendation.

23· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you.· Getting excited

24· ·here.· Is there a second?

25· · · · COMMISSIONER REPP:· I'll second.
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·1· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· All those in favor, say

·2· ·aye.

·3· · · · (Mutual ayes.)

·4· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· All right.· On to 9.5.

·5· · · · MR. WOODS:· Yes, ma'am.· 9.5, the final case,

·6· ·is Case No. 2023-050675.· This is Tammie P. Corros.

·7· ·She applied for a cardroom employee occupational

·8· ·license.· The conviction in this case was a forgery

·9· ·from 2005.

10· · · · Essentially, the circumstances of this, she

11· ·says that she was -- she explains that she was

12· ·living with the father of the child of whom she was

13· ·pregnant.· She was eight months into the pregnancy.

14· ·The man cheated on her.· She said that she was very

15· ·upset about this and made some poor choices, a poor

16· ·choice, and committed the crime of forgery.

17· · · · She characterized it herself as a bad decision

18· ·for which there is no excuse.· It was disclosed.

19· ·She did apply for a waiver.· That was declined.

20· ·The recommendation is that the Commission authorize

21· ·the issuance of a notice of intent to deny.

22· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Mr. Woods, just some facts

23· ·here.· This was back in 2005 in California?

24· · · · MR. WOODS:· Yes.

25· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Just looking at the record,
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·1· ·it looks like rehabilitation, that there's been no

·2· ·other crimes since committed.

·3· · · · MR. WOODS:· That is correct.· From what I've

·4· ·seen, she has said she hasn't been in trouble

·5· ·since, and that is in line with the data provided

·6· ·by the FBI.

·7· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· I just am a little bit more

·8· ·sensitive to this because given the amount of time

·9· ·that expands through this, her admission that she

10· ·knows it was a bad decision, an error, and

11· ·explanation of the facts and the fact that she

12· ·seems to be rehabilitated, and she's asking for a

13· ·cardroom occupational license.· I'm open to the

14· ·idea of granting it.

15· · · · Any other comments?· Commissioner Drago.

16· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· I agree.· It's been an

17· ·awful long time since this offense.· I think it was

18· ·$1,400.

19· · · · MR. WOODS:· ·$1,400, yes, sir.

20· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· And I don't remember what

21· ·the forgery was exactly.· I don't know.

22· · · · MR. WOODS:· It was money that, if I remember,

23· ·she was living with the man that was having the

24· ·affair.· She moved out.· She said she wasn't

25· ·working, and she wasn't in a rational state of
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·1· ·mind, and she forged a check.· And then according

·2· ·to what she says, it was the bank that proceeded

·3· ·forward with the charges against her.

·4· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· I making the assumption

·5· ·based on the material that I reviewed that she has

·6· ·rehabilitated herself.· She hasn't had any other

·7· ·offenses since that time.· That was her only

·8· ·conviction and the only offense that we're aware

·9· ·of.· I'm inclined to agree with Vice Chair Brown

10· ·and grant the license.

11· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Commissioner Repp.

12· · · · COMMISSIONER REPP:· I'm inclined also to see

13· ·rehabilitation considering the circumstances.

14· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you.· With that, can

15· ·we get a motion on this item?

16· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· So moved.

17· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· To approve?

18· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· To approve.

19· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you.· Is there a

20· ·second?

21· · · · COMMISSIONER REPP:· I'll second.

22· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· All right.· And just

23· ·clarification, it's a motion to approve the

24· ·license, not the denial.· Any discussion?· If not,

25· ·all those in favor, say aye.
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·1· · · · (Mutual ayes.)

·2· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· The motion passes.· Thank

·3· ·you.· We are moving on to discussion of policies

·4· ·and procedures.· We have three of them to consider

·5· ·today.· Can we start off with 10.1.

·6· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Yes, ma'am.· Louis Trombetta,

·7· ·for the record.· Item 10.1 is the proposed active

·8· ·assailant response policy.· The origins of this is

·9· ·essentially FDLE has major requirement on all law

10· ·enforcement agencies in the state to have an active

11· ·assailant response policy.· This is the Gaming

12· ·Commission's policy.

13· · · · As I have briefed all of you individually, we

14· ·are working on a massive all-encompassing law

15· ·enforcement group of policies.· This one was pulled

16· ·out of that group because we were trying to get it

17· ·done sooner than all the others.

18· · · · If there's any questions, the policy has been

19· ·included in the meeting material.· If you have any

20· ·questions, I'm happy to answer them.

21· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Are there any questions on

22· ·this?

23· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· I don't have any

24· ·questions.· I'll just say from my own experience,

25· ·this is consistent, a policy on this subject all
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·1· ·over the country.· I travel all over the country

·2· ·dealing with these policies, and this is consistent

·3· ·across the country, so it's a standard policy for

·4· ·active assailant response.

·5· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· That was helpful.· Can we

·6· ·please make a motion to approve the policy?

·7· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Yes.· I make a motion to

·8· ·approve the active assailant response policy.

·9· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you.· Is there a

10· ·second?

11· · · · COMMISSIONER REPP:· I'll second that.

12· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· All those in favor, say

13· ·aye.

14· · · · (Mutual ayes.)

15· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· All right.· It passes

16· ·unanimously as well.· On to Item No. 10.2.

17· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Thank you.· So Item 10.2 is

18· ·the travel policy.· This was originally on the

19· ·agenda for the prior meeting.· We've made some

20· ·adjustments based on feedback, and it's back on the

21· ·agenda.· I received two questions during individual

22· ·briefings I would like to kind of just touch on

23· ·before turning it back over.

24· · · · So the first one has to do with some of the

25· ·numbers involved.· We are basing everything on DMS
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·1· ·travel guidance, so the per diem and the costs that

·2· ·can be incurred on hotels and stuff is all based on

·3· ·DMS.

·4· · · · The preference from staff levels to include

·5· ·those numbers so that we just have to look at the

·6· ·one policy.· However, as some of you have mentioned

·7· ·in the individual briefing, if instead you would

·8· ·like us to just indicate to use DMS instead so you

·9· ·can then look at DMS's policy, we can do that.  I

10· ·wanted to give it up to the Commission to make a

11· ·decision on that point.

12· · · · And then secondarily, there was a question

13· ·about the documentation needed for travel for

14· ·commissioners to this meeting.· I believe this is

15· ·part of your routine travel.· This isn't like going

16· ·to a conference that requires an additional memo or

17· ·anything like that.

18· · · · I did look into that.· So you still need to

19· ·get authorization ahead of time, but that's the

20· ·same as all travel.· You just have to fill out --

21· ·you know, essentially it's a program that there's

22· ·software that's used for all travel management.

23· · · · Those are the two items.· If you have any

24· ·questions, just like the other one, I'm happy to

25· ·help.
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·1· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Regarding the second point

·2· ·that you, so a memorandum would not be needed to

·3· ·travel to headquarters in Tallahassee by the

·4· ·commissioners?

·5· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Correct, that's my

·6· ·understanding.· Just to be clear, though, there's

·7· ·still for all travel, you would have to initially

·8· ·request authorization to incur that travel expense.

·9· ·It's different than a memo.

10· · · · For travel going to conferences and additional

11· ·things that are approved by the executive director,

12· ·I ask for a memo so that I have a better idea of

13· ·what the individual that's requesting is actually

14· ·trying to do.

15· · · · For travel like this, as you are

16· ·commissioners, to me this is routine.· It's part of

17· ·your job duties to attend these meetings, so there

18· ·is no memo required for that type of travel.

19· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· If we have to travel to

20· ·Fort Lauderdale for a workshop or meetings, a memo

21· ·would be required?

22· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· I think it would depend on the

23· ·meeting.· It could be required.

24· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Commissioner D'Aquila.

25· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· I have a question on
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·1· ·the first point when appropriate?

·2· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Now is fine.

·3· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Am I understanding

·4· ·correctly the question is whether to print the

·5· ·numbers within the policy versus a link to the

·6· ·current numbers in the other agency; is that

·7· ·correct?

·8· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Sort of, Commissioner.· The

·9· ·decision point is do we leave the numbers in our

10· ·policy, the direct.· And these numbers I'm

11· ·referring to usually have to do with some type of

12· ·amount of dollar that can be incurred, you know, or

13· ·a tip.

14· · · · For example, you can tip the taxi or the valet

15· ·a certain amount.· That's all based on DMS's

16· ·guidance.· Same thing with like the hotel rate.· So

17· ·the question is do we put that in our policy and

18· ·then have to update our policy when it changes?

19· · · · Or do we just refer to DMS's policy, and then

20· ·we just have to -- you know, the Gaming

21· ·Commission's own policy will say something like the

22· ·hotel will be allowable, hotel rate is as provided

23· ·with DMS.· It's essentially referring to the other

24· ·policy.

25· · · · So from my end, I would prefer that we just
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·1· ·put the number in the policy so that we have it in

·2· ·one spot and it's easy to read.· But I also

·3· ·understand the counterpoint is a valid point, is

·4· ·then we have to update it as they change.

·5· · · · We'd have to continuously update the form as

·6· ·those numbers change.· So really, it's a call for

·7· ·you all, and we'll do whatever you'd like in this

·8· ·instance.

·9· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Commissioner D'Aquila, I

10· ·suggest that maybe having the actual number in

11· ·there but then include language, something to the

12· ·effect of or DMS's current rate in effect.

13· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· I'm fine with that.  I

14· ·agree, just refer to DMS policy would be a lot

15· ·easier.

16· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Are there any other

17· ·comments before we turn it back to Mr. Trombetta?

18· · · · Mr. Trombetta.

19· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Thank you.· So just to be

20· ·clear, we well update the policy to include

21· ·language that reflects a reference to DMS as

22· ·guidance, and then we'll get the policy for

23· ·approval at the next meeting.

24· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Unless there's any other

25· ·questions, if we give you discretion to include
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·1· ·that language, we can go ahead and approve the

·2· ·policy right now.

·3· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· I would be happy to do that.

·4· ·I prefer that.

·5· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Okay.· Are there any other

·6· ·questions on that policy?· If not, can we get a

·7· ·motion to approve the policy with the additional

·8· ·language as suggested?

·9· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· So moved.

10· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Is there a second?

11· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· Second.

12· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· All those in favor, say

13· ·aye.

14· · · · (Mutual ayes.)

15· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Policy passes.· 10.3.

16· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Thank you.· 10.3 is the forms

17· ·management policy.· This is the first amendment to

18· ·a policy.· This policy had previously been

19· ·approved.· It's one of the first ones the

20· ·Commission approved.

21· · · · We noticed that there was an issue in the

22· ·numbering used in the Division, so we've updated

23· ·the numbers.· Now it's back for approval.· The form

24· ·itself has not changed.· The policy itself has not

25· ·changed.
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·1· · · · This policy just governs sort of how we

·2· ·account for internal forms.· It includes like the

·3· ·font used, how things are listed.· But it's on here

·4· ·because we wanted to make sure that the numbering

·5· ·was consistent.

·6· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you.· Arial and Times

·7· ·New Roman.· Are there any questions on this item?

·8· ·If not, can we get a motion to approve 10.3?

·9· · · · COMMISSIONER REPP:· I'll make a motion to

10· ·approve 10.3.

11· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· I'll second.

12· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· All those in favor, say

13· ·aye.

14· · · · (Mutual ayes.)

15· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you.· That passes.

16· ·Moving on to Executive Director update, Item

17· ·No. 11.

18· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Thank you.· So I have a few

19· ·updates.· I think we'll begin with probably the one

20· ·I'm most excited about.· There has been included in

21· ·the meeting materials feedback from the graphic

22· ·designer that was engaged to provide a logo for the

23· ·Gaming Commission.

24· · · · This captures the feedback that was provided

25· ·by the Commission at the last meeting.· At this
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·1· ·point, I think I would take any additional feedback

·2· ·you have, and I would also if there is a consensus,

·3· ·if you are happy with this logo, I would ask that

·4· ·you authorize me to execute on this and work with

·5· ·the designers.

·6· · · · So what they provided are different variations

·7· ·of how this logo can be used and how it would look.

·8· ·I would prefer that you authorize me to go forward,

·9· ·finalize this agreement, and finalize the logo.

10· · · · They've already provided some variations.· If

11· ·there is anything additional you would like, I

12· ·would like to go forward and move on, and we would

13· ·have our own logo and have some identity.

14· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· We have spent a lot of time

15· ·on this.· I know you have as well and so have the

16· ·graphic designer.

17· · · · Commissioners, any thoughts?· I appreciate the

18· ·designers coming up with the principals, the

19· ·guiding principals and like an explanation of the

20· ·graphics and the colors, all that.· It was very

21· ·helpful.· I like it, but there's a lot of variation

22· ·there.

23· · · · So any comments?

24· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· Yes.· I know we put a lot

25· ·of time into this, everybody has.· And I know
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·1· ·Director Trombetta and the staff going through this

·2· ·over and over again.

·3· · · · I'd like to see us approve this logo and give

·4· ·the director the discretion to finalize the details

·5· ·of the various forms it comes in, when we might use

·6· ·the various forms, et cetera, because I think it

·7· ·does -- I think it's a good logo, and I think it

·8· ·could differ a little bit, depending on how we're

·9· ·using it and what format.

10· · · · So I would like to see us go ahead and move

11· ·forward with this and give Director Trombetta the

12· ·discretion to finalize it however he deems

13· ·necessary.

14· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· That sounds like a motion.

15· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· That's a motion.

16· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Is there a second?

17· · · · COMMISSIONER D'AQUILA:· I will second the

18· ·motion.

19· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Any additional questions?

20· ·All right.· All those in favor, say aye.

21· · · · (Mutual ayes.)

22· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you.

23· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Thank you.· Next on my list,

24· ·just updates on rule making.· So today we didn't

25· ·have to use it because I think everybody, the
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·1· ·presenters have been very respectful of time.· Our

·2· ·public comment rule is now in effect.

·3· · · · So it's the first rule that the Commission has

·4· ·adopted on its own.· Speakers are essentially

·5· ·limited three minutes, unless they are asked to go

·6· ·beyond.· So you all are authorized to go beyond

·7· ·that, but it's a big step in the right direction.

·8· · · · Secondarily, we had our workshop on cashless

·9· ·wagering in South Florida on the 21st of September.

10· ·The record has been left open until October 10th

11· ·for people to submit public comment.· Again, just

12· ·following up on the presentation that was provided

13· ·at the last meeting by Ms. Stinson from here, my

14· ·team will gather -- we'll have a transcript, and we

15· ·will be hopefully getting submittals based on

16· ·feedback at the meeting.

17· · · · We asked the attendees to provide both like a

18· ·policy, where do you want to go with cashless?

19· ·What do you want?· And then two, legally how do we

20· ·make this work?

21· · · · We're going to go through it, and then we will

22· ·have a decision point on whether or not we have

23· ·another workshop or if we start working on language

24· ·so that we can advance that rule.· It was a good

25· ·workshop.· There's good turnout, and we got a lot
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·1· ·of feedback immediately.

·2· · · · But again, the record is open upon till the

·3· ·10th, and we right now are just kind of waiting for

·4· ·that to close.

·5· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Commissioners, any

·6· ·questions?· How many written comments have we

·7· ·received yet on that rule?

·8· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· To my knowledge, I just

·9· ·haven't asked.· I'm just waiting for October 10th.

10· ·I don't know.· Let me ask Ms. Stinson if she has

11· ·any knowledge, other than me?

12· · · · MS. STINSON:· Good morning.· I'm not aware of

13· ·any written comments at this time.

14· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you.· But there were

15· ·a lot of speakers and a lot of interest?

16· · · · MS. STINSON:· There were a lot of speakers and

17· ·a lot of interest.· I also have a feeling that

18· ·people are going to be very thoughtful about this

19· ·and submit written comments that reflect that.

20· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Wonderful.· Thank you.

21· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· On October 1st, $2.714 million

22· ·was distributed to local counties and

23· ·municipalities in according with Section

24· ·849.286(13)(h).

25· · · · So this is money that gets distributed based
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·1· ·on cardroom revenue to local cities and

·2· ·municipalities.· So just kind of an update on

·3· ·there, it doesn't necessarily have to get approved.

·4· ·The mechanism happens.

·5· · · · You essentially take here's how much revenue

·6· ·received, take the percentage, and send it to the

·7· ·local counties and municipalities.· So just an

·8· ·update that that happened.

·9· · · · And then finally, I think it's probably worth

10· ·discussing dates for the next few meetings.· I know

11· ·several of you have requested getting through the

12· ·holidays, if we can try to plan our schedules for

13· ·when the next meetings would be.

14· · · · So if we could possibly meet or talk about

15· ·meetings through February, I think that would

16· ·probably be most helpful.

17· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· And our next meeting is

18· ·November 2nd.· We did not come up with -- we did

19· ·come up with a December 7th date.

20· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· And if I can add, there are

21· ·two things to consider with both of those dates.

22· ·There's a committee meeting.· Sorry.· Start with

23· ·November.· Sorry.· I'll start over here.

24· · · · The week beginning November 6th is a committee

25· ·meeting, is a committee week.· So I don't know if
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·1· ·you guys desire to be here during that.· I'm just

·2· ·putting it out there.· Right now, you did agree on

·3· ·November 2nd.

·4· · · · I'm not trying to change that.· But it is just

·5· ·being aware that that is a committee week.· And on

·6· ·November 2nd, the PSC room is not available.· This

·7· ·room is not available November 2nd as well.

·8· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· I know Commissioner Drago

·9· ·is not available.· That's the week of --

10· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· November 6th.

11· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Are there other rooms

12· ·available, other than the PSC room, for November

13· ·2nd?

14· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· I think right now we have

15· ·reserved the cabinet room for that date.· I don't

16· ·know availability earlier in the week, but there

17· ·might be something if you want to try like Tuesday

18· ·or Wednesday of that week.· We might also have more

19· ·flexibility.· Again, I know you guys have a date.

20· ·I'm just throwing it out there.

21· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· I think we're okay with

22· ·November 2nd.· I want to make sure Commissioner

23· ·Drago is here.· And then December 7th.

24· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· So for December 7th, there's

25· ·an issue in that there's a slot -- one of the slot
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·1· ·machine license facilities expires -- well, is good

·2· ·through December 6th.

·3· · · · Slot applicants have to pay a $2 million

·4· ·application fee.· I would suggest we move this

·5· ·meeting a day ahead so that we can capture the slot

·6· ·license renewal, and there won't be a period of

·7· ·time where we have to figure something else out.

·8· · · · So that would be my recommendation would be to

·9· ·meet on December 6th or the 5th so that we can make

10· ·a decision on that slot license application.

11· ·Again, the slot machine license applications are

12· ·renewed based on -- they don't follow like a

13· ·calendar or fiscal year.

14· · · · Their annual licenses are based on the initial

15· ·application date, so they're kind of scattered

16· ·throughout the year.· My staff does the best we can

17· ·to work with the applicants.

18· · · · They are very good about working with us, but

19· ·I don't think, frankly, it's a good position for

20· ·the Commission to be asking for the submission of

21· ·that type of money a month ahead of time.

22· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Commissioners, do you have

23· ·any problems moving it to the 5th or the 6th?

24· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· No.

25· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Let's do it the 6th.
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·1· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Okay.

·2· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· And then January.

·3· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· The first Thursday in January

·4· ·is January 4th.· I don't know if we reserved that

·5· ·day or not.· Just throwing it out there, that is

·6· ·the first Thursday.

·7· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Is there any possibility of

·8· ·moving it to the second week when session begins in

·9· ·January, the 11th?

10· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· That's fine.

11· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Are there any problems

12· ·moving it to the 11th?

13· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Not that I'm aware of.  I

14· ·think that makes sense.

15· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· All right.· And then

16· ·February?

17· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· February the 1st.· The first

18· ·Thursday in February is February the 1st.

19· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Is that a problem with you?

20· · · · COMMISSIONER DRAGO:· No.· That's fine.

21· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you.· Any other

22· ·updates under Executive Director's report?

23· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· No, ma'am.· Thank you.

24· · · · VICE CHAIR BROWN:· Thank you.· We are moving

25· ·on to public comment.· Is there anybody from the
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·1· ·public that would like to speak before us today?

·2· · · · Hearing none, it's nice to see you all,

·3· ·though, anyway.

·4· · · · Commissioners, any other matters to address

·5· ·before we adjourn?· All right.· We are officially

·6· ·adjourned.· Thank you so much.

·7· · · ·(Proceedings concluded at 10:48 a.m.)
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·1· · · · · · · · · ·CERTIFICATE OF REPORTER

·2

·3· ·STATE OF FLORIDA

·4· ·COUNTY OF MIAMI-DADE
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MEMORANDUM 
 
To:  The Florida Gaming Control Commission 
From:  The Florida Gaming Control Commission Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Re:  2023-059299 King’s Court Key, LLC  Application for Change of Ownership 
Date:   October 31, 2023 
  
Executive Summary 
A pari-mutuel facility has requested approval from the commission for a change in ownership.  
 
Background 
King’s Court Key, LLC (“King’s Court Key”) possesses a valid jai alai fronton permit, permit 
number 284. King’s Court Key has submitted to the Commission for approval a change of more 
than 5 percent of its ownership interests. The ownership interests are changing as set forth in 
Exhibit 1.   
 
Analysis 
Pursuant to section 550.054(12), Florida Statutes, changes in ownership or interest of a pari-
mutuel permit of 5 percent or more of the stock or other evidence of ownership or equity shall 
be approved by the commission.  
 
Section 550.1815(1), Florida Statutes, provides that a corporation may not hold any jai alai permit 
in this state if any one of the persons or entities specified in section 550.1815(1)(a), Florida 
Statutes, has been determined by the commission not to be of good moral character or has been 
convicted of any offense specified in section 550.1815(1)(b), Florida Statutes. 
 
King’s Court Key has submitted all of the information related to the change of ownership as set 
forth in Exhibit 1and has met all of the requirements set forth in these statutes. 
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MEMORANDUM 
 
To:  The Florida Gaming Control Commission 
From:  The Florida Gaming Control Commission Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Re:  2023-059307 South Florida Racing Association, LLC 
Date:   October 31, 2023 
  
Executive Summary 
A pari-mutuel facility has requested approval from the commission for a change in ownership.  
 
Background 
South Florida Racing Association, LLC, d/b/a Hialeah Park Racing & Casino (“Hialeah”) 
possesses a valid quarter horse permit, permit number 544. Hialeah has submitted to the 
Commission for approval a change of more than 5 percent of its ownership interests.  Specifically, 
100% of Hialeah’s ownership interests are held by Bay Bal, LLC.  The ownership interests of Bay 
Bal, LLC are changing as set forth in Exhibit 1.   
 
Analysis 
Pursuant to section 550.054(12), Florida Statutes, changes in ownership or interest of a pari-
mutuel permit of 5 percent or more of the stock or other evidence of ownership or equity shall 
be approved by the commission.  
 
Section 550.1815(1), Florida Statutes, provides that a corporation may not hold any horseracing 
permit in this state if any one of the persons or entities specified in section 550.1815(1)(a), Florida 
Statutes, has been determined by the commission not to be of good moral character or has been 
convicted of any offense specified in section 550.1815(1)(b), Florida Statutes. 
 
South Florida Racing Association has submitted all of the information related to the change of 
ownership as set forth in Exhibit 1and has met all of the requirements set forth in these statutes.  
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MEMORANDUM 
 
To:  The Florida Gaming Control Commission 
From:  The Florida Gaming Control Commission Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Re:  2023-059487 Hamilton Downs Horsetrack, LLC 
Date:   October 31, 2023 
  
Executive Summary 
A pari-mutuel facility has requested approval from the commission for a change in ownership.  
 
Background 
Hamilton Downs Horsetrack, LLC (“Hamilton Downs”) possesses a valid quarter horse permit, 
permit number 547. Hamilton Downs has submitted to the Commission for approval a change of 
more than 5 percent of its ownership interests. The ownership interests are changing as set forth in 
Exhibit 1.   
 
Analysis 
Pursuant to section 550.054(12), Florida Statutes, changes in ownership or interest of a pari-
mutuel permit of 5 percent or more of the stock or other evidence of ownership or equity shall 
be approved by the commission.  
 
Section 550.1815(1), Florida Statutes, provides that a corporation may not hold any horseracing 
permit in this state if any one of the persons or entities specified in section 550.1815(1)(a), Florida 
Statutes, has been determined by the commission not to be of good moral character or has been 
convicted of any offense specified in section 550.1815(1)(b), Florida Statutes. 
 
Hamilton Downs has submitted all of the information related to the change of ownership as set 
forth in Exhibit 1 and has met all of the requirements set forth in these statutes.  
 
 
 



Exhibit 1

Ownership of Hamilton Downs, LLC before the requested change of ownership.



Ownership of Hamilton Downs, LLC after the requested change of ownership
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re:   FGCC v. Valeriy Tushin Case No. 2023-047841: Consent Order 
Date:   October 13, 2023 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks the adoption of the proposed settlement 
and consent order signed by Valeriy Tushin (“Respondent”) to resolve Case No. 
2023-047841. Pursuant to the terms of the proposed order, Respondent would pay 
an administrative fine of $300 for violating rules 75-11.004(8)(a) and 75-
11.004(2)(a), Florida Administrative Code.  
 
Background 
 
On August 21, 2023, Respondent was a cardroom dealer at Washington County 
Kennel Club.1 Respondent was seen, contrary to rule 75-11.004(8)(a), Florida 
Administrative Code, failing to clear his hands when cash, chips, or tokens was 
exchanged with or provided to a player. Furthermore, Respondent was seen, contrary 
to rule 75-11.004(2)(a), failing to spread currency on top of the card table in front of 
the impreset tray on one or more occasion when receiving currency from a player in 
exchange for chips or tokens. Respondent has two prior violations of rule 75-
11.004(8)(a).  
 
The Division served Respondent with an administrative complaint and included a 
proposed settlement and consent order seeking a $300 administrative fine. 
Respondent has agreed to the terms of the proposed order and has already mailed in 
a check for $300.  
 
Analysis  
 
The Commission may resolve matters informally through a negotiated settlement.2 
The Commission has the authority to impose an administrative fine of $1,000.00 for 

 
1Washington County Kennel Club is operated by a pari-mutuel wagering permitholder that also possesses a pari-
mutuel and cardroom license.  
2 See § 120.57(4), Fla. Stat. (”Unless precluded by law, informal disposition may be made of any proceeding by 
stipulation, agreed settlement, or consent order.”) 
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each violation of section 849.086, Florida Statutes, or any rules adopted pursuant to 
that section.3 
 
Rule 75-11.004(8)(a), Florida Administrative Code, provides, that the dealers shall 
clear their hands when cash, chips, or tokens are exchanged with or provided to a 
player.  
 
Rule 75-11.004(2)(a), Florida Administrative Code, provides in pertinent part, that 
a dealer who receives currency from a player at a card table in exchange for chips or 
tokens must spread the currency on the top of the card table in front of the imprest 
tray; 
 
Because Respondent failed to clear his hands at least thirty times after gathering and 
pushing pots to players and failed to spread currency on top of the card table in front 
of the impreset tray on one or more occasion when receiving currency from a player 
in exchange for chips or tokens. Respondent is subject to an administrative fine not 
to exceed $1000.00 per count.  
 
 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should enter a 
Final Order adopting and incorporating the proposed settlement and consent order 
in Case No. 2023-047841.  
 

 
3 § 849.086(14)(c), Fla. Stat.  
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Louis Trombetta, Executive Director Ron DeSantis, Governor
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TUSHIN, VALERIY
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(850) 238-9037
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OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS
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Alleged Violation: 75-11.004 Dealer Responsibilities.
(2) A dealer who receives currency from a player at a card table in exchange for chips or tokens 
must perform the following:  

(a) Spread the currency on the top of the card table in front of the imprest tray.  
(8) Dealers shall:  

(a) Clear their hands when cash, chips, or tokens are exchanged with or provided to a player.

Synopsis: On August 21, 2023, during a quarterly cardroom inspection at Washington County 
Kennel Club (Ebro), I observed Cardroom Dealer VALERIY TUSHIN fail to spread currency on the 
top of the card table in front of the imprest tray when receiving currency from a player in exchange 
for chips or tokens. I also observed him fail to clear his hands when cash, chips, or tokens were 
exchanged with or provided to a player on multiple occasions.   

Related Case(s): 2018 01 5620 & 2018 04 8126
Investigator / Date

/s/
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On August 21, 2023, I conducted a quarterly cardroom inspection at Washington County 
Kennel Club (Ebro).  During my inspection, recorded surveillance video was reviewed of 
random Cardroom Dealers.  While reviewing the surveillance footage of August 18, 2023, I 
observed Poker Dealer VALERIY TUSHIN (PMW LIC# (10478144), assigned to Table #25 
at approximately 2:28 PM through 2:58 PM, failing to clear his hands thirty (30) times when 
cash, chips, or tokens, were exchanged with or provided to a player.  I also observed him 
fail to spread the currency on the top of the card table in front of the imprest tray when 
receiving money from a player in exchange for chips or tokens.   
 
Careful review of the video evidence of August 18, 2023, obtained from Washington County 
Kennel Club (EXHIBIT #2) revealed the following violations: 
 

 2:28 PM; Respondent failed to clear his hands when chips were exchanged 
with a player. 

 2:29 PM; Respondent failed to clear his hands when chips were exchanged 
with a player. 

 2:30 PM; Respondent failed to clear his hands when chips were exchanged 
with a player. 

 2:31 PM; Respondent failed to clear his hands when chips were exchanged 
with a player. 

 2:32 PM; Respondent failed to clear his hands when chips were exchanged 
with a player. 

 2:33 PM; Respondent failed to clear his hands when chips were exchanged 
with a player. 

 2:35 PM; Respondent failed to clear his hands when chips were exchanged 
with a player. 

 2:35 PM; Respondent failed to clear his hands when cash were exchanged 
with a player and failed to spread the currency on the top of the card table 
in front of the imprest tray.   

 2:36 PM; Respondent failed to clear his hands when chips were exchanged 
with a player. 

 2:37 PM; Respondent failed to clear his hands when chips were exchanged 
with a player. 

 2:38 PM; Respondent failed to clear his hands when chips were exchanged 
with two players. 

 2:40 PM; Respondent failed to clear his hands when chips were exchanged 
with two players.  

 2:41 PM; Respondent failed to clear his hands when chips were exchanged 
with two players. 

 2:42 PM; Respondent failed to clear his hands when chips were exchanged 
with a player. 

 2:43 PM; Respondent failed to clear his hands when chips were exchanged 
with a player. 

 2:44 PM; Respondent failed to clear his hands when chips were exchanged 
with a player. 
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 2:45 PM; Respondent failed to clear his hands when chips were exchanged 
with a player. 

 2:46 PM; Respondent failed to clear his hands when chips were exchanged 
with a player. 

 2:50 PM; Respondent failed to clear his hands when chips were exchanged 
with a player. 

 2:50 PM; Respondent failed to clear his hands when cash were exchanged 
with a player and failed to spread the currency on the top of the card table 
in front of the imprest tray.   

 2:51 PM; Respondent failed to clear his hands when chips were exchanged 
with a player. 

 2:52 PM; Respondent failed to clear his hands when chips were exchanged 
with a player. 

 2:53 PM; Respondent failed to clear his hands when chips were exchanged 
with a player. 

 2:54 PM; Respondent failed to clear his hands when chips were exchanged 
with a player. 

 2:55 PM; Respondent failed to clear his hands when chips were exchanged 
with a player. 

 2:56 PM; Respondent failed to clear his hands when chips were exchanged 
with a player. 

 2:57 PM; Respondent failed to clear his hands when chips were exchanged 
with a player. 

VALERIY TUSHIN violated F.A.C. Rule: 75-11.004 (2)(a) and (8)(a) because he failed to 
clear his hands when cash, chips, or tokens were exchanged with or provided to a player 
on thirty (30) occasions.  Additionally, TUSHIN failed to spread the currency on the top of 
the card table in front of the imprest tray when receiving currency from a player in exchange 
for chips or tokens.  

A review of the Versa Regulation Enforcement database showed two previous violations 
against TUSHIN for violating F.A.C. Rule: 75-11.004(8)(a) failing to clear his hands while 
working as a dealer.  However, he has no prior violations of Rule 75-11.004(2)(a).  The 
violations and related penalties were: 

• Case #2018 01 5620, Consent Order- Fifty dollar ($50.00) fine imposed 
(EXHIBIT #3). 

• Case #2018 04 8126, Consent Order - Fifty dollar ($50.00) fine imposed. 
(EXHIBIT #4). 

Status: Closed by Investigations and forwarded to Legal for review. 
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re:   FGCC v. Jorge Luis Delgado, Case Number 2023-013251; Default 
Final Order 
Date:   October 13, 2023 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel seeks the issuance of a $1,000 fine to Jorge Luis 
Delgado, (“Respondent”) for violation of section 550.2415(1)(a), Florida Statutes, 
and rule 75-6.008(2)(h), Florida Administrative Code. Section 550.2451(7)(c), 
Florida Statutes, requires the Commission to incorporate the classification system 
for drugs and substances and the corresponding penalty schedule from the Uniform 
Classification Guidelines for Foreign Substances, Version 8.0, revised December 
2014, by the Association of Racing Commissioners International, Inc. 
(“Guidelines”).  The penalty for this violation is a $1000 fine and return of purse 
under the Guidelines. Therefore, the Florida Gaming Control Commission should 
enter a final order issuing a $1,000 fine and must return all money distributed from 
the purse.  
 
Background 
 
Respondent was the trainer of record for the racing horse Olivia Darling, which was 
owned by Amo Racing USA, LLC. On February 11, 2023, Olivia Darling finished 
2nd place in the 7th race of the performances held by Tampa Bay Downs. A blood 
sample was taken from Olivia Darling to test for any prohibited substances. The 
sample was sent to the University of Florida Lab (“UF Lab”) and subsequently 
tested. The UF Lab detected dexamethasone1 in the serum. Dexamethasone was 
detected at a serum concentration of 42.9 +/- 4.7 pg/mL.  
 
The Division filed an administrative complaint alleging a violation of section 
550.2415(1)(a), Florida Statutes, which makes it a violation of Florida law to race 
an animal that has been determined to have a prohibited substance present in its 

 
1 Dexamethasone is a Class 4 drug. See Uniform Classification Guidelines for Foreign Substances, version 8.0, 
revised December 2014, by the Association of Racing Commissioners International, Inc. Dexamethasone is used to 
treat eye inflammation or injury. 
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system. This is Respondent’s first violation of section 550.2415(1)(a), Florida 
Statues in the last 365 days. 
 
The Division filed an administrative complaint alleging a violation of section 
550.2415(1)(a), Florida Statutes, which makes it a violation of Florida law to race 
an animal that been determined to have a prohibited substance present in its system.  
 
Rule 61D-6.008(2)(h), Florida Administrative Code, provides that it is a violation if 
dexamethasone exists at a serum concentration greater than 5 pg/mL.  
 
The penalty for this violation is a Class C penalty under the Uniform Classification 
Guidelines for Foreign Substances, version 8.0, revised December 2014, by the 
Association of Racing Commissioners International, Inc. (“Guidelines”). 
 
The Division served Respondent with an administrative complaint, settlement 
agreement, and election of rights form. The election of rights accompanying the 
administrative complaint made it clear that the Respondent had 21 days2 to file a 
written response to the administrative complaint. The Respondent was served via 
hand service on March 17, 2022, which means the Respondent had until April 7, 
2022 to respond. He responded on April 10, 2023 past the 21-day deadline. 
Respondent has since sent in an incomplete settlement and consent order, failing to 
provide the Owner’s signature page.  
 
Analysis  
 
The Commission is required to incorporate the classification system for drugs and 
substances and the corresponding penalty schedule from the Guidelines.3 Because 
Respondent has no prior discipline in the last 365 days and Olivia Darling’s serum 
sample from February 11, 2023 contained dexamethasone over the serum 
concentration established in rule 75-6.008(2)(h), Florida Administrative Code, he is 
subject to issuance of a $1,000 fine.  
 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should enter an 
order issuing a $1,000 fine and requiring the return of all money distributed from the 
purse.  
 

 
2 See Fla. Admin. Code R. 28-106.111(4) (“Any person who receives written notice of an agency decision and who 
fails to file a written request for a hearing within 21 days waives the right to request a hearing on such matters.”) 
3 See Section 550.2451(7)(c), Fla. Stat.  



STATE OF FLORIDA  
FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 

FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION, 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING, 

Petitioner, 

v. 

JORGE LUIS DELGADO, 

Respondent. 
______________________________________/ 

FGCC Case No.: 2023-013251 

ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLAINT 

The Florida Gaming Control Commission, Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 

(“Petitioner”), files this Administrative Complaint against Jorge Luis Delgado (“Respondent”), 

and alleges as follows: 

1. Petitioner is the state agency charged with regulating pari-mutuel wagering

pursuant to chapter 550, Florida Statutes. 

2. At all times material hereto, Respondent held a Pari-Mutuel Wagering Professional

Individual Occupational License, 8656977-1021, issued by Petitioner. 

3. At all times material hereto, Respondent was the trainer of record for the racing

horse “Olivia Darling,” with microchip number 981020033128350. 

4. At all times material hereto, “Olivia Darling” was owned by Amo Racing USA,

LLC, who holds a Pari-Mutuel Wagering Business Occupational License, 12833609-1020, issued 

by Petitioner. 

5. On February 11, 2023, “Olivia Darling” participated in the 7th race of the

performances held by Tampa Bay Downs, Inc. (“TBD”). 
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6. On February 11, 2023, “Olivia Darling” finished in 2nd place in the 7th race of the 

performances held by TBD. 

7. TBD is a facility operated by a permitholder authorized to conduct pari-mutuel 

wagering in this state under chapter 550, Florida Statutes. 

8. On February 11, 2023, blood sample number 314393 was collected from “Olivia 

Darling.” 

9. Blood sample number 314393 was processed and forwarded to the University of 

Florida Racing Laboratory (“UF Lab”), for analysis. 

10. The UF Lab tested the serum extracted from blood sample number 314393 and 

found that it contained dexamethasone. 

11. In blood sample number 314393, dexamethasone was detected at a serum 

concentration of 42.9 +/- 4.7 pg/mL. 

12. Pursuant to section 550.2415(1)(a), Florida Statutes: 

The racing of an animal that has been impermissibly medicated or 
determined to have a prohibited substance present is prohibited. It is 
a violation of this section for a person to impermissibly medicate an 
animal or for an animal to have a prohibited substance present 
resulting in a positive test for such medications or substances based 
on samples taken from the animal before or immediately after the 
racing of that animal. 
 

13. According to rule 61D-6.008(2)(h), Florida Administrative Code, it is a violation 

of section 550.2415, Florida Statutes, if dexamethasone exists at a serum concentration greater 

than 5 pg/mL.  

14. Section 550.2415(1)(c), Florida Statutes, states, “[t]he finding of a prohibited 

substance in a race-day specimen constitutes prima facie evidence that the substance was 

administered and was carried in the body of the animal while participating in the race.” 
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15. Rule 61D-6.002(1), Florida Administrative Code, provides that, "[t]he trainer of 

record shall be responsible for and be the absolute insurer of the condition of the horses…he/she 

enters to race." 

16. Based on the foregoing, Respondent violated section 550.2415(1)(a), Florida 

Statutes, and rule 61D-6.008(2)(h), Florida Administrative Code, by racing “Olivia Darling” with 

an impermissible concentration of a permitted substance in its body on February 11, 2023. 

WHEREFORE, Petitioner respectfully requests the Florida Gaming Control Commission 

enter an Order imposing against Respondent one or more of the penalties specified in rule 61D-

6.011, Florida Administrative Code, section 550.2415(3)(a), Florida Statutes, and/or any other 

relief that the Commission is authorized to impose pursuant to chapter 550, Florida Statutes, and/or 

the rules promulgated thereunder. 

This Administrative Complaint for FGCC Case Number 2023-013251 is signed this 13th 

day of March, 2023.  

/s/Emily A. Alvarado 
Emily A. Alvarado 
Deputy Chief Attorney 
Florida Bar Number: 1025200 
Florida Gaming Control Commission 
Office of the General Counsel 
Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
2601 Blair Stone Road 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2202 
Telephone: (850) 717-1783 
Facsimile: (850) 921-1311 
Primary: Emily.Alvarado@fgcc.fl.gov 
Secondary: Ebonie.Lanier@fgcc.fl.gov 
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NOTICE OF RIGHTS TO REQUEST A HEARING 

Pursuant to sections 120.569 and 120.57, Florida Statutes, you have the right to request a 

hearing to challenge the charges contained in this Administrative Complaint. If you choose to 

request a hearing, you will have the right to be represented by counsel, or other qualified 

representative, to present evidence and argument, to call and cross-examine witnesses, and to have 

subpoenas and subpoenas duces tecum issued on your behalf.  

Any request for an administrative proceeding to challenge or contest the charges contained 

in this Administrative Complaint must conform to rule 28-106.2015, Florida Administrative Code. 

Pursuant to rule 28-106.111, Florida Administrative Code, you must request a hearing within 21 

days from receipt of this Notice, or you will waive your right to request a hearing. 

Mediation under section 120.573, Florida Statutes, is not available to resolve this 

Administrative Complaint. 

NOTICE OF RIGHT TO REQUEST A SPLIT SAMPLE 

Pursuant to rule 61D-6.006, Florida Administrative Code, you have the right to request a 

split sample with respect to each “Report of Positive Result” from the UF Lab. (Copy attached as 

Exhibit A). To request a split sample, use Form DBPR PMW-3290, Notification to Stewards/Judge 

of Split Sample Request (Form 3290). 

You can obtain Form 3290, as well as a list of approved split samples laboratories, at the 

State Office located in any Florida pari-mutuel facility, or on the Division’s website: 

http://www.myfloridalicense.com/DBPR/pari-mutuel-wagering/forms-and-publications/. You 

must submit Form 3290 to the state steward, Division hearing officer, or office of the General 

Counsel, within 10 days from receipt of this Notice, or you will waive your right to request a split 

sample.  
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EXHIBIT A
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re:  FGCC v. Larry Victor Mejias Case No. 2023-046348; Default Final 

Order 
Date:   October 13, 2023 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks the suspension of Larry Victor 
Mejias’s (“Respondent”) Pari-Mutuel Wagering Professional Individual 
Occupational License. By failing to respond to the properly served administrative 
complaint, Respondent waived his right to request a hearing contesting the 
Division’s decision. Therefore, the Florida Gaming Control Commission should 
enter a final order suspending Respondent’s Pari-Mutuel Wagering Professional 
Individual Occupational License. 
 
Background 
On July 14, 2023, a default final judgment of $3,211.35 was entered against 
Respondent for unpaid financial obligations regarding veterinary services provided 
on the ground of a pari-mutuel facility in the County Court of the Seventeenth 
Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County, Florida in case number COCE23018203. 
These unpaid financial obligations related to racing conducted at a pari-mutuel 
facility in the state of Florida.  
 
The Division served Respondent with an administrative complaint seeking 
suspension of his Pari-Mutuel Wagering Professional Individual Occupational 
License until the judgment has been satisfied pursuant to section 550.105(7), Florida 
Statutes. The election of rights accompanying the administrative complaint made it 
clear that the Respondent had 21 days1 to file a written response to the administrative 
complaint. The Respondent was served on September 11, 2023 which means the 
Respondent had until October 2, 2023 to respond. He has never responded. 
 
 
 

 
1 See Fla. Admin. Code R. 28-106.111(4) (“Any person who receives written notice of an agency decision and who 
fails to file a written request for a hearing within 21 days waives the right to request a hearing on such matters.”) 
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Analysis  
Section 550.105(7), Florida Statutes, provides, that “[t]he Commission may deny, 
revoke, or suspend any occupational license if the applicant therefor or holder 
thereof accumulates unpaid obligations or defaults in obligations, or issues drafts or 
checks that are dishonored or for which payment is refused without reasonable 
cause, if such unpaid obligations, defaults, or dishonored or refused drafts or checks 
directly relate to the sport of jai alai or racing being conducted at a pari-mutuel 
facility within this state.” Respondent defaulted in Seventeenth Circuit on a case 
relating to horse racing in the state of Florida. Accordingly, Respondent license may 
be suspended or revoked.  
 
Because Respondent failed to file a timely response to the properly served 
administrative complaint, he waived his right to request a hearing.  
 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should enter a 
final order suspending Larry Victor Mejias’s Pari-Mutuel Wagering Professional 
Individual Occupational License until the Commission receives confirmation that 
payment has been satisfied.  
 
 



STATE OF FLORIDA  
FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 

FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION, 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING, 

Petitioner, 

v. 

LARRY VICTOR MEJIAS, 

Respondent. 
______________________________________/ 

FGCC Case No.: 2023-046348 

ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLAINT 

The Florida Gaming Control Commission, Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 

(“Petitioner”), files this Administrative Complaint against Larry Victor Mejias (“Respondent”), 

and alleges: 

1. Petitioner is the state agency charged with regulating pari-mutuel wagering

pursuant to chapter 550, Florida Statutes. 

2. At all times material hereto, Respondent held a Pari-Mutuel Wagering Professional

Individual Occupational License, 10171487-1021, issued by Petitioner. 

3. On or about July 14, 2023, a default judgment of $3,211.35 was entered against

Respondent for unpaid financial obligations regarding veterinary services in the County Court of 

the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County, Florida, in case number 

COCE23018203. 

4. These unpaid financial obligations relate to racing conducted at a pari-mutuel

facility in the state of Florida. 
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5. Pursuant to section 550.105(7), Florida Statutes: 

The commission may deny, revoke, or suspend any occupational 
license if the applicant therefor or holder thereof accumulates 
unpaid obligations or defaults in obligations, or issues drafts or 
checks that are dishonored or for which payment is refused without 
reasonable cause, if such unpaid obligations, defaults, or dishonored 
or refused drafts or checks directly relate to the sport of jai alai or 
racing being conducted at a pari-mutuel facility within this state. 
 

6. Based on the foregoing, Respondent violated section 550.105(7), Florida Statutes, 

by accumulating unpaid obligations or defaults in obligations that directly related to racing 

conducted at a pari-mutuel facility in the state of Florida. 

WHEREFORE, Petitioner respectfully requests the Florida Gaming Control Commission 

enter an Order imposing against Respondent one or more of the penalties the Commission is 

authorized to impose pursuant to chapter 550, Florida Statutes, and/or the rules promulgated 

thereunder. 

This Administrative Complaint for FGCC Case Number 2023-046348 is signed this 24th 

day of August 2023.

 
/s/Emily A. Alvarado 
Emily A. Alvarado 
Deputy Chief Attorney 
Florida Bar Number: 1025200 
Florida Gaming Control Commission 
Office of the General Counsel 
Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
4070 Esplanade Way 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2202 
Telephone: (850) 794-8066 
Facsimile: (850) 921-1311 
Primary: Emily.Alvarado@flgaming.gov 
Secondary: Ebonie.Lanier@flgaming.gov 
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NOTICE OF RIGHTS TO REQUEST A HEARING 

 Pursuant to sections 120.569 and 120.57, Florida Statutes, you have the right to request a 

hearing to challenge the charges contained in this Administrative Complaint. If you choose to 

request a hearing, you will have the right to be represented by counsel, or other qualified 

representative, to present evidence and argument, to call and cross-examine witnesses, and to have 

subpoenas and subpoenas duces tecum issued on your behalf. 

Any request for an administrative proceeding to challenge or contest the charges contained 

in this Administrative Complaint must conform to rule 28-106.2015, Florida Administrative Code. 

Pursuant to rule 28-106.111, Florida Administrative Code, you must request a hearing within 21 

days from receipt of this Notice, or you will waive your right to request a hearing. 

Mediation under section 120.573, Florida Statutes, is not available to resolve this 

Administrative Complaint. 

 





Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering
Office of Investigations 

1400 West Commercial Boulevard, Suite 165 
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33309 

Phone: 954.202.3900 • Fax: 954.202.3930

Louis Trombetta, Executive Director Ron DeSantis, Governor

FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION
HTTPS://FLGAMING.GOV/  

OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS

INVESTIGATIVE REPORT

Office:
PMW

Region:
SOUTHERN

Date of Complaint:
January 3, 2023

Case Number:
2023 04 6348

Respondent:

MEJIAS, LARRY VICTOR
10431 WEST HWY. 318
REDDICK, FL. 32686
(929) 328-7776

Complainant:

DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING
OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
1400 W. COMMERCIAL BLVD., SUITE 165
FT. LAUDERDALE, FL.  33309
(954) 202-3900

License # and Type:
10171487   -   1021

Profession:
Individual Animal Owner

Report Date:
August 16, 2023

Period of Investigation:
August 16, 2023, through August 16, 2023

Type of Report:
Final

Alleged Violation: F.S.S. 550.105 Occupational licenses of racetrack employees; fees; denial, 
suspension, and revocation of license; penalties and fines. –  
(7) “The commission may deny, revoke, or suspend any occupational license if the applicant therefor or 
holder thereof accumulates unpaid obligations or defaults in obligations, or issues drafts or checks that are 
dishonored or for which payment is refused without reasonable cause, if such unpaid obligations, defaults, 
or dishonored or refused drafts or checks directly relate to the sport of jai alai or racing being conducted at a 
pari-mutuel facility within this state.”

Synopsis: On August 16, 2023, a copy of a Default Final Judgment against Larry Victor MEJIAS, dated July
14, 2023, in favor of Teigland, Franklin & Brokken, D.V.M.’S, Inc., (Case No. COCE-23-018203), was 
received via e-mail from Attorney Mark Gunderson.

Per said judgment, Teigland, Franklin & Brokken, D.V.M.’S, Inc., shall recover from MEJIAS the sum of 
$1,741.50 in principle, filing fees of $191.48, process server fees of $78.37 and attorney fees in the amount 
of $1,200.00, totaling $3,211.35, which shall bear interest at the rate of 7.69% per year (EXHIBIT #1).
Related Case:
Investigator   /   Date Investigator Supervisor   /  Date

Julio Minaya   / August 16, 2023
Chief of Investigations   /   Date

Bradford D. Jones   / August 17, 2023

te
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CONTINUATION 
 

A check of VERSA licensing records reflects that Larry Victor MEJIAS obtained a 3-year Florida 
PMW Occupational license as an Individual Animal Owner on March 7, 2022.  This license 
expires on June 30, 2024.  A copy of his licensing information is attached as EXHIBIT #2. 
 
In the letter from Gunderson dated August 16, 2023, he states that the original amount of 
$1,741.50, is for veterinary services provided by his client at a Florida Pari-Mutuel facility where 
MEJIAS stables his horses.  Additional fees bring the total balance owed to $3,211.35. 
Gunderson also provided copies of the Original Complaint and invoices related to his case. 
These documents are attached as EXHIBITS #1, & 3 and reflect services provided in the state 
of Florida. 
 
On August 16, 2023, an Enforcement Alert was placed on MEJIAS’ license record in VERSA to 
reflect this unsatisfied Financial Obligation.  A copy of the License Action Request Form and 
VERSA alert is attached as EXHIBIT #4. 
 
Conclusion: MEJIAS is in apparent violation of F.S.S. 550.105(7) for failing to satisfy the Final 
Judgment. 
 
Status: Case is closed by Investigations and forwarded to Legal for review. 
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re:  FGCC v. Paula S. Capestro Case No. 2023-013135; Order to Show 

Cause 
Date:   October 13, 2023 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering filed an order to show cause against Paula S. 
Capestro (“Respondent”) in case number 2023-013135 ordering Respondent to show 
in writing why the Division shall not require Respondent to return the purse amount 
of $15,600.  
 
Background 
An Administrative Complaint was filed against Renaldo Mario Richards in FGCC 
case no. 2022-046353 alleging that Mr. Richards raced a racehorse with an 
impermissible amount of clenuterol1 in its body in violation of section 
550.2415(1)(a), Florida Statutes. This racehorse was owned by Respondent. Mr. 
Richards failed to respond to the Commission’s Administrative Complaint within 21 
days. Therefore, the Commission entered a Final Order in FGCC case no. 2022-
046353 finding that the facts and conclusions of law in the Administrative Complaint 
were adopted in their entirety on December 2, 2022. On August 23, 2023, an Order 
to Show Cause was filed against Respondent asking Respondent to respond in ten 
days as to why she shall not be required to return the purse amount of $15,600.  
 
On September 27, 2023, Respondent was served with the Order to Show Cause. 
Respondent has failed to respond within ten days.  
 
Analysis 
 
Section 550.2415(3)(a), Florida Statutes, provides, in pertinent part, that “[u]pon the 
finding of a violation of this section, the commission may… require the full or partial 
return of the purse, sweepstakes, and trophy of the race at issue.” 

 
1 Clenbuterol is a Class 3 drug. See Uniform Classification Guidelines for Foreign Substances, version 8.0, revised 
December 2014, by the Association of Racing Commissioners International, Inc.  Clenbuterol has an effect on the 
overall health of a horse, specifically in areas related to the exercise performance, including the respiratory system, 
cardiovascular system, and skeletal muscle. 



2 

 
Furthermore, Rule 75-8.005(9)(a) provides that “[i]n the event that a purse or award 
payment is made and subsequently the horse is disqualified by the Steward or 
Division Director, the recipient of the sums shall return the money to the 
permitholder for redistribution.” 
 
Respondent has failed to return the purse following the December 2, 2022 final order 
finding that his racehorse was raced with an impermissible amount of the Class B 
substance clenbuterol and is therefore disqualified. 
 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should enter a 
final order requiring Paula S. Capestro to return the purse amount of $15,600 to 
Tampa Bay Downs.  





























































































MEMORANDUM 
 
To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Steve Woods.  
Re:   Ronald Pierre; Case No. 2023-038525 
Date:   October 19, 2023 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks to deny Ronald Pierre’s, 
(“Applicant”) application for a Cardroom Employee Occupational License. 
Applicant submitted a completed application for a Cardroom Employee 
Occupational License on June 23, 2023, and he applied for a waiver of his felony 
convictions. The Executive Director reviewed the file along with the waiver 
interview notes and declined to waive the felony convictions. Therefore, the 
Florida Gaming Control Commission should authorize the issuance of a Notice of 
Intent to Deny License. 
 
Pertinent Facts  
 
On June 23, 2023, Applicant submitted his completed application to the Division 
of Pari-Mutuel Wagering for a Cardroom Employee Occupational License. Upon 
review of the completed application, it appears the Applicant was convicted of 
felonies in the state of Florida: 
 

 Domestic Battery by Strangulation in 2021; 
 Battery in 2021. 

 
Relevant Law 
 
Section 550.105(5)(d), Florida Statutes, provides that:  
  

“. . . the term “convicted” means having been found guilty, with or 
without adjudication of guilt, as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, 
or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. However, the term 
“conviction” shall not be applied to a crime committed prior to the 
effective date of this subsection in a manner that would invalidate any 
occupational license issued prior to the effective date of this subsection 
or subsequent renewal for any person holding such a license.”  



 
Staff Recommendation: Because the Applicant's disqualifying criminal convictions 
were not waived, the Florida Gaming Control Commission may deny or declare 
Applicant ineligible for any license. Accordingly, the Division of Pari-Mutuel 
Wagering recommends the Florida Gaming Control Commission authorize the 
issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License in this matter.  































































































































































































































MEMORANDUM 
 
To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Steve Woods 
Re:   Nicky Figueroa-Quiles; Case No. 2023-045352 
Date:   October 19, 2023 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks to deny Nicky Figueroa-Quiles’s 
(“Applicant”) application for a Pari-Mutuel General Individual Occupational 
License. Applicant submitted a completed application for a Pari-Mutuel General 
Individual Occupational License on August 9, 2023, and he applied for a waiver of 
his felony convictions. The Executive Director reviewed the file along with the 
waiver interview notes and declined to waive the felony convictions. Therefore, the 
Florida Gaming Control Commission should authorize the issuance of a Notice of 
Intent to Deny License. 
 
Pertinent Facts  
 
On August 23, 2023, Applicant submitted his application to the Division of Pari-
Mutuel Wagering for a Pari-Mutuel General Individual Occupational License. 
Upon review of the completed application, it appears the Applicant was convicted 
of the following felonies in Florida: 
 

 Possession of Heroin in 2003; 
 Conspiracy to Possess with Intent to Distribute Crack Cocaine, Heroin, 

Cocaine, and Marijuana in 2016. 
 

Applicant applied for a waiver for the felony convictions and a waiver interview 
was subsequently conducted. On August 28, 2023, Applicant spoke with an 
investigator for the waiver interview, and a report was drafted of that interview 
which was submitted to the Executive Director of the Florida Gaming Control 
Commission for consideration. On September 28, 2023, the Executive Director 
declined to waive the felony convictions.  
 
Relevant Law 
 
Section 550.105(5)(b), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that:  



  
“. . . the commission may deny, suspend, revoke, or declare ineligible 
any occupational license if the applicant for such license has been 
convicted in this state, in any other state, or under the laws of the United 
States of a capital felony, a felony, or an offense in any other state which 
would be a felony under the laws of this state involving arson; 
trafficking in, conspiracy to traffic in, smuggling, importing, 
conspiracy to smuggle or import, or delivery, sale, or distribution of a 
controlled substance; or a crime involving a lack of good moral 
character, or has had a pari-mutuel license revoked by this state or any 
other jurisdiction for an offense related to pari-mutuel wagering.”  

  
Section 550.105(5)(d), Florida Statutes, provides that:  
  

“. . . the term “convicted” means having been found guilty, with or 
without adjudication of guilt, as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, 
or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. However, the term 
“conviction” shall not be applied to a crime committed prior to the 
effective date of this subsection in a manner that would invalidate any 
occupational license issued prior to the effective date of this subsection 
or subsequent renewal for any person holding such a license.”  

  
Section 550.105(5)(c), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that:  
  

“[i]f the applicant establishes that she or he is of good moral character, 
that she or he has been rehabilitated, and that the crime she or he was 
convicted of is not related to pari-mutuel wagering and is not a capital 
offense, the restrictions excluding offenders may be waived by the 
director of the commission.”  

 
Rule 75-5.006(1), Florida Administrative Code, requires the applicant to 
submit Form FGCC PMW-3180, Request for Waiver, and schedule a waiver 
interview with the Office of Investigations. Failure to participate in a waiver 
interview or to disclose any pertinent information regarding criminal 
convictions shall result in a denial of the request for waiver.  
  
Rule 75-5.006(2), Florida Administrative Code, provides that “[t]he applicant 
shall establish proof of rehabilitation and demonstrate good moral character.” 
 



Staff Recommendation: Because the Applicant's disqualifying criminal convictions 
were not waived, the Florida Gaming Control Commission may deny or declare 
Applicant ineligible for any license. Accordingly, the Division of Pari-Mutuel 
Wagering recommends the Florida Gaming Control Commission authorize the 
issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License in this matter.  



























































































































































































































































































MEMORANDUM 

To: The Florida Gaming Control Commission 
From: Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Steve Woods. 
Re: Jefferson Gonzalez Lozano; Case No. 2023-051224 
Date: October 19, 2023 

Executive Summary 

The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks to deny Jefferson Gonzalez Lozano’s 
(“Applicant”) application for a Slot Machine Professional Individual Occupational 
License. Applicant submitted a completed application Slot Machine General 
Individual Occupational License on September 12, 2023. Upon review of the 
application, it appears Applicant has been convicted of felony crimes in the state of 
Florida. Therefore, the Florida Gaming Control Commission should authorize the 
issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License. 

Pertinent Facts 

On September 12, 2023, Applicant submitted his application to the Division of Pari-
Mutuel Wagering for a Slot Machine Professional Individual Occupational License. 
Upon review of the completed application, it appears the Applicant was convicted 
of the following crimes in the state of Florida: 

Vehicular Homicide in 1999
Leaving the Scene of an Accident with a Death in 1999

Relevant Law 

Section 551.107(6)(a), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that: 

“. . .the commission may deny, suspend, revoke, or refuse to renew any 
slot machine occupational license if the applicant for such license or the 
licensee has been convicted in this state, in any other state, or under the 
laws of the United States of a capital felony, a felony, or an offense in 
any other state that would be a felony under the laws of this state 
involving arson; trafficking in, conspiracy to traffic in, smuggling, 
importing, conspiracy to smuggle or import, or delivery, sale, or 
distribution of a controlled substance; racketeering; or a crime 



involving a lack of good moral character, or has had a gaming license 
revoked by this state or any other jurisdiction for any gaming-related 
offense.”  

Staff Recommendation: Because the Applicant's disqualifying criminal conviction 
could not be waived, the Florida Gaming Control Commission may deny or declare 
Applicant ineligible for any license. Accordingly, the Division of Pari-Mutuel 
Wagering recommends the Florida Gaming Control Commission authorize the 
issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License in this matter. 





















































































































MEMORANDUM 
 
To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Steve Woods 
Re:   Alberto Lazo; Case No. 2023-052159 
Date:   October 19, 2023 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks to deny Alberto Lazo’s (“Applicant”) 
application for a Slot Machine/Cardroom/Pari-Mutuel Combination General 
Individual License. Applicant submitted a completed application for a Slot 
Machine/Cardroom/Pari-Mutuel Combination General Individual License on 
September 14, 2023. Upon review of the application, it appears Applicant has been 
convicted of a felony.  Therefore, the Florida Gaming Control Commission should 
authorize the issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License. 
 
Pertinent Facts 
 
On September 14, 2023, Applicant submitted his application to the Division of 
Pari-Mutuel Wagering for a Slot Machine/Cardroom/Pari-Mutuel Combination 
General Individual License. Upon review of the completed application, it appears 
that the Applicant was convicted of felonies in the state of Florida. Specifically, the 
Applicant was convicted of the following: 
 

 Aggravated Stalking in 2015; 
 Written Threats to Kill or do Bodily Injury in 2015. 

 
Applicant did not apply for a waiver for his felony conviction, however, under 
section 551.107(6)(a), Florida Statutes, the legislature did not authorize the 
Executive Director to waive criminal convictions for slot machine licensing.   
 
Relevant Law  
 
Section 551.107(6)(a), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that:  
  

“. . .the commission may deny, suspend, revoke, or refuse to renew any 
slot machine occupational license if the applicant for such license or the 
licensee has been convicted in this state, in any other state, or under the 



laws of the United States of a capital felony, a felony, or an offense in 
any other state that would be a felony under the laws of this state 
involving arson; trafficking in, conspiracy to traffic in, smuggling, 
importing, conspiracy to smuggle or import, or delivery, sale, or 
distribution of a controlled substance; racketeering; or a crime 
involving a lack of good moral character, or has had a gaming license 
revoked by this state or any other jurisdiction for any gaming-related 
offense.”  

  
Section 849.086(6)(f), Florida Statutes, provides that the “provisions specified in s. 
550.105(4), (5), (6), (7), (8), and (10) relating to licensure shall be applicable to 
cardroom occupational licenses.”  
  
Section 849.086(6)(g), Florida Statutes, provides that:  
  

“[t]he commission may deny, declare ineligible, or revoke any 
cardroom occupational license if the applicant or holder thereof has 
been found guilty or had adjudication withheld in this state or any other 
state, or under the laws of the United States of a felony or misdemeanor 
involving forgery, larceny, extortion, conspiracy to defraud, or filing 
false reports to a government agency, racing or gaming commission or 
authority.”  

  
Section 550.105(5)(d), Florida Statutes, provides that:  
  

“. . . the term “convicted” means having been found guilty, with or 
without adjudication of guilt, as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, 
or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. However, the term 
“conviction” shall not be applied to a crime committed prior to the 
effective date of this subsection in a manner that would invalidate any 
occupational license issued prior to the effective date of this subsection 
or subsequent renewal for any person holding such a license.”  

 
Staff Recommendation: Because the Applicant's disqualifying criminal convictions 
cannot be waived, the Florida Gaming Control Commission may deny or declare 
Applicant ineligible for any license. Accordingly, the Division of Pari-Mutuel 
Wagering recommends the Florida Gaming Control Commission authorize the 
issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License in this matter.   































































MEMORANDUM 
 
To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Steve Woods 
Re:   Stephanie L. Porter; Case No. 2023-057165 
Date:   October 20, 2023 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks to deny Stephanie L. Porter’s, 
(“Applicant”) application for a Cardroom Employee Occupational License. 
Applicant submitted a completed application for a Cardroom Employee 
Occupational License on September 8, 2023. It appears the Applicant has been 
convicted of disqualifying offenses. Therefore, the Florida Gaming Control 
Commission should authorize the issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License. 
 
Pertinent Facts  
 
On September 8, 2023, Applicant submitted her completed application to the 
Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering for a Cardroom Employee Occupational 
License. Upon review of the completed application, it appears the Applicant was 
convicted of a disqualifying offense in the state of Florida: Petit Theft in Duval 
County, 1998. 
 
Relevant Law 
 
Section 550.105(5)(b), Florida Statutes, provides:  
 

“[T]he commission may deny, suspend, revoke, or declare ineligible 
any occupational license if the applicant for such license has been 
convicted of . . . a crime involving a lack of good moral character . . . 
.” 

 
Section 550.105(5)(d), Florida Statutes, provides that:  
  

“the term “convicted” means having been found guilty, with or without 
adjudication of guilt, as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, or entry 
of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. However, the term “conviction” 
shall not be applied to a crime committed prior to the effective date of 



this subsection in a manner that would invalidate any occupational 
license issued prior to the effective date of this subsection or subsequent 
renewal for any person holding such a license.”  

 
Staff Recommendation: Because the Applicant's was convicted of disqualifying 
criminal offenses the Florida Gaming Control Commission may deny or declare 
Applicant ineligible for any license. Accordingly, the Division of Pari-Mutuel 
Wagering recommends the Florida Gaming Control Commission authorize the 
issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License in this matter.  
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MEMORANDUM 
 
To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission (the “Commission”)  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Re:   Kirk M. Ziadie; Case No. 2023-057292 
Date:   November 1, 2023 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks to deny Kirk M. Ziadie’s (“Applicant”) 
application for a Pari-Mutuel Professional Individual Occupational License (the 
“Application”). On August 18, 2023, Applicant submitted a completed Application.  
However, pursuant to Orders issued by track stewards and Final Orders issued by 
the Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering, Department of Business and Professional 
Regulation (“DBPR”) between May 30, 2004, and January 11, 2016, the Applicant 
committed forty-nine violations of chapter 550, Florida Statutes, and rules governing 
the conduct of persons connected with racetracks and frontons. In addition, on 
January 11, 2016, DBPR suspended Applicant’s pari-mutuel wagering license by 
final order for a time period of six years.  Based on the foregoing, the Commission 
should authorize the issuance of a Letter of License Denial to the Applicant. 
 
Pertinent Facts  
 
On August 18, 2023, following the conclusion of the Applicant’s pari-mutuel 
wagering license suspension imposed by DBPR on January 11, 2016, in Final Order, 
file number 2016-00123, the Applicant submitted the Application to the Division of 
Pari-Mutuel Wagering.   
 
During review of the completed application, Commission staff observed that by 
Orders issued by track stewards and Final Orders issued by DBPR between May 30, 
2004, and January 11, 2016, the Applicant was found to have violated Chapter 550, 
Florida Statutes, and the rules governing the conduct of persons connected with 
racetracks and frontons, on forty-nine occasions. A list of each Order and Final 
Order, including a brief description of the violations, is attached hereto as Exhibit 1.  
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Relevant Law 
 
Section 550.105(5)(b), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that:  
  

The division may deny, suspend, revoke, or declare ineligible any 
occupational license if the applicant for or holder thereof has violated 
the provisions of this chapter or the rules of the division governing the 
conduct of persons connected with racetracks and frontons.  
  

(Emphasis added) 
 

Staff Recommendation: Based on the Applicant’s previous violations of 
Chapter 550 and the rules promulgated thereunder that govern the conduct of 
persons connected with racetracks and frontons, the Commission may deny 
the Application or declare Applicant ineligible for any license. Accordingly, 
the Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering recommends the Florida Gaming 
Control Commission authorize the issuance of a Letter of License Denial in 
this matter.  



Exhibit 1

Final Order 

Issued in Case 

Number:

Date of Final 

Order

Applicant found in 

Violation of Florida 

Section/Florida 

Administrative Code:

Violation Type
Violation 

Date

1 2004028212 5/30/2004
Section 550.2415, Rule 

61D-6.011.
Permitted substance, but over threshold. 5/2/2004

2 2005022931 4/22/2005 Rule 61D-2.012 Failure to have foal certificate 4/22/2005

3 2005030701 7/24/2005 Section 550.2415(1)(a). Prohibited substance. 5/8/2005

4 2004057550 11/17/2005
Section 550.2415(1)(a), 

Rule 61D-6.001.
Prohibited substance. 10/14/2004

5 2004060610 11/17/2005
Section 550.2415(1)(a), 

Rule 61D-6.001.
Prohibited substance. 12/3/2004

6 2005064692 12/22/2005 Rule 61D-6.008(2). Permitted substance, but over threshold. 12/2/2005

7 2006006002 1/23/2006 Rule 61D-2.012 Late Scratch/No Tattoo 1/1/2006

8 2006005999 1/23/2006 Rule 61D-2.012 Late Scratch/No Foal Certificate 1/12/2006

9 2006005191 3/2/2006 Section 550.2415(1)(a). Prohibited substance. 1/15/2006

10 2006006449 3/2/2006
Section 550.2415(1), Rule 

61D-6.008
Permitted substance, but over threshold. 1/19/2006

11 2006007718 3/2/2006 Section 550.2415(1). Permitted substance, but over threshold. 1/30/2006

12 2006022184 3/21/2006 Rule 61D-2.012 Late Scratch/No Foal Certificate 3/9/2006

13 2006019839 4/26/2006 Rule 61D-6.008(2)(b). Permitted substance, but over threshold. 3/18/2006

14 2006060434 11/19/2006 Rule 61D-6.008(2)(c). Permitted substance, but over threshold. 10/15/2006

15 2007008307 3/3/2007 Section 550.2415(1). Prohibited substance. 1/6/2007

16 2007023290 3/24/2007 Rule 61D-6.009(8) Expired Coggins test. 3/11/2007

17 2006067518 3/28/2007 Rule 61D-6.008(2)(c). Permitted substance, but over threshold. 11/26/2006

18 2007068121 1/25/2008 Rule 61D-6.008(2)(b). Permitted substance, but over threshold. 12/2/2007

19 2008004547 1/25/2008 Rule 61D-6.008(2). Permitted substance, but over threshold. 12/2/2007

20 2008005198 1/25/2008 Rule 61D-6.008(2). Permitted substance, but over threshold. 1/5/2008

21 2008037738 11/22/2008 Rule 61D-6.008(2)(c)(3). Permitted substance, but over threshold. 6/14/2008

22 2008037729 11/22/2008 Rule 61D-6.008(2)(c)(3). Permitted substance, but over threshold. 6/14/2008



Exhibit 1

Final Order 

Issued in Case 

Number:

Date of Final 

Order

Applicant found in 

Violation of Florida 

Section/Florida 

Administrative Code:

Violation Type
Violation 

Date

23 2008039364 11/22/2008 Rule 61D-13.008(2)(a)(2). Permitted substance, but over threshold. 6/27/2008

24 2008054126 11/22/2008 Rule 61D-13.008(2)(a)(2). Permitted substance, but over threshold. 9/11/2008

25 2007062696 11/23/2008 Section 550.2415(1)(a). Prohibited substance. 10/25/2007

26 2009003113 2/3/2009 Rule  61D-6.008(3)(c). Late scratch. 1/18/2009

27 2009022107 5/2/2009 Rule 61D-6.011(2)(c). Prohibited substance. 3/25/2009

28 2007025004 6/18/2009
Section 550.2415(1)(a), 

Rule 61D-6.011(2).
Prohibited substance. 3/19/2007

29 2009029506 11/12/2009 Rule 61D-6.008(2)(a)(2). Permitted substance, but over threshold. 5/14/2009

30 2008059733 11/15/2009 Section 550.2415(1)(a). Prohibited substance. 9/20/2008

31 2009048213 9/30/2010
Section 550.2415(1(a), 

Rule 61D-6.011(2).
Prohibited substance. 3/31/2009

32 2012033990 1/11/2016 Section 550.2415(1)(a) Permitted substance, but over threshold. 7/4/2012

33 2012040949 1/11/2016 Section 550.2415(1)(a) Permitted substance, but over threshold. 8/17/2012

34 2012041931 1/11/2016 Section 550.2415(1)(a) Permitted substance, but over threshold. 8/30/2012

35 2012041948 1/11/2016 Section 550.2415(1)(a) Permitted substance, but over threshold. 9/14/2012

36 2012043730 1/11/2016 Section 550.2415(1)(a) Permitted substance, but over threshold. 9/27/2012

37 2013016106 1/11/2016 Section 550.2415(1)(a) Permitted substance, but over threshold. 3/13/2013

38 2013023790 1/11/2016 Section 550.2415(1)(a) Permitted substance, but over threshold. 4/26/2013

39 2013023875 1/11/2016 Section 550.2415(1)(a) Permitted substance, but over threshold. 5/10/2013

40 2013025104 1/11/2016 Section 550.2415(1)(a) Permitted substance, but over threshold. 5/24/2013

41 2013025126 1/11/2016 Section 550.2415(1)(a) Permitted substance, but over threshold. 5/26/2013

42 2013026525 1/11/2016 Section 550.2415(1)(a) Permitted substance, but over threshold. 6/8/2013

43 2013026031 1/11/2016 Section 550.2415(1)(a) Permitted substance, but over threshold. 6/9/2013

44 2013029114 1/11/2016 Section 550.2415(1)(a) Permitted substance, but over threshold. 6/25/2013



Exhibit 1

Final Order 

Issued in Case 

Number:

Date of Final 

Order

Applicant found in 

Violation of Florida 

Section/Florida 

Administrative Code:

Violation Type
Violation 

Date

45 2013030616 1/11/2016 Section 550.2415(1)(a) Permitted substance, but over threshold. 7/1/2013

46 2013032774 1/11/2016 Section 550.2415(1)(a) Permitted substance, but over threshold. 7/19/2013

47 2013034195 1/11/2016 Section 550.2415(1)(a) Permitted substance, but over threshold. 8/3/2013

48 2013043815 1/11/2016 Section 550.2415(1)(a) Permitted substance, but over threshold. 10/12/2013

49 2013047021 1/11/2016 Section 550.2415(1)(a) Permitted substance, but over threshold. 10/27/2013











































































































































































































































































































MEMORANDUM 
 
To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through:  Steve Woods 
Re:   Crashona Rachelle Gardner; Case No. 2023-058863 
Date:   October 20, 2023 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks to deny Crashona Rachelle Gardner’s 
(“Applicant”) application for a Pari-Mutuel General Individual Occupational 
License. Applicant submitted a completed application for a Pari-Mutuel General 
Individual Occupational License on August 21, 2023. Applicant was convicted of a 
disqualifying offense and did not apply for a waiver of that conviction. Therefore, 
the Florida Gaming Control Commission should authorize the issuance of a Notice 
of Intent to Deny License. 
 
Pertinent Facts  
 
On August 21, 2023, Applicant submitted their application to the Division of Pari-
Mutuel Wagering for a Pari-Mutuel General Individual Occupational License. 
Upon review of the completed application, it appears the Applicant was convicted 
of a felony in the state of Florida: Neglect/Causing Cruel Death to a Dog in 2015. 
 
Relevant Law 
 
Section 550.105(5)(b), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that:  
  

“[T]he commission may deny, suspend, revoke, or declare ineligible 
any occupational license if the applicant for such license has been 
convicted in this state, in any other state, or under the laws of the United 
States of a capital felony, a felony, or an offense in any other state which 
would be a felony under the laws of this state involving arson; 
trafficking in, conspiracy to traffic in, smuggling, importing, 
conspiracy to smuggle or import, or delivery, sale, or distribution of a 
controlled substance; or a crime involving a lack of good moral 
character, or has had a pari-mutuel license revoked by this state or any 
other jurisdiction for an offense related to pari-mutuel wagering.”  

  



Section 550.105(5)(d), Florida Statutes, provides that:  
  

“[T]he term “convicted” means having been found guilty, with or 
without adjudication of guilt, as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, 
or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. However, the term 
“conviction” shall not be applied to a crime committed prior to the 
effective date of this subsection in a manner that would invalidate any 
occupational license issued prior to the effective date of this subsection 
or subsequent renewal for any person holding such a license.”  

  
Section 550.105(5)(c), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that:  
  

“[I]f the applicant establishes that she or he is of good moral character, 
that she or he has been rehabilitated, and that the crime she or he was 
convicted of is not related to pari-mutuel wagering and is not a capital 
offense, the restrictions excluding offenders may be waived by the 
director of the commission.”  

  
Staff Recommendation: Because the Applicant was convicted of a disqualifying 
crime, the Florida Gaming Control Commission may deny or declare Applicant 
ineligible for any license. Accordingly, the Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
recommends the Florida Gaming Control Commission authorize the issuance of a 
Notice of Intent to Deny License in this matter.  
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Law Enforcement Authority POLICY NUMBER 

02.01.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

Section 16.711, Florida Statutes (F.S.) 

Section 509.143, F.S. 

Section 509.162, F.S. 

Section 790.02, F.S. 

Section 810.097, F.S. 

Section 812.015, F.S. 

Section 901.15, F.S. 

Section 901.18, F.S. 

GA Code 35-1-15 (2022) 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
 

I. STATMENT OF POLICY 
 
It is the policy of the Division of Gaming Enforcement to limit its members to only exercise 
the authority granted to them by law. 
 
While this division recognizes the power of peace officers to make arrests and take other 
enforcement action, special agents are encouraged to use sound discretion in the 
enforcement of the law. This division does not tolerate abuse of law enforcement authority. 
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II. PURPOSE 

 
The purpose of this policy is to affirm the authority of the members of the Division of 
Gaming Enforcement to perform their functions based on established legal authority.  
 

III. PEACE OFFICER POWERS 
 
Certified special agents of this division are authorized to detect, apprehend, and arrest for 
any alleged violation of chapter 24, part II of chapter 285, chapter 546, chapter 550, 
chapter 551, or chapter 849, or any rule adopted pursuant thereto, or any law of this state, 
and to exercise peace officer powers, pursuant to applicable state law sections 16.711, 
901.15, Florida Statutes. 
 

(1) Arrest Authority Within the Jurisdiction of the Division of Gaming Enforcement 
 

The arrest authority within the jurisdiction of the Division of Gaming Enforcement 
pursuant to sections 16.711; 901.15, F.S. includes: 

 
A. Arrests made pursuant to an arrest warrant. 

 
B. Arrests made without an arrest warrant pursuant to section 901.15, F.S., including 

but not limited to: 
 

1. A person committed a felony or a misdemeanor or violated a municipal or 
county ordinance in the presence of the special agent. The special agent 
shall make the arrest immediately or in fresh pursuit. 

 
2. A felony has been committed and the special agent reasonably believes 

that the person committed it. 
 

3. An arrest warrant has been issued and is held by another special agent for 
execution. 

 
4. A Chapter 316 violation has been committed in the presence of the special 

agent, and the special agent makes the arrest is made immediately or in 
fresh pursuit. 

 
5. There is probable cause to believe the person has committed a criminal act 

according to section 901.15(6), (9), F.S., including but not limited to 
carrying a concealed weapon, section 790.02, F.S.; any battery upon 
another person, section 784.03, F.S.; violation of an injunction for 
protection against domestic violence, section 741.31, F.S.; violation of an 
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injunction for protection against exploitation of a vulnerable adult, section 
825.1036, F.S.; domestic violence, section 741.28, F.S.; child abuse, 
section 827.03, F.S.; an act of criminal mischief or a graffiti-related offense, 
section 806.13, F.S.; a violation of a safety zone, security zone, regulated 
navigation area, or naval vessel protection zone, section 327.461, F.S.; a 
racing, street takeover, or stunt driving violation, section 316.191(2), F.S.; 
and an exposure of sexual organs, section 800.03, F.S. 

 
6. The special agent has determined that there is probable cause to believe 

that a misdemeanor has been committed, based upon a signed affidavit 
provided to the officer by a law enforcement officer of the United States 
Government, a United States military law enforcement officer, or the United 
States Department of Defense Regulations, when the misdemeanor was 
committed in the presence of the United States law enforcement officer or 
the United States military law enforcement officer on federal military 
property over which the state has maintained exclusive jurisdiction for such 
a misdemeanor. 

 
7. The special agent reasonably believes that a felony involving violence has 

been or is being committed and that the person to be arrested has 
committed or is committing the felony. 

 
8. While engaged in the exercise of his or her Division law enforcement 

duties, the special agent reasonably believes that a felony has been or is 
being committed. 

 
9. There is probable cause to believe that the person has committed assault 

upon a law enforcement officer, a firefighter, an emergency medical care 
provider, public transit employees or agents, or other specified officers as 
set forth in section 784.07, F.S., or has committed assault or battery upon 
any employee of a receiving facility as defined in section 394.455, F.S., 
who is engaged in the lawful performance of his or her duties. 

 
C. Arrests made without a warrant when there is probable cause to believe the person 

has committed any other qualifying offense for which warrantless arrest is 
authorized, including but not limited to: disorderly conduct on premises of an 
establishment section 509.143, F.S.; theft of personal property in a public 
establishment section 509.162, F.S.; trespass upon school grounds section 
810.097, F.S.;  and retail or farm theft section 812.015, F.S. 

 
(2) Granting Authority to Others 

 
A special agent making a lawful arrest may command the aid of persons he/she deems 
necessary to make an arrest. A person commanded to aid shall render assistance as 
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directed by the special agent and have the same authority to arrest as the special agent 
sections 901.18, F.S.;  and 30.15, F.S. 
 

IV. INTERSTATE PEACE OFFICER POWERS 
 
Peace officer powers may be extended to other states: 
 

A. As applicable under interstate compacts, memorandums of understanding, or 
mutual aid agreements in compliance with the laws of each state. 
 

B. Into Georgia in fresh pursuit of a person believed to have committed a felony that 
is also a felony under Georgia law (O.C.G.A. § 35-1-15). The special agent shall, 
without unnecessary delay, take the person arrested before a judicial officer of 
that state. 

 
V. CONSTITUTIONAL REQUIREMENTS 

 
All members shall observe and comply with every person’s clearly established rights 
under the United States and Florida constitutions. 
 
Special Agents will at all times respect and afford an arrestee the rights and privileges 
provided to him/her by this policy manual, the laws of the state of Florida, and the 
Constitution of the United States. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Code or Canon of Ethics POLICY NUMBER 

02.02.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

CFA 5.19 – 7.01M 

CFA 5.20 – 7.01M 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
 

I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 
 
The law enforcement code or canon of ethics shall be administered to all peace officer 
trainees during the Florida Basic Recruit Training course and to all other special agents 
at the time of appointment. 
 
The civilian member code or canon of ethics shall be administered to all members at the 
time of appointment or hire 
 

II. PURPOSE 
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The purpose of this policy is to ensure that all members are aware of their individual 
responsibilities to maintain their integrity and that of the Division of Gaming Enforcement 
at all times. 
 

III. LAW ENFORCEMENT CODE OF CANON OF ETHICS 
 
As a civilian member, my fundamental duty is to serve the community and to respect the 
constitutional rights of all to liberty, equality, and justice. 
 
I will keep my private life unsullied as an example to all and will behave in a manner that 
does not bring discredit to me or to my agency. I will be honest in thought and deed both 
in my personal and official life. I will be exemplary in obeying the law and the regulations 
of my department. Whatever I see or hear of a confidential nature or that is confided to 
me in my official capacity will be kept ever secret unless revelation is necessary in the 
performance of my duty. 
 
I will never act officiously or permit personal feelings, prejudices, political beliefs, 
aspirations, animosities, or friendships to influence my decisions. 
 
I recognize that my position is a symbol of public faith, and I accept it as a public trust to 
be held so long as I am true to the ethics of service. I will never engage in acts of corruption 
or bribery, nor will I condone such acts by other employees. I will cooperate with all legally 
authorized agencies and their representatives in the pursuit of justice. I know that I alone 
am responsible for my own standard of professional performance and will take every 
reasonable opportunity to enhance and improve my level of knowledge and competence. 
I will constantly strive to achieve these objectives and ideals, dedicating myself to my 
chosen profession … public service. 
 

IV. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
 
The Division requires all members, sworn and nonsworn, to abide by the code or canon 
of ethics. All members must acknowledge the code of canon of ethics adopted by the 
Division. CFA 5.19 – 7.01M and CFA 5.20 – 7.01M. 
 

V. TRAINING 
 

The Division will provide all employees with ethics training on an annual basis.  
 
 
 
 

________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Use of Force POLICY NUMBER 

02.04.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

CFA 5.19 – 4.01M (B) and CFA 5.20 - 4.01M (B) 

CFA 5.19 - 4.02M and CFA 5.20 - 4.02M 

CFA 5.19 – 4.07M and CFA 5.20 – 4.07M 

CFA 5.19 – 4.08M and CFA 5.20 – 4.08M 

CFA 5.19 - 4.09M (A), (B) and (C), 5.20 - 4.09M 
(A), (B) and (C) 

CFA 5.20 – 4.11M (A), (B), and (C)  

Section 943.1735, Florida Statutes (F.S.)  

Section 776.05, F.S., and 776.051, F.S. 

Section 943.6872, F.S. 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
 

I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 
 
The use of force by law enforcement personnel is a matter of critical concern, both to the 
public and to the law enforcement community. Special Agents are involved on a daily 
basis in numerous and varied interactions and, when warranted, may use reasonable 
force in carrying out their duties. 
 



02.04.01 2 of 11 Lexipol #300 
 

Special Agents must have an understanding of, and true appreciation for, their authority 
and limitations. This is especially true with respect to overcoming resistance while 
engaged in the performance of law enforcement duties. 
 
The Division of Gaming Enforcement recognizes and respects the value of all human life 
and dignity without prejudice to anyone. Vesting special agents with the authority to use 
reasonable force and to protect the public welfare requires monitoring, evaluation, and a 
careful balancing of all interests. 
 
1. Duty to Intercede and Report 

 
A. Any special agent present and observing another law enforcement officer or a 

member using force that is clearly beyond that which is objectively 
reasonable under the circumstances shall, when in a position to do so, 
intercede to prevent the use of unreasonable force Section 943.1735, F.S. 
 

B. Any special agent who observes another law enforcement officer or a 
member use force that is potentially beyond that which is objectively 
reasonable under the circumstances should report these observations to a 
supervisor as soon as feasible. 
 

2. Perspective 
 

A. When observing or reporting force used by a law enforcement officer, each 
special agent should take into account the totality of the circumstances and 
the possibility that other law enforcement officers may have additional 
information regarding the threat posed by the subject. 

II. PURPOSE 
 
This policy provides guidelines on the reasonable use of force. While there is no way to 
specify the exact amount or type of reasonable force to be applied in any situation, every 
member of this division is expected to use these guidelines to make such decisions in a 
professional, impartial, and reasonable manner Section 943.1735, F.S. 
 
In addition to those methods, techniques, and tools set forth below, the guidelines for the 
reasonable application of force contained in this policy shall apply to all policies 
addressing the potential use of force, including but not limited to the Control Devices and 
Conducted Energy Device policies. 
 

III. DEFINITIONS 
 
A. Deadly Force - Force reasonably anticipated and intended to create a substantial 

likelihood of causing death or very serious injury. 
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B. De-escalation techniques - Taking action or communicating verbally or nonverbally 
during a potential force encounter in an attempt to stabilize the situation and reduce 
the immediacy of the threat so that more time, options, and resources can be called 
upon to resolve the situation without the use of force or with a reduction in the force 
necessary. 

 
Adopted budgets shall be reviewed and monitored periodically by the Chief of Law 
Enforcement to ensure expenditures do not exceed allocated funds. 
 
C. Feasible - Reasonably capable of being done or carried out under the circumstances 

to successfully achieve the arrest or lawful objective without increasing risk to the 
special agent or another person. 

 
D. Force - The application of physical techniques or tactics, chemical agents, or weapons 

to another person. It is not a use of force when a person allows themself to be 
searched, escorted, handcuffed, or restrained. 

 
E. Imminent - Ready to take place; impending. Note that imminent does not mean 

immediate or instantaneous. 
 
F. Totality of the Circumstances - All facts and circumstances known to the special 

agent at the time, taken as a whole, including the conduct of the special agent and the 
subject leading up to the use of force. 
 

IV. USE OF FORCE 

Special Agents shall use only that amount of force that reasonably appears necessary 
given the facts and circumstances perceived by the special agent at the time of the 
event to accomplish a legitimate law enforcement purpose Section 943.1735, F.S. 
 
The reasonableness of force will be judged from the perspective of a reasonable special 
agent on the scene at the time of the incident. Any evaluation of reasonableness must 
allow for the fact that special agents are often forced to make split-second decisions 
about the amount of force that reasonably appears necessary in a particular situation, 
with limited information and in circumstances that are tense, uncertain and rapidly 
evolving. 
 
Given that no policy can realistically predict every possible situation a special agent 
might encounter, special agents are entrusted to use well-reasoned discretion in 
determining the appropriate use of force in each incident. 
 
It is also recognized that circumstances may arise in which special agents reasonably 
believe that it would be impractical or ineffective to use any of the tools, weapons or 
methods provided by this division. Special Agents may find it more effective or 
reasonable to improvise their response to rapidly unfolding conditions that they are 
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confronting. In such circumstances, the use of an improvised device or method must 
nonetheless be reasonable and utilized only to the degree that reasonably appears 
necessary to accomplish a legitimate law enforcement purpose. 
 
While the ultimate objective of every law enforcement encounter is to avoid or minimize 
injury, nothing in this policy requires a special agent to retreat or be exposed to possible 
physical injury before applying reasonable force. 
 
1. Alternative Tactics -De-Escalation 

 
When circumstances reasonably permit, special agents shall use non-violent 
strategies and de-escalation techniques to decrease the intensity of a situation, 
improve decision-making, improve communication, reduce the need for force, and 
increase voluntary compliance (e.g., summoning additional resources, formulating a 
plan, attempting verbal persuasion) Section 943.1735, F.S. 
 

2. Use of Force to Effect an Arrest 
 
A special agent is justified in the use of force which he/she reasonably believes 
necessary to defend him/herself or another from bodily harm while making a lawful 
arrest and is not required to retreat or desist because of resistance or threatened 
resistance to the arrest Section 776.05, F.S., and  776.051, F.S. 
 

3. Factors Used to Determine the Reasonableness of Force 
 
When determining whether to apply force and evaluating whether a special agent 
has used reasonable force, a number of factors should be taken into consideration, 
as time and circumstances permit. These factors include but are not limited to: 
 

A. Immediacy and severity of the threat to special agents or others. 
 

B. The conduct of the individual being confronted, as reasonably perceived by 
the special agent at the time. 

 
C. Special Agent/subject factors (e.g., age, size, relative strength, skill level, 

injuries sustained, level of exhaustion or fatigue, the number of special 
agents available vs. subjects). 

 
D. The effects of suspected drug or alcohol use. 

 
E. The individual’s mental state or capacity 

 
F. The individual’s ability to understand and comply with special agent 

commands. 
 

G. Proximity of weapons or dangerous improvised devices. 
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H. The degree to which the individual has been effectively restrained and his/her 

ability to resist despite being restrained. 
 

I. The availability of other reasonable and feasible options and their possible 
effectiveness. 

 
J. Seriousness of the suspected offense or reason for contact with the 

individual. 
 

K. Training and experience of the special agent. 
 

L. Potential for injury to special agents, suspects, and others. 
M. Whether the individual appears to be resisting, attempting to evade arrest by 

flight, or is attacking the special agent. 
 

N. The risk and reasonably foreseeable consequences of escape. 
 

O. The apparent need for immediate control of the individual or a prompt 
resolution of the situation. 

 
P. Whether the conduct of the individual being confronted no longer reasonably 

appears to pose an imminent threat to the special agent or others. 
 

Q. Prior contacts with the individual or awareness of any propensity for violence. 
 

R. Any other exigent circumstances. 
 

4. Pain Compliance Techniques 
 
Pain compliance techniques may be effective in controlling a physically or actively 
resisting individual. Special Agents may only apply those pain compliance 
techniques for which they have successfully completed division-approved training. 
Special Agents utilizing any pain compliance technique should consider: 
 

A. The degree to which the application of the technique may be controlled given 
the level of resistance. 

 
B. Whether the individual can comply with the direction or orders of the special 

agent. 
 

C. Whether the individual has been given sufficient opportunity to comply. 
 

The application of any pain compliance technique shall be discontinued once the 
special agent determines that compliance has been achieved. 
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5. Vascular Neck Restraints 
 
A vascular neck restraint is a technique designed to control an individual by 
temporarily restricting blood flow to the brain through the application of pressure to 
the side of the neck and, unlike a chokehold, does not restrict the airway. The proper 
application of the vascular neck restraint may be effective in restraining a violent or 
combative individual. However, due to the potential for injury, the use of the vascular 
neck restraint is prohibited except in those circumstances where deadly force is 
authorized as defined by the Division and is subject to the following: 
 

A. At all times during the application of the vascular neck restraint, the response 
of the individual should be monitored. The vascular neck restraint should be 
discontinued when circumstances indicate that the application no longer 
reasonably appears necessary. 
 

B. Any individual who has had the vascular neck restraint applied, regardless of 
whether the individual was rendered unconscious, shall be promptly 
examined by paramedics or other qualified medical personnel and should be 
monitored until such examination occurs. 

 
C. The special agent shall inform any person receiving custody, or any person 

placed in a position of providing care, that the individual has been subjected 
to the vascular neck restraint and whether the individual lost consciousness 
as a result. 

 
D. Any special agent attempting or applying the vascular neck restraint shall 

promptly notify a supervisor of the use or attempted use of such hold. 
 

E. The use or attempted use of the vascular neck restraint shall be thoroughly 
documented by the special agent in any related reports. 
 

6. Respiratory Restraints 
 

The use of a respiratory restraint, also known as a chokehold, is limited to 
circumstances where a special agent perceives an immediate threat of serious bodily 
injury or death to self or another person and if applied, is subject to the same 
guidelines and requirements as a vascular neck restraint Section 943.1735, F.S. 

 
7. Use of Force to Seize Evidence 

 
In general, special agents may use reasonable force to lawfully seize evidence and 
to prevent the destruction of evidence. However, special agents are discouraged 
from using force solely to prevent a person from swallowing evidence or contraband. 
In the instance when force is used, special agents shall not intentionally use any 
technique that restricts blood flow to the head, restricts respiration, or that creates a 
reasonable likelihood that blood flow to the head or respiration would be restricted. 



02.04.01 7 of 11 Lexipol #300 
 

Special Agents are encouraged to use techniques and methods taught by the 
Division of Gaming Enforcement for this specific purpose. 

 
V.  DEADLY FORCE APPLICATIONS  
 

When reasonable, the special agent shall, prior to the use of deadly force, make efforts 
to identify him/herself as a peace officer and to warn that deadly force may be used, 
unless the special agent has objectively reasonable grounds to believe the person is 
aware of those facts. 
 
Use of deadly force is justified in the following circumstances involving imminent threat 
or imminent risk: 
 

A. A special agent may use deadly force to protect him/herself or others from what 
he/ she reasonably believes is an imminent threat of death or serious bodily 
injury. 
 

B. A special agent may use deadly force to stop a fleeing subject when the special 
agent has probable cause to believe that the individual has committed, or intends 
to commit, a felony involving the infliction or threatened infliction of serious bodily 
injury or death, and the special agent reasonably believes that there is an 
imminent risk of serious bodily injury or death to any other person if the individual 
is not immediately apprehended. Under such circumstances, a verbal warning 
should precede the use of deadly force, where feasible. 

 
Imminent does not mean immediate or instantaneous. An imminent danger may exist 
even if the suspect is not at that very moment pointing a weapon at someone. For 
example, an imminent danger may exist if a special agent reasonably believes that the 
individual has a weapon or is attempting to access one and intends to use it against the 
special agent or another person. An imminent danger may also exist if the individual is 
capable of causing serious bodily injury or death without a weapon, and the special 
agent believes the individual intends to do so. 

 
1. Moving Vehicles 

 
Shots fired at or from a moving vehicle involve additional considerations and risks, and 
are rarely effective. 
 
When feasible, special agents should take reasonable steps to move out of the path of 
an approaching vehicle instead of discharging their firearm at the vehicle or any of its 
occupants. 
 
A special agent should only discharge a firearm at a moving vehicle or its occupants 
when the special agent reasonably believes there are no other reasonable means 
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available to avert the imminent threat of the vehicle, or if deadly force other than the 
vehicle is directed at the special agent or others. 
 
Special Agents should not shoot at any part of a vehicle in an attempt to disable the 
vehicle. 

 
VI. REPORTING THE USE OF FORCE 
 

Any use of force by a member of this division shall be documented promptly, completely, 
and accurately in an appropriate report, depending on the nature of the incident. The 
member shall articulate the factors perceived and why they believed the use of force 
was reasonable under the circumstances. This requirement applies to sworn and non-
sworn members and includes both accidental and deliberate acts that occur while 
performing work-related duties. 

 
To collect data for purposes of training, resource allocation, analysis, and related 
purposes, the Division may require the completion of additional report forms, as 
specified in division policy, procedure, or law. See the Report Preparation Policy for 
additional circumstances that may require documentation. 

 
 

1. Notifications to Supervisors 
 
Supervisory notification shall be made as soon as practicable following the 
application of force in any of the following circumstances: 
 

A. The application caused a visible injury. 
 

B. The application would lead a reasonable special agent to conclude that the 
individual may have experienced more than momentary discomfort. 

 
C. The individual subjected to the force complained of injury or continuing pain. 

 
D. The individual indicates intent to pursue litigation. 

 
E. Any application of a control device. 

 
F. Any application of a restraint device other than handcuffs, shackles, or belly 

chains. 
 

G. The individual subjected to the force was rendered unconscious. 
 

H. An individual was struck or kicked. 
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I. An individual alleges unreasonable force was used or that any of the above 
has occurred. 
 

2. Data Reporting 
 

Data relating to use of force incidents that result in serious bodily injury, death, or 
discharge of a firearm at a person is to be reported quarterly to the FDLE, including all 
information collected by the FBI's National Use of Force Data Collection. The Chief of 
Law Enforcement should ensure the Records Section has all appropriate data on a 
timely basis for reporting requirements Section 943.6872, F. S. See the Records Section 
Policy for additional guidelines. 
 

VII. MEDICAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Once it is reasonably safe to do so, medical assistance shall be obtained for any person 
who exhibits signs of physical distress, has sustained visible injury, expresses a 
complaint of injury or continuing pain, or was rendered unconscious section 943.1735, 
F.S. Any individual exhibiting signs of physical distress after an encounter should be 
continuously monitored until the individual can be medically assessed. Individuals should 
not be placed on their stomachs for an extended period, as this could impair their ability 
to breathe. 
 
Based upon the special agent's initial assessment of the nature and extent of the 
individual's injuries, medical assistance may consist of an examination by an emergency 
medical services provider or medical personnel at a hospital or jail. If any such individual 
refuses medical attention, such a refusal shall be fully documented in related reports 
and, whenever practicable, should be witnessed by another special agent and/or 
medical personnel. If a recording is made of the contact or an interview with the 
individual, any refusal should be included in the recording, if possible. 
 
The on-scene supervisor or, if the on-scene supervisor is not available, the primary 
handling special agent shall ensure that any person providing medical care or receiving 
custody of a person following any use of force is informed that the person was subjected 
to force. This notification shall include a description of the force used and any other 
circumstances the special agent reasonably believes would be potential safety or 
medical risks to the subject (e.g., prolonged struggle, extreme agitation, impaired 
respiration). 
 
Individuals who exhibit extreme agitation, violent irrational behavior accompanied by 
profuse sweating, extraordinary strength beyond their physical characteristics, and 
imperviousness to pain, or who require a protracted physical encounter with multiple 
special agents to be brought under control, may be at an increased risk of sudden death. 
Calls involving these persons should be considered medical emergencies. Special 
Agents who reasonably suspect a medical emergency should request medical 
assistance as soon as practicable and have medical personnel stage away. 
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See the Medical Aid and Response Policy for additional guidelines. 
 

VIII. SUPERVISOR RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

A supervisor should respond to a reported application of force resulting in visible injury, if 
reasonably available. When a supervisor is able to respond to an incident in which there 
has been a reported application of force, the supervisor is expected to: 
 

A. Obtain the basic facts from the involved special agents. Absent an allegation 
of misconduct or excessive force, this will be considered a routine contact in 
the normal course of duties. 
 

B. Ensure that any injured parties are examined and treated. 
 

C. Once any initial medical assessment has been completed or first aid has 
been rendered, try to ensure that photographs have been taken of any areas 
involving visible injury or complaint of pain, as well as overall photographs of 
uninjured areas. 
 

1. These photographs should be retained until all potential for civil 
litigation has expired. 
 

D. Identify any witnesses not already included in related reports. 
 

E. Review and approve all related reports. 
 
F. Evaluate the circumstances surrounding the incident and initiate an 

administrative investigation if there is a question of policy noncompliance or if 
for any reason further investigation may be appropriate. 
 

In the event that a supervisor is unable to respond to the scene of an incident involving 
the reported application of force, the supervisor is still expected to complete as many of 
the above items as circumstances permit. 
 
1. Special Agent Supervisor Responsibility  

 
The Special Agent Supervisor shall conduct a documented review of each use of 
force by any personnel within their command to ensure compliance with this policy 
and to address any training issues. CFA 5.19 – 4.07 (C) and CFA 5.20 – 4.07M (C). 

 
IX. TRAINING 
 

Special Agents will receive periodic training on this policy and demonstrate their 
knowledge and understanding. 
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Subject to available resources, special agents should receive periodic training on: 

 
A. Guidelines regarding vulnerable populations, including but not limited to children, 

elderly, pregnant persons, and individuals with physical, mental, or intellectual 
disabilities. 

 
B. De-escalation tactics, including alternatives to force. 

 
1.  Additional Required Training 
 

Special Agents shall receive periodic training on the recognition of the symptoms and 
characteristics of a person with substance abuse disorder or mental illness and 
appropriate responses Section 943.1735, F.S. (see the Crisis Intervention Incidents 
Policy). 
 

2. New Member Training 
 

Special Agents shall receive copies of and training on this policy and acknowledge 
receipt of this policy before they are authorized to carry any lethal weapons or control 
devices. 

 
All other members shall receive copies of and training on this policy and 
acknowledge receipt of this policy. CFA 5.19 - 4.02M and CFA 5.20 - 4.02M 

 
X. USE OF FORCE ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW AND ANALYSIS 

 
The report should not contain the names of special agents, suspects, or case numbers, 
and should include (CFA 5.19 - 4.09M (A), (B) and (C), 5.20 - 4.09M (A), (B) and (C)): 
 

A. The identification of any trends in the use of force by members. 
 

B. Training needs recommendations. 
 

C. Equipment needs recommendations. 
 

D. Policy revision recommendations. 
 
 
 

 
 

________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Handcuffing and Restraints POLICY NUMBER 

02.05.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

Section 394.463, F.S.  

Section 397.341, F.S. 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
 

I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 
 
The Division of Gaming Enforcement authorizes the use of restraint devices in 
accordance with this policy, the Use of Force Policy and division training. Restraint 
devices shall not be used to punish, to display authority or as a show of force. 
 

II. PURPOSE 
 
This policy provides guidelines for the use of handcuffs and other restraints during 
detentions and arrests.  
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III. USE OF RESTRAINTS 
 
Only members who have successfully completed Division of Gaming Enforcement-
approved training on the use of restraint devices described in this policy are authorized to 
use these devices. 
 
When deciding whether to use any restraint, special agents should carefully balance 
officer safety concerns with factors that include, but are not limited to: 
 

A. The circumstances or crime leading to the arrest. 
 

B. The demeanor and behavior of the arrested person. 
 

C. The age and health of the person. 
 

D. Whether the person is known to be pregnant. 
 

E. Whether the person has a hearing or speaking disability. In such cases, 
consideration should be given, safety permitting, to handcuffing to the front in order 
to allow the person to sign or write notes. 
 

F. Whether the person has any other apparent disability. 

1. Restraint of Detainees 

Situations may arise where it may be reasonable to restrain a person who may, after brief 
investigation, be released without arrest. Unless arrested, the use of restraints on 
detainees should continue only for as long as is reasonably necessary to ensure the safety 
of special agents and others. When deciding whether to remove restraints from a detainee, 
special agents should continuously weigh the safety interests at hand against the 
continuing intrusion upon the detainee. 

2. Restraint of Pregnant Persons 

Persons who are known to be pregnant should be restrained in the least restrictive manner 
that is effective for officer safety. Leg irons, waist chains, or handcuffs behind the body 
should not be used unless the special agent has a reasonable suspicion that the person 
may resist, attempt escape, injure herself or others, or damage property. 

No person who is in labor, delivery, or recovery after delivery shall be handcuffed or 
restrained except in extraordinary circumstances and only when a supervisor makes an 
individualized determination that such restraints are necessary for the safety of the 
arrestee, special agents, or others. 
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3. Restraint of Juveniles 

A juvenile under 14 years of age should not be restrained unless he/she is suspected of 
a dangerous felony or when the special agent has a reasonable suspicion that the juvenile 
may resist, attempt escape, injure him/herself, injure the special agent or damage 
property. 

4. Restraints During Baker or Marchman Act Transport 

When transporting an individual for an involuntary examination or for involuntary treatment 
for substance abuse, the individual should be restrained in the least restrictive manner 
available and appropriate under the circumstances Section 394.463, F.S. and 397.341, 
F.S. 

5. Notifications 

Whenever a special agent transports a person with the use of restraints other than 
handcuffs, the special agent shall inform the jail staff upon arrival at the jail that restraints 
were used. This notification should include information regarding any other circumstances 
the special agent reasonably believes would be potential safety concerns or medical risks 
to the person (e.g., prolonged struggle, extreme agitation, impaired respiration) that may 
have occurred prior to, or during, transportation to the jail. 

IV. APPLICATION OF HANDCUFFS OR PLASTIC CUFFS 

Handcuffs, including temporary nylon or plastic cuffs, may be used only to restrain a 
person’s hands to ensure officer safety. 
 
Although recommended for most arrest situations, handcuffing is discretionary and not 
an absolute requirement of the Division. Special Agents should consider handcuffing any 
person they reasonably believe warrants that degree of restraint. However, special 
agents should not conclude that in order to avoid risk every person should be 
handcuffed regardless of the circumstances. 
 
In most situations, handcuffs should be applied with the hands behind the person’s back. 
When feasible, handcuffs should be double-locked to prevent tightening, which may 
cause undue discomfort or injury to the hands or wrists. 
 
In situations where one pair of handcuffs does not appear sufficient to restrain the 
person or may cause unreasonable discomfort due to the person’s size, special agents 
should consider alternatives, such as using an additional set of handcuffs or multiple 
plastic cuffs. 
 
Handcuffs should be removed as soon as it is reasonable or after the person has been 
searched and is safely confined within a detention facility. 
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V.  REQUIRED DOCUMENTATION  
 

If a person is restrained and released without an arrest, the special agent shall 
document the details of the detention and the need for handcuffs or other restraints. 
 
If a person is arrested, the use of restraints other than handcuffs shall be documented in 
the related report. The special agent should include, as appropriate: 

 
A. The amount of time the person was restrained. 

 
B. How the person was transported and the position of the person during transport. 

 
C. Observations of the person’s behavior and any signs of physiological problems. 

 
D. Any known or suspected drug use or other medical problems. 

 
VI. TRAINING 
 

Subject to available resources, the Training Coordinator should ensure that special 
agents receive periodic training on the proper use of handcuffs and other restraints, 
including: 
 

A. Proper placement and fit of handcuffs and other restraint devices approved for 
use by the Division. 
 

B. Response to complaints of pain by restrained persons. 
 

C. Options for restraining those who may be pregnant without the use of leg irons, 
waist chains, or handcuffs behind the body. 
 

D. Options for restraining amputees or those with medical conditions or other 
physical conditions that may be aggravated by being restrained. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Control Devices POLICY NUMBER 

02.06.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

CFA 5-.19 – 4.06M (A), (B), (C), (D) and (E), 4.08M, 
10.10M (D), 10.04M (A)  

 
CFA 5.20 – 4.06M (A), (B), (C), (D) and (E), 4.08M, 

10.10M (D), 10.04M (A)  

 

 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
 

I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 
 
In order to control individuals who are violent or who demonstrate the intent to be violent, 
the Division of Gaming Enforcement authorizes special agents to use control devices in 
accordance with the guidelines in this policy and the Use of Force Policy. The Director of 
Gaming Enforcement may also authorize other assignments or individual division 
members to use specific control devices. 
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II. PURPOSE 

This policy provides guidelines for the use and maintenance of control devices that are 
described in this policy. 

III. ISSUING, CARRYING, AND USING CONTROL DEVICES 

Control devices described in this policy may be carried and used by members of this 
division only if the device has been issued by the Division or approved by the Director of 
Gaming Enforcement or the authorized designee. 

Only those members who have successfully completed division-approved training in the 
use of any control device are authorized to carry and use the device. 

Control devices may be used when a decision has been made to control, restrain or arrest 
a person who is violent or who demonstrates the intent to be violent and the use of the 
device appears reasonable under the circumstances. When reasonable, a verbal warning 
and opportunity to comply should precede the use of these devices. 

1. Off-Duty Use 

Members may not use division-issued control devices off-duty. CFA 5.19 – 4.06M (B) and 
CFA 5.20 – 4.06M (B) 

IV. RESPONSIBILITIES 

1. Special Agent Supervisor Responsibilities  

The Special Agent Supervisor may authorize the use of a control device by selected 
division members who may not currently be issued or carrying the control device or those 
in specialized assignments who have successfully completed the required training. 

2. Rangemaster Responsibilities  

The Chief of Law Enforcement shall control the inventory and issuance of all control 
devices and shall ensure that all damaged, inoperative, outdated or expended control 
devices or munitions are properly disposed of, repaired or replaced. 

Every control device will be periodically inspected, no less than annually, by the Chief of 
Law Enforcement or designee for a particular control device. The inspection shall be 
documented. CFA 5-.19 – 4.06M (E) and CFA 5.20 – 4.06M (E) 

3. Approved Control Devices 

The Chief of Law Enforcement or designee shall establish procedures for maintaining a 
list of division-approved control devices. 

The Chief of Law Enforcement or designee shall be responsible for ensuring an 
appropriate review process occurs before control devices are approved for use. 
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The following control devices are approved for on-duty use only (CFA 5-.19 – 4.06M (D) 
and CFA 5.20 – 4.06M (D)): 

Type Make/Model 
OC Spray  

 

4. User Responsibilities 

All normal maintenance, charging or cleaning shall remain the responsibility of personnel 
using the various devices. 
 
Any damaged, inoperative, outdated or expended control devices or munitions, along 
with documentation explaining the cause of the damage, shall be returned to the Chief of 
Law Enforcement for disposition. Documentation shall also be forwarded through the 
chain of command, when appropriate, explaining the cause of damage. 
 

V.  OLEORESIN CAPSICUM (OC) GUIDELINES  
 

As with other control devices, OC spray may be considered for use to bring under 
control an individual or group of individuals who are engaging in, or are about to engage 
in, violent behavior. OC spray should not, however, be used against individuals or 
groups who merely fail to disperse or do not reasonably appear to present a risk to the 
safety of division members or the public. CFA 5-.19 – 4.06M (A) and CFA 5.20 – 4.06M 
(A) 
 
1. OC Spray 
 
Uniformed members carrying OC spray shall carry the device in its holster on the 
equipment belt. Plainclothes and non-field members may carry OC spray as authorized, 
in accordance with the needs of their assignments or at the direction of their supervisors. 
CFA 5-.19 – 4.06M (A) and CFA 5.20 – 4.06M (A) 
 
2. Treatment for OC Exposure 
 
Persons who have been sprayed with or otherwise affected by the use of OC should be 
promptly provided with clean water to cleanse the affected areas. Those who complain 
of further severe effects shall be examined by appropriate medical personnel. CFA 5-.19 
– 4.08M  and CFA 5.20 – 4.08M  

 
VI. POST-APPLICATION NOTICE 
 

Whenever OC has been introduced into a residence, building interior, vehicle or other 
enclosed area, the owners or available occupants should be provided with notice of the 
possible presence of residue which could result in irritation or injury if the area is not 
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properly cleaned. Such notice should include advisement that cleanup will be at the 
owner's expense. Information regarding how and when the notice was delivered and the 
individuals notified should be included in related reports 
 

VII. TRAINING FOR CONTROL DEVICES 
 
The Training Coordinator shall ensure that those members who are authorized to carry a 
control device have been properly trained and certified to carry the specific control 
device and are retrained or recertified as necessary. CFA 5.19 – 4.06M (C), 10.10M (D), 
10.04M (A) and CFA 5.20 – 4.06M (C), 10.10M (D), 10.04M (A). 
 

A. Proficiency training shall be monitored and documented by a certified, control-
device weapons or tactics instructor. 
 

B. All training and proficiency for control devices will be documented in the 
member’s training file. 
 

C. Members who fail to demonstrate proficiency with the control device or 
knowledge of the Use of Force Policy will be provided remedial training. If a 
member cannot demonstrate proficiency with a control device or knowledge of 
the Use of Force Policy after remedial training, the member will be restricted from 
carrying the control device and may be subject to discipline. 
 

D. Retraining or recertification, which shall include legal updates, shall occur at least 
biennially. 
 

E. No member shall be issued a control device until he/she has acknowledged 
receipt of the Use of Force Policy and has received training on the Use of Force 
Policy and the control device. 
 

VIII. REPORTING USE OF CONTROL DEVICES 
 
Any application of a control device shall be documented in the related incident report 
and reported pursuant to the Use of Force Policy. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Officer-Involved Shootings and 
Deaths 

POLICY NUMBER 

02.07.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

CFA 5.19 - 2.07M, 4.08M, 15.15M (C), 5.21M, 
15.15M (A) 

 
CFA 5.20 - 2.07M, 4.08M, 15.15M (C), 5.21M, 

15.15M (A) 
 

Section 112.532(1)(d), (g) and (i), F.S. 
 

Section 943.1718, F.S. 
 

Section 943.1740, F.S. 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
 

I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 
 
The policy of the Division of Gaming Enforcement is to ensure that officer-involved 
shootings and deaths are investigated in a thorough, fair and impartial manner. 
 

II. PURPOSE 
 
The purpose of this policy is to establish policy and procedures for the investigation of an 
incident in which a person is injured or dies as the result of an officer-involved shooting 
or dies as a result of other action of a special agent Section 943.1740, F.S. 
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In other incidents not covered by this policy, the Director of Gaming Enforcement may 
decide that the investigation will follow the process provided in this policy. 
 

III. TYPES OF INVESTIGATIONS 

Officer-involved shootings and deaths involve several separate investigations. The 
investigations may include: 

A. A criminal investigation of the suspect’s actions. 
 

B. A criminal investigation of the involved officer’s actions. 
 

C. An administrative investigation as to policy compliance by involved special agents. 
 

D. A civil investigation to determine potential liability. 

1. Independent Review 

An independent review of a use of force incident should be conducted by one of the 
following Section 943.1740, F.S.: 
 

A. Another law enforcement agency. 
 

B. A special agent employed by another law enforcement agency. 
 

C. The state attorney of the judicial circuit in which the use of force occurred. 

The Director of Gaming Enforcement or authorized designee should establish a process 
for initiating the review, including making necessary notifications to the appropriate 
reviewer. 

The review should include an independent report upon the completion of the review, which 
shall be submitted to the Director of Gaming Enforcement. The Director of Gaming 
Enforcement should ensure that the report is also submitted to the state attorney of the 
judicial circuit in which the use of force occurred.  Section 943.1740, F.S. 

IV. CONTROL OF INVESTIGATIONS 
 
Investigators from surrounding agencies may be assigned to work on the criminal 
investigation of officer-involved shootings and deaths. This may include at least one 
investigator from the agency that employs the involved officer. 
 
Jurisdiction is determined by the location of the shooting or death and the agency 
employing the involved officer. The following scenarios outline the jurisdictional 
responsibilities for investigating officer-involved shootings and deaths.  

1. Criminal Investigation of Suspect Actions 
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The investigation of any possible criminal conduct by the suspect is controlled by the 
agency in whose jurisdiction the suspect's crime occurred. For example, the Division of 
Gaming Enforcement may control the investigation if the suspect's crime occurred in the 
presence of a Florida Gaming Control special agent. 

If multiple crimes have been committed in multiple jurisdictions, identification of the agency 
that will control the investigation may be reached in the same way as with any other crime. 
The investigation may be conducted by the agency in control of the criminal investigation 
of the involved officer, at the discretion of the Director of Gaming Enforcement and with 
concurrence from the other agency. 

2. Criminal Investigations of Officer Actions  

When a special agent from this division is involved, the criminal investigation will be 
handled according to the Criminal Investigation section of this policy. 

Requests made of this division to investigate a shooting or death involving an outside 
agency's officer shall be referred to the Director of Gaming Enforcement or the authorized 
designee for approval. 

3. Administrative and Civil Investigation 

Regardless of where the incident occurs, the administrative and civil investigations of each 
involved officer are controlled by the respective employing agency. 

V.  INVESTIGATIONS PROCESS 
 

The following procedures are guidelines used in the investigation of an officer-involved 
shooting or death. 
 
1. Uninvolved Special Agent Responsibilities 
 
Upon arrival at the scene of an officer-involved shooting or death, the first uninvolved 
FGCC special agent will be the special agent-in-charge and will assume the 
responsibilities of a supervisor until properly relieved. This special agent should, as 
appropriate CFA 5.19 – 4.08M and CFA 5.20 – 4.08M: 
 

A. Secure the scene and identify and eliminate hazards for all those involved. 
 

B. Take reasonable steps to obtain emergency medical attention for injured 
individuals. 
 

C. Request additional resources from the Division or other agencies. 
 

D. Coordinate a perimeter or pursuit of suspects. 
 

E. Check for injured persons and evacuate as needed. 
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F. Brief the supervisor upon arrival. 
 

2. Supervisor Responsibilities 
 
Upon arrival at the scene, the first uninvolved FGCC supervisor should ensure 
completion of the duties as outlined above, plus: 
 

A. Attempt to obtain a brief overview of the situation from any uninvolved officers. 
 

1. In the event that there are no uninvolved officers who can supply 
adequate overview, the supervisor should attempt to obtain a brief 
voluntary overview from one involved officer. 
 

B. If necessary, the supervisor may administratively order any FGCC special agent 
to immediately provide public safety information necessary to secure the scene, 
identify injured parties and pursue suspects. 
 

1. Public safety information shall be limited to such things as outstanding 
suspect information, number and direction of any shots fired, perimeter of 
the incident scene, identity of known or potential witnesses and any other 
pertinent information. 
 

2. The initial on-scene supervisor should not attempt to order any involved 
officer to provide any information other than public safety information. 
 

C. Provide all available information to the Special Agent Supervisor and the 
Regional Communications Center. If feasible, sensitive information should be 
communicated over secure networks. 
 

D. Take command of and secure the incident scene with additional FGCC members 
until properly relieved by another supervisor or other assigned personnel or 
investigator. 
 

E. As soon as practicable, ensure that involved officers are transported (separately, 
if feasible) to a suitable location for further direction. 
 

1. Each involved FGCC special agent should be given an administrative 
order not to discuss the incident with other involved officers or FGCC 
members pending further direction from a supervisor. 
 

2. When an involved officer's weapon is taken or left at the scene for other 
than officer-safety reasons (e.g., evidence), ensure that he/she is 
provided with a comparable replacement weapon or transported by other 
special agents. 
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3. Special Agent Supervisor Responsibilities 
 
Upon learning of an officer-involved shooting or death, the Special Agent Supervisor 
shall be responsible for coordinating all aspects of the incident until he/she is relieved by 
the Director of Gaming Enforcement or Chief of Law Enforcement. 
 
All outside inquiries about the incident shall be directed to the Special Agent Supervisor. 
 
4. Notifications 
 
The following persons shall be notified as soon as practicable: 
 

A. Director of Gaming Enforcement (who will notify the FGCC Executive Director. 
 

B. Chief of Law Enforcement. 
 

C. Outside agency investigators (if appropriate). 
 

D. Inspector General. 
 

E. Psychological/peer support personnel. 
 

F. Medical Examiner (if necessary). 
 

G. Involved officer's agency representative (if requested). 
 

H. External Affairs Director. 
 
5. Involved Officers 
 
The following shall be considered for the involved officer (CFA 5.19 - 2.07M, 15.15M (C) 
CFA 5.20 - 15.15M (C), 2.07M): 
 

A. Any request for representation by counsel or  any other representative  will be 
accommodated pursuant to Section 112.532(1)(i), F.S. 
 

1. Involved FGCC special agents shall not be permitted to meet collectively 
or in a group with an attorney or any representative prior to providing a 
formal interview or report. 
 

2. Requests from involved non-FGCC officers should be referred to their 
employing agency. 
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B. Discussions with licensed attorneys will be considered privileged as attorney-
client communications. 
 

C. Discussions with employee groups/agency representatives will be privileged only 
as to the discussion of non-criminal information. 
 

D. A licensed psychotherapist shall be provided by the Division to each involved 
FGCC special agent. A licensed psychotherapist may also be provided to any 
other affected FGCC members, upon request. 
 

1. Interviews with a licensed psychotherapist will be considered privileged. 
 

2. An interview or session with a licensed psychotherapist may take place 
prior to the member providing a formal interview or report. However, the 
involved members shall not be permitted to consult or meet collectively or 
in a group with a licensed psychotherapist prior to providing a formal 
interview or report. 
 

3. A separate fitness-for-duty exam may also be required (see the Fitness 
for Duty Policy). 
 

E. Communications between the involved special agent and a first responder peer 
support member are addressed in the Wellness Program Policy. 
 
Care should be taken to preserve the integrity of any physical evidence present 
on the involved officer's equipment or clothing, such as blood or fingerprints, until 
investigators or lab personnel can properly retrieve it. 
 
Each involved FGCC special agent shall be given reasonable paid administrative 
leave until a preliminary administrative review is conducted following an officer-
involved shooting or death. It shall be the responsibility of the Special Agent 
Supervisor to make schedule adjustments to accommodate such leave. 

 
VI. CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION 
 

The Florida Department of Law Enforcement is responsible for the criminal investigation 
into the circumstances of any officer-involved shooting involving injury or death. 
 
If available, investigative personnel from Florida Gaming Control Commission may be 
assigned to partner with investigators from the Florida Department of Law Enforcement 
to avoid duplicating efforts in related criminal investigations. 
 
Once public safety issues have been addressed, criminal investigators should be given 
the opportunity to obtain a voluntary statement from involved officers and to complete 
their interviews. The following shall be considered for the involved officer: 
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A. FGCC supervisors and Inspector General personnel should not participate 

directly in any voluntary interview of FGCC special agents. This will not prohibit 
such personnel from monitoring interviews or providing the criminal investigators 
with topics for inquiry. 
 

F. If requested, any involved officer will be afforded the opportunity to consult 
individually with a representative of his/her choosing or an attorney prior to 
speaking with criminal investigators Section 112.532(1)(i), F.S. However, in order 
to maintain the integrity of each involved officer's statement, he/she shall not 
consult or meet with a representative or an attorney collectively or in groups prior 
to being interviewed. 
 

B. If any involved officer is physically, emotionally or otherwise not in a position to 
provide a voluntary statement when interviewed by criminal investigators, 
consideration should be given to allowing a reasonable period for the officer to 
schedule an alternate time for the interview. 
 

C. Any voluntary statement provided by an involved officer will be made available 
for inclusion in any related investigation including administrative investigations. 
However, no administratively coerced statement will be provided to any criminal 
investigators unless the officer consents. 

 
1. Reports by Involved FGCC Special Agents 
 
In the event that suspects remain outstanding or subject to prosecution for related 
offenses, this division shall retain the authority to require involved FGCC special agents 
to provide sufficient information for related criminal reports to facilitate the apprehension 
and prosecution of those individuals. 
 
While the involved FGCC special agent may write the report, it is generally 
recommended that such reports be completed by assigned investigators, who should 
interview all involved special agents as victims/witnesses. Since the purpose of these 
reports will be to facilitate criminal prosecution, statements of involved special agents 
should focus on evidence to establish the elements of criminal activities by suspects. 
Care should be taken not to duplicate information provided by involved special agents in 
other reports. 
 
Nothing in this section shall be construed to deprive an involved FGCC special agent of 
the right to consult with legal counsel prior to completing any such criminal report. 
 
Reports related to the prosecution of criminal suspects will be processed according to 
normal procedures but should also be included for reference in the investigation of the 
officer-involved shooting or death. (CFA 5.19 - 15.15M (A) CFA 5.20 - 15.15M (A)) 
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2. Witness Identification and Interviews 
 
Because potential witnesses to an officer-involved shooting or death may become 
unavailable or the integrity of their statements compromised with the passage of time, a 
supervisor should take reasonable steps to promptly coordinate with criminal 
investigators to utilize available law enforcement personnel for the following: 
 

A. Identification of all persons present at the scene and in the immediate area. 
 

1. When feasible, a recorded statement should be obtained from those 
persons who claim not to have witnessed the incident but who were 
present at the time it occurred. 
 

2. Any potential witness who is unwilling or unable to remain available for a 
formal interview should not be detained absent reasonable suspicion to 
detain or probable cause to arrest. Without detaining the individual for the 
sole purpose of identification, attempts to identify the witness prior to 
his/her departure should be made whenever feasible. 
 

B. Witnesses who are willing to provide a formal interview should be asked to meet 
at a suitable location where criminal investigators may obtain a recorded 
statement. Such witnesses, if willing, may be transported by a member of the 
Division. 
 

1. A written, verbal or recorded statement of consent should be obtained 
prior to transporting a witness. When the witness is a minor, consent 
should be obtained from the parent or guardian, if available, prior to 
transportation. 
 

C. Promptly contacting the suspect’s known family and associates to obtain any 
available and untainted background information about the suspect’s activities and 
state of mind prior to the incident. 

 
3. Investigative Personnel 
 
Once notified of an officer-involved shooting or death, it shall be the responsibility of the 
Chief of Law Enforcement to assign appropriate investigative personnel to handle the 
investigation of related crimes. Division investigators may be assigned to work with 
investigators from the Florida Department of Law Enforcement and may be assigned to 
separately handle the investigation of any related crimes not being investigated by the 
FDLE's Office. 
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All related division reports, except administrative and/or privileged reports, will be 
forwarded to the designated supervisor for approval. Privileged reports shall be 
maintained exclusively by members who are authorized such access. Administrative 
reports will be forwarded to the Chief of Law Enforcement. 
 

VII. ADMINISTRATIVE INVESTIGATION 
 
In addition to all other investigations associated with an officer-involved shooting or 
death, this division will conduct an internal administrative investigation of involved FGCC 
special agents to determine conformance with division policy. This investigation will be 
documented and conducted under the supervision of the Inspector General. 
 
Interviews of members shall be subject to division policies and applicable laws. 

 
A. Any special agent involved in a shooting or death may be requested or 

administratively compelled to provide a blood sample for alcohol/drug screening. 
Absent consent from the special agent, such compelled samples and the results of 
any such testing shall not be disclosed to any criminal investigative agency. 
 

B. If any special agent has voluntarily elected to provide a statement to criminal 
investigators, the assigned administrative investigator should review that 
statement before proceeding with any further interview of that involved special 
agent. 
 

1. If a further interview of the special agent is deemed necessary to 
determine policy compliance, care should be taken to limit the inquiry to 
new areas with minimal, if any, duplication of questions addressed in the 
voluntary statement. The involved special agent shall be provided with a 
copy of their prior statement before proceeding with any subsequent 
interviews. 
 

C. In the event that an involved special agent has elected not to provide criminal 
investigators with a voluntary statement, the assigned administrative investigator 
shall conduct an administrative interview to determine all relevant information. 
 

1. Although this interview should not be unreasonably delayed, care should 
be taken to ensure that the special agent's physical and psychological 
needs have been addressed before commencing the interview. 
 

2. If requested, the special agent shall have the opportunity to select an 
uninvolved representative to be present during the interview Section 
112.532(1)(i), F.S. However, in order to maintain the integrity of each 
individual special agent's statement, involved special agents shall not 



02.07.01 10 of 11 Lexipol #303 
 

consult or meet with a representative collectively or in groups prior to 
being interviewed. 
 

3. Administrative interviews shall be recorded by the investigator. The 
special agent may also record the interview Section 112.532(1)(g), F.S. 
 

4. The special agent shall be informed of the nature of the investigation. If a 
special agent refuses to answer questions, they should be given their 
Garrity rights and ordered to provide full and truthful answers to all 
questions. The special agent shall be informed that the interview will be 
for administrative purposes only and that the statement cannot be used 
criminally Section 112.532(1)(d), F.S. 
 

5. The Inspector General shall compile all relevant information and reports 
necessary for the Division to determine compliance with applicable 
policies. 
 

6. Any other indications of potential policy violations shall be determined in 
accordance with standard disciplinary procedures. 

 
VIII. CIVIL LIABILITY RESPONSE 

 
A member of this division may be assigned to work exclusively under the direction of the 
legal counsel for the Division to assist in the preparation of materials deemed necessary 
in anticipation of potential civil litigation. 
 
All materials generated in this capacity shall be considered attorney work product and 
may not be used for any other purpose. The civil liability response is not intended to 
interfere with any other investigation but shall be given reasonable access to all other 
investigations. 

 
IX. AUDIO AND VIDEO RECORDINGS 
 

Any officer involved in a shooting or death may be permitted to review available Mobile 
Audio/ Video (MAV), body-worn video, or other video or audio recordings prior to 
providing a recorded statement or completing reports Section 943.1718, F.S. 
 
Upon request, non-law enforcement witnesses who are able to verify their presence and 
their ability to contemporaneously perceive events at the scene of an incident may also 
be permitted to review available MAV, body-worn video, or other video or audio 
recordings with the approval of assigned investigators or a supervisor. 
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Any MAV, body-worn video, and other known video or audio recordings of an incident 
should not be publicly released during an ongoing investigation without consulting the 
prosecuting attorney or General Counsel’s Office, as appropriate. 

 
X. DEBRIEFING 

 
Following an officer-involved shooting or death, the Division of Gaming Enforcement 
should conduct both a Critical Incident Stress Debriefing and a tactical debriefing. See 
the Wellness Program Policy for guidance on Critical Incident Stress Debriefings. 
 
1. Tactical Debriefing 
 
A tactical debriefing should take place to identify any training or areas of policy that need 
improvement. The Director of Gaming Enforcement should identify the appropriate 
participants. This debriefing should not be conducted until all involved members have 
provided recorded or formal statements to the criminal and/or administrative 
investigators. 
 

XI. MEDIA RELATIONS 
 

Any media release shall be prepared with input and concurrence from the Executive 
Director of the Florida Gaming Control Commission and the Director of Gaming 
Enforcement or designee. Releases will be available to the Special Agent Supervisor, 
Chief of Law Enforcement and External Affairs Director in the event of inquiries from the 
media. 
 
No involved FGCC special agent shall make any comment to the media unless he/she is 
authorized by the Director of Gaming Enforcement or Chief of Law Enforcement. 
 
Division members receiving inquiries regarding officer-involved shootings or deaths 
occurring in other jurisdictions shall refrain from public comment and will direct those 
inquiries to the agency having jurisdiction and primary responsibility for the investigation. 
 

XII. REPORTING 
 
If the death of an individual occurs in the Division of Gaming Enforcement's control and 
qualifies to be reported to the Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE) as a 
justifiable homicide or an in-custody death, the Chief of Law Enforcement should ensure 
that the Records Custodian is provided with enough information to meet the reporting 
guidelines established by the FDLE. 
 

 
________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 
 
The Division of Gaming Enforcement will equip its members with firearms to address the 
risks posed to the public and division members by violent and sometimes well-armed 
persons. The Division will ensure firearms are appropriate and in good working order 
and that relevant training is provided as resources allow. 
 

II. PURPOSE 
 
This policy provides guidelines for issuing firearms, the safe and legal carrying of 
firearms, firearms maintenance and firearms training. 
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This policy does not apply to issues related to the use of firearms that are addressed in 
the Use of Force or Officer-Involved Shootings and Deaths policies. 
This policy only applies to those members who are authorized to carry firearms. 
 

III. AUTHORIZED FIREARMS, AMMUNITION AND OTHER WEAPONS 
 
Members shall only use firearms that are issued or approved by the Division and have 
been thoroughly inspected by the Rangemaster. Except in an emergency or as directed 
by a supervisor, no firearm shall be carried by a member who has not qualified with that 
firearm at an authorized division range. 
 
All other weapons not provided by the Division, including, but not limited to, edged 
weapons, chemical or electronic weapons, impact weapons or any weapon prohibited or 
restricted by law or that is not covered elsewhere by division policy, may not be carried by 
members in the performance of their official duties without the express written 
authorization of the member’s Chief of Law Enforcement. This exclusion does not apply 
to the carrying of a single folding pocketknife that is not otherwise prohibited by law. (CFA 
5.19 - 4.05M (A), 4.05M (C), 4.05M (E) CFA 5.20 - 4.05M (A), 4.05M (C), 4.05M (E)) 
 

1. Handguns 
 

The authorized division-issued handgun is the Glock Model 43X and Glock Model 
45. 
 

2. Authorized Secondary Handgun 
 

Members desiring to carry division or personally owned secondary handguns are 
subject to the following restrictions (CFA 5.19 - 4.05M (C) CFA 5.20 - 4.05M (C)): 
 

A. The handgun shall be in good working order and on the division list of 
approved firearms. 
 

B. Only one secondary handgun may be carried at a time. 
 

C. The purchase of the handgun and ammunition shall be the responsibility of 
the member unless the handgun and ammunition are provided by the 
Division. 
 

D. The handgun shall be carried concealed and in a holster approved by the 
Division at all times and in such a manner as to prevent unintentional 
cocking, discharge or loss of physical control. 
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E. The handgun shall be inspected by the Rangemaster prior to being carried 
and thereafter shall be subject to inspection whenever it is deemed 
necessary. 
 

F. Ammunition shall be the same as division issue. If the caliber of the 
handgun is other than division issue, the Director of Gaming Enforcement 
or the authorized designee shall approve the ammunition. 
 

G. Prior to carrying the secondary handgun, members shall qualify under 
range supervision and thereafter shall qualify in accordance with the 
division qualification schedule. Members must demonstrate proficiency and 
safe handling, and that the handgun functions properly. 
 

H. Members shall provide written notice of the make, model, color, serial 
number and caliber of a secondary handgun to the Rangemaster, who will 
maintain a list of the information. 
 

3. Authorized Off-Duty Firearms 

The carrying of firearms by members while off-duty is permitted by the Director of 
Gaming Enforcement but may be rescinded should circumstances dictate (e.g., 
administrative leave). Members who choose to carry a firearm while off-duty, 
based on their authority as law enforcement officers, will be required to meet the 
following guidelines (CFA 5.19 - 4.05M (B), 4.05M (C) CFA 5.20 - 4.05M (B), 
4.05M (C)): 

 

A. A personally owned firearm shall be used, carried and inspected in 
accordance with this policy. 
 

1. The purchase of the personally owned firearm and ammunition 
shall be the responsibility of the member. 
 

B. The firearm shall be carried concealed at all times and in such a manner 
as to prevent unintentional cocking, discharge or loss of physical control. 
 

C. It will be the responsibility of the member to submit the firearm to the 
Rangemaster for inspection prior to being personally carried. Thereafter 
the firearm shall be subject to periodic inspection by the Rangemaster. 
 

D. Prior to carrying any off-duty firearm, the member shall demonstrate to 
the Rangemaster that he/she is proficient in handling and firing the 
firearm and that it will be carried in a safe manner. 
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E. The member will successfully qualify with the firearm prior to it being 

carried. 
 

F. Members shall provide written notice of the make, model, color, serial 
number and caliber of the firearm to the Rangemaster, who will maintain 
a list of the information. 
 

G. If a member desires to use more than one firearm while off-duty, he/she 
may do so, as long as all requirements set forth in this policy for each 
firearm are met. 
 

H. Members shall only carry division-authorized ammunition. 
 

I. When armed special agents shall carry their badges and Division of 
Gaming Enforcement identification cards under circumstances requiring 
possession of such identification. 

 
4. Ammunition 

Members shall carry only division-authorized ammunition. Members shall be 
issued fresh duty ammunition in the specified quantity for all division-issued 
firearms during the member's firearms qualification. Replacements for 
unserviceable or depleted ammunition issued by the Division shall be dispensed 
by the Rangemaster when needed, in accordance with established policy. 
 
Members carrying personally owned authorized firearms of a caliber differing 
from division-issued firearms shall be responsible for obtaining fresh duty 
ammunition in accordance with the above, at their own expense. (CFA 5.19 - 
4.05M (D) CFA 5.20 - 4.05M (D)) 

 
IV. EQUIPMENT 

 
Firearms carried on- or off-duty shall be maintained in a clean, serviceable condition. 
Maintenance and repair of authorized personally owned firearms are the responsibility of 
the individual member. 
 

1. Repairs or Modifications 

Each member shall be responsible for promptly reporting any damage or 
malfunction of an assigned firearm to a supervisor or the Rangemaster. 
 
Firearms that are the property of the Division or personally owned firearms that 
are approved for division use may be repaired or modified only by a person who 
is division-approved and certified as an armorer or gunsmith in the repair of the 
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specific firearm. Such modification or repair must be authorized in advance by 
the Rangemaster. 
 
Any repairs or modifications to the member’s personally owned firearm shall be 
done at his/her expense and must be approved by the Rangemaster. 
 

2. Holsters 
 
Only division-approved holsters shall be used and worn by members. Members 
shall periodically inspect their holsters to make sure they are serviceable and 
provide the proper security and retention of the handgun. 
 

3. Tactical Lights 
 
Tactical lights may only be installed on a firearm carried on- or off-duty after they 
have been examined and approved by the Rangemaster. Once the approved 
tactical lights have been properly installed on any firearm, the member shall qualify 
with the firearm to ensure proper functionality and sighting of the firearm prior to 
carrying it. 
 

4. Optics or Laser Sights 

Optics or laser sights may only be installed on a firearm carried on- or off-duty 
after they have been examined and approved by the Rangemaster. Any 
approved sight shall only be installed in strict accordance with manufacturer 
specifications. Once approved sights have been properly installed on any 
firearm, the member shall qualify with the firearm to ensure proper functionality 
and sighting of the firearm prior to carrying it. 
 
Except in an approved training situation, a member may only sight in on a target 
when the member would otherwise be justified in pointing a firearm at the target. 
 
 

V. SAFE HANDLING, INSPECTION AND STORAGE 

Members shall maintain the highest level of safety when handling firearms and shall 
consider the following (CFA 5.19 - 4.05M (F) CFA 5.20 - 4.05M (F)): 
 

A. Members shall not unnecessarily display or handle any firearm. 
 

B. Members shall be governed by all rules and regulations pertaining to the use of 
the range and shall obey all orders issued by the Rangemaster. Members shall 
not dry fire or practice quick draws except as instructed by the Rangemaster or 
other firearms training staff. 
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C. Members shall not clean, repair, load or unload a firearm anywhere in the 
Division, except where clearing barrels are present. 
 

D. Members shall not place or store any firearm or other weapon on division 
premises except where the place of storage is locked. No one shall carry 
firearms into the jail section or any part thereof when securing or processing an 
arrestee, but shall place all firearms in a secured location. Members providing 
access to the jail section to persons from outside agencies are responsible for 
ensuring firearms are not brought into the jail section. 
 

E. Members shall not use any firearm from the armory, except with approval of a 
supervisor. 
 

F. Any firearm authorized by the Division to be carried on- or off-duty that is 
determined by a member to be malfunctioning or in need of service or repair shall 
not be carried. It shall be promptly presented to the Division or a Rangemaster 
approved by the Division for inspection and repair. Any firearm deemed in need 
of repair or service by the Rangemaster will be immediately removed from 
service. If the firearm is the member's primary duty firearm, a replacement 
firearm will be issued to the member until the duty firearm is serviceable.  

 
1. Inspection and Storage 

 
Handguns shall be inspected regularly and upon access or possession by another 
person. The member shall ensure that the firearm is carried in the proper condition 
and loaded with approved ammunition. All firearms shall be pointed in a safe 
direction or into clearing barrels if available. 
 

2. Storage at Home 
 
Members shall ensure that all firearms and ammunition are locked and secured 
while in their homes, vehicles or any other area under their control, and in a 
manner that will keep them inaccessible to children and others who should not 
have access. When not in use and in the division issued vehicle, firearms and 
ammunitions will be securely locked in the trunk safe. Members shall not permit 
division-issued firearms to be handled by anyone not authorized by the Division 
to do so. Members should be aware that negligent storage of a firearm could 
result in civil and criminal liability Section 790.174, F.S. 

 
3. Alcohol and Drugs 

 
Firearms shall not be carried by any member, either on- or off-duty, who has 
consumed an amount of an alcoholic beverage, taken any drugs or medication, or 
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taken any combination thereof, to the extent that his or her normal faculties are 
impaired Section 790.151, F.S. 
 

VI. FIREARMS TRAINING AND QUALIFICATIONS 

All members who carry a firearm while on-duty are required to successfully complete 
training at lease annually with their duty firearms. In addition to annual training, all 
members will qualify at least annually with their duty firearms. Members will also qualify 
with off-duty and secondary firearms at least once a year. Training and qualifications 
must be on an approved range course. 
 
The Rangemaster is responsible for incorporating courses of fire that comply with 
CJSTC standards and submitting them to the CJSTC as directed in Rule 11B-27.00212, 
F.A.C. Training and qualifications must be documented on the Law Enforcement Officer 
Firearms Qualification Standard (CJSTC-86A) and maintained in the member's 
employment file. 
 
When practical, all members carrying a firearm should receive practical training 
designed to simulate field situations including low-light shooting. (CFA 5.19 - 10.10M (A), 
10.10M (E) CFA 5.20 - 10.10M (A), 10.10M (E)) 
 

1. Additional Requirements 
 
Members shall receive training in legal updates related to firearms as applicable. 
 

2. Non-Certification or Non-Qualification 

If any member fails to meet minimum standards for firearms training or 
qualification for any reason, including injury, illness, duty status or scheduling 
conflict, that member shall submit a memorandum to his/her immediate 
supervisor prior to the end of the required training or qualification period. 
Those who fail to meet minimum standards or qualify on their first shooting 
attempt shall be provided remedial training and will be subject to the following 
requirements: 
 

A. Additional range assignments may be scheduled to assist the member in 
demonstrating consistent firearm proficiency. 
 

B. Members shall be given credit for a range training or qualification when 
obtaining a qualifying score or meeting standards after remedial training. 
 

C. No range credit will be given for: 
 

1. Unauthorized range make-up. 
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2. Failure to meet minimum standards or qualify after remedial 
training. 
 

Members who repeatedly fail to meet minimum standards will be removed from 
field assignment and may be subject to disciplinary action. 
 
A special agent failing to meet the required qualification standard shall not be 
permitted to perform the duties of a sworn special agent until he/she successfully 
qualifies with a passing score. In the event a special agent fails to meet the 
qualification standard by June 30 of each reporting year, the special agent’s 
certificate shall become inactive until the Division provides documentation to 
CJSTC staff establishing that the firearms qualification standard has been 
satisfied (Rule 11B-27.00212(14), F.A.C.). 
 
If a special agent is injured in the line of duty or has a chronic illness that 
prevents meeting the qualification standard by June 30 of a reporting year, the 
Director of Gaming Enforcement or the authorized designee shall complete the 
Injury or Illness Exemption for the Firearms Law Enforcement Officer 
Qualification Standard form (CJSTC-86B). The Division shall submit the CJSTC-
86B form and the supporting medical documentation to CJSTC staff prior to the 
June 30 deadline to ensure the special agent’s certificate does not become 
inactive on the reporting deadline for that two-year reporting cycle. An additional 
CJSTC-86B form shall be submitted for each subsequent reporting cycle as 
necessary (Rule 11B-27.00212(14)(e), F.A.C.). 

 

VII. FIREARM DISCHARGE 

Except during training or recreational use, any member who discharges a firearm 
intentionally or unintentionally, on- or off-duty, shall make a verbal report to their 
supervisor as soon as circumstances permit. If the discharge results in injury or death to 
another person, additional statements and reports shall be made in accordance with the 
Officer-Involved Shootings and Deaths Policy. If a firearm was discharged as a use of 
force, the involved member shall adhere to the additional reporting requirements set 
forth in the Use of Force Policy. (CFA 5.19 - 4.07M (A) CFA 5.20 - 4.07M (A)) 
 
Except for discharges during training or recreational use, written reports shall be made 
as follows:  
 

A. If on-duty at the time of the incident, the member shall file a written report with 
their Chief of Law Enforcement or provide a recorded statement to investigators 
prior to the end of shift, unless otherwise directed. 
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B. If off-duty at the time of the incident, the member shall file a written report or 
provide a recorded statement no later than the end of the next regularly 
scheduled shift, unless otherwise directed by a supervisor. 
 

C. The Chief of Law Enforcement shall conduct a documented review of the firearm 
discharge. 

 
1. Destruction of Animals 

 
Members are authorized to use firearms to stop an animal in circumstances 
where the animal reasonably appears to pose an imminent threat to human 
safety and alternative methods are not reasonably available or would likely be 
ineffective. 
 
In circumstances where there is sufficient advance notice that a potentially 
dangerous animal may be encountered, division members should develop 
reasonable contingency plans for dealing with the animal (e.g., fire extinguisher, 
conducted energy device, oleoresin capsicum (OC) spray, animal control officer). 
Nothing in this policy shall prohibit any member from shooting a dangerous 
animal if circumstances reasonably dictate that a contingency plan has failed, 
becomes impractical, or if the animal reasonably appears to pose an imminent 
threat to human safety. 
 

2. Injured Animals 
 
With the approval of a supervisor, a special agent may euthanize a domestic 
animal that is suffering from an incurable or untreatable condition or is imminently 
near death from injury or disease. 
 
A reasonable and concerted effort shall be made to locate the injured or 
diseased animal's owner, the owner's agent or a veterinarian. If the owner or the 
owner's agent is located, he/she shall be provided the animal's location and 
condition. If only a veterinarian is located, the animal shall be destroyed only 
upon the advice of the veterinarian. If no responsible person can be located the 
animal may be immediately destroyed by shooting it or by administering a lethal 
injection Section 828.05, F. S. 
 

3. Warning and Other Shots 
 

Generally, warning shots or shots fired for the purpose of summoning aid are 
discouraged and may not be discharged unless the member reasonably believes 
that they appear necessary, effective and reasonably safe. (CFA 5.19 - 4.04M 
CFA 5.20 - 4.04M) 
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VIII. RANGEMASTER DUTIES 

The range will be under the exclusive control of the Rangemaster. All members 
attending will follow the directions of the Rangemaster. The Rangemaster will maintain a 
roster of all members attending the range and will submit the roster to the Training 
Coordinator after each range date. Failure of any member to sign in and out with the 
Rangemaster may result in non-participation or non-qualification. 
 
The Rangemaster has the responsibility of making periodic inspection, at least once a 
year, of all duty firearms carried by members of this division to verify proper operation. 
The Rangemaster has the authority to deem any division-issued or personally owned 
firearm unfit for service. The member will be responsible for all repairs to his/her 
personally owned firearm; it will not be returned to service until it has been inspected 
and approved by the Rangemaster. 
 
The Rangemaster has the responsibility for ensuring each member meets the minimum 
requirements during training shoots and, on at least a yearly basis, can demonstrate 
proficiency in the care, cleaning and safety of all firearms the member is authorized to 
carry. 
 
The Rangemaster shall complete and submit to the Training Coordinator documentation 
of the training courses provided. Documentation shall include the qualifications of each 
instructor who provides the training, a description of the training provided and, on a form 
that has been approved by the Division, a list of each member who completes the 
training. The Rangemaster should keep accurate records of all training shoots, 
qualifications, repairs, maintenance or other records as directed by the Training 
Coordinator. 
 

1. Additional Duties 
 

The Rangemaster shall maintain a record on each firearm approved by the Division 
for official use. (CFA 5.19 - 4.05M (G) CFA 5.20 - 4.05M (G)) 
 

IX. FLYING WHILE ARMED 
 
The Transportation Security Administration (TSA) has imposed rules governing law 
enforcement officers flying armed on commercial aircraft. The following requirements 
apply to special agents who intend to be armed while flying on a commercial air carrier or 
flights where screening is conducted (49 CFR 1544.219): 
 

A. Special Agents wishing to fly while armed must be flying in an official capacity, not 
for vacation or pleasure, and must have a need to have the firearm accessible, as 
determined by the Division based on the law and published TSA rules. 
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B. Special Agents must carry their Division of Gaming Enforcement identification 
card, bearing the special agent’s name, a full-face photograph, identification 
number, the special agent’s signature and the signature of the Director of Gaming 
Enforcement or the official seal of the Division and must present this identification 
to airline officials when requested. The special agent should also carry the 
standard photo identification needed for passenger screening by airline and TSA 
officials (e.g., driver license, passport). 
 

C. The Division of Gaming Enforcement must submit a National Law Enforcement 
Telecommunications System (NLETS) message prior to the special agent’s travel. 
If approved, TSA will send the Division of Gaming Enforcement an NLETS 
message containing a unique alphanumeric identifier. The special agent must 
present the message on the day of travel to airport personnel as authorization to 
travel while armed. 
 

D. An official letter signed by the Director of Gaming Enforcement authorizing armed 
travel may also accompany the special agent. The letter should outline the special 
agent’s need to fly armed, detail his/her itinerary, and include that the special agent 
has completed the mandatory TSA training for a law enforcement officer flying 
while armed. 
 

E. Special Agents must have completed the mandated TSA security training covering 
special agents flying while armed. The training shall be given by the division- 
appointed instructor. 
 

F. It is the special agent’s responsibility to notify the air carrier in advance of the 
intended armed travel. This notification should be accomplished by early check-in 
at the carrier’s check-in counter. 
 

G. Any special agent flying while armed should discreetly contact the flight crew prior 
to take-off and notify them of his/her assigned seat. 
 

H. Discretion must be used to avoid alarming passengers or crew by displaying a 
firearm. The special agent must keep the firearm concealed on his/her person at 
all times. Firearms are not permitted in carry-on luggage and may not be stored in 
an overhead compartment. 
 

I. Special Agents should try to resolve any problems associated with flying armed 
through the flight captain, ground security manager, TSA representative or other 
management representative of the air carrier. 
 

J. Special Agents shall not consume alcoholic beverages while aboard an aircraft, or 
within eight hours prior to boarding an aircraft. 
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X. CARRYING FIREARMS OUR OF STATE 
 
Qualified, active, full-time special agents of this division are authorized to carry a 
concealed firearm in all other states subject to the following conditions (18 USC Section 
926B): 
 

A. The special agent shall carry his/her Division of Gaming Enforcement 
identification card whenever carrying such firearm. 
 

B. The special agent may not be the subject of any current disciplinary action. 
 

C. The special agent may not be under the influence of alcohol or any other 
intoxicating or hallucinatory drug. 
 

D. The special agent will remain subject to this and all other division policies 
(including qualifying and training). 
 

Special Agents are cautioned that individual states may enact local regulations that 
permit private persons or entities to prohibit or restrict the possession of concealed 
firearms on their property, or that prohibit or restrict the possession of firearms on any 
state or local government property, installation, building, base or park. Federal authority 
may not shield a special agent from arrest and prosecution in such locally restricted 
areas. 
 
Active law enforcement officers from other states are subject to all requirements set forth 
in 18 USC Section 926B. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Search and Seizure POLICY NUMBER 

02.11.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
 

I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 
 
It is the policy of the Division of Gaming Enforcement to respect the fundamental privacy 
rights of individuals. Members of this division will conduct searches in strict observance 
of the constitutional rights of persons being searched. All seizures by this division will 
comply with relevant federal and state law governing the seizure of persons and 
property. 
 
The Division will provide relevant and current training to special agents as guidance for 
the application of current law, local community standards and prosecutorial 
considerations regarding specific search and seizure situations, as appropriate. 

 
II. PURPOSE 

 
Both the federal and state constitutions provide every individual with the right to be free 
from unreasonable searches and seizures. This policy provides general guidelines for 
Division of Gaming Enforcement personnel to consider when dealing with search and 
seizure issues. 
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III. SEARCHES 

 
The U.S. Constitution generally provides that a valid warrant is required in order for a 
search to be valid. There are, however, several exceptions to the rule that permit a 
warrantless search. 
 
Examples of law enforcement activities that are exceptions to the general warrant 
requirement include, but are not limited to, searches pursuant to: 
 

A. Valid consent. 
 

B. Incident to a lawful arrest. 
 

C. Legitimate community caretaking interests. 
 

D. Vehicle searches under certain circumstances. 
 

E. Exigent circumstances 
 

Certain other activities are recognized by federal and state courts and by certain statutes 
as legitimate law enforcement activities that also do not require a warrant. Such activities 
may include seizure and examination of abandoned property and observations of 
activities and property located on open public areas. 
 
Because case law regarding search and seizure is constantly changing and subject to 
interpretation by the courts, each member of this division is expected to act in each 
situation according to current training and his/her familiarity with clearly established 
rights as determined by case law. 
 
Whenever practicable, special agents are encouraged to contact a supervisor to resolve 
questions regarding search and seizure issues prior to electing a course of action. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
IV. SEARCH PROTOCOL 
 

Although conditions will vary, and officer safety and other exigencies must be considered 
in every search situation, the following guidelines should be followed whenever 
circumstances permit: 
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A. Members of this division will strive to conduct searches with dignity and courtesy. 
 

B. Special Agents should explain to the person being searched the reason for the 
search and how the search will be conducted. 
 

C. Searches should be carried out with due regard and respect for private property 
interests and in a manner that minimizes damage. Property should be left in a 
condition as close as reasonably possible to its pre-search condition. 
 

D. In order to minimize the need for forcible entry, an attempt should be made to 
obtain keys, combinations or access codes when a search of locked property is 
anticipated. 
 

E. Whenever practicable, a search should not be conducted by a lone special 
agent. A cover special agent should be positioned to ensure safety and should 
not be involved in the search. 
 

F. When the person to be searched is of the opposite sex as the searching special 
agent, a reasonable effort should be made to summon a special agent of the 
same sex as the subject to conduct the search. When it is not practicable to 
summon a special agent of the same sex as the subject, the following guidelines 
should be followed: 
 
1. Another special agent or a supervisor should witness the search. 

 
2. The special agent should not search areas of the body covered by tight-fitting 

clothing, sheer clothing or clothing that could not reasonably conceal a 
weapon. 

 
V. DOCUMENTATION 

 
Special Agents are responsible for documenting any search and ensuring that any 
required reports are sufficient including, at minimum, documentation of: 
 

A. Reason for the search. 
 

B. Any efforts used to minimize the intrusiveness of any search (e.g., asking for 
consent or keys). 
 

C. What, if any, injuries or damage occurred. 
 

D. All steps taken to secure property. 
E. The results of the search including a description of any property or contraband 

seized. 
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F. If the person searched is the opposite sex, any efforts to summon a special agent 

of the same sex as the person being searched and the identification of any 
witness special agent. 
 

Supervisors shall review reports to ensure the reports are accurate, that actions are 
properly documented and that current legal requirements and division policy have been 
met. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Informants  POLICY NUMBER 

02.16.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

CFA 5.19 - 15.03M (B), 15.03 (F), 15.03M (G), 
15.03M (H), 15.03M (I), 15.03M (J) 

CFA 5.20 - 15.03M (B), 15.03 (F), 15.03M (G), 
15.03M (H), 15.03M (I), 15.03M (J) 

CFA 5.19 - 5.05M (A), 5.05M (B), 5.05M (E), 5.05M 
(F) 

CFA 5.20 - 5.05M (A), 5.05M (B), 5.05M (E), 5.05M 
(F) 

CFA 5.19 - 15.03M (A), 15.03M (B), 15.03M (C), 
15.03M (D), 15.03M (F), 15.03M (K) 

CFA 5.20 - 15.03M (A), 15.03M (B), 15.03M (C), 
15.03M (D), 15.03M (F), 15.03M (K) 

Section 914.28, F.S. 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
 

I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 
 
The Division of Gaming Enforcement recognizes the value of informants to law 
enforcement efforts and will strive to protect the integrity of the informant process. It is 
the policy of this division that all funds related to informant payments will be routinely 
audited and that payments to informants will be made according to the criteria outlined in 
this policy. 
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II. PURPOSE 
 
The purpose of this policy is to provide guidelines for the use of informants and to 
prioritize the safety of the informant, law enforcement personnel, suspects, and the 
public Section 914.28, F.S. 

 
III. DEFINITIONS 

 
Definitions related to this policy include: 
 

A. Informant - A person who covertly interacts with other individuals or suspects at 
the direction or request of, or by agreement with, the Division of Gaming 
Enforcement for law enforcement purposes. This also includes a person agreeing 
to supply information to the Division of Gaming Enforcement for a benefit (e.g., a 
quid pro quo in the form of a reduced criminal penalty, money). 
 

IV. USE OF INFORMANTS 
 

1. Initial Approval 
 
Before using an individual as an informant, a special agent must receive approval 
from his/ her supervisor and the Chief of Law Enforcement. The special agent 
shall compile sufficient information through a background investigation and 
experience with the informant in order to determine the suitability of the 
individual, including age, maturity and risk of physical harm, as well as any 
indicators of his/her reliability and credibility. 
 
Members of this division should not guarantee absolute safety or confidentiality 
to an informant. CFA 5.19 - 15.03M (B) CFA 5.20 - 15.03M (B) 
 

2. Juvenile Informants 
 
The use of informants under the age of 18 is prohibited. CFA 5.19 - 15.03M (G), 
15.03M (H) CFA 5.20 - 15.03M (G), 15.03M (H) 
 

3. Informant Agreements 
 
All informants are required to sign and abide by the provisions of the designated 
division informant agreement. The special agent using the informant shall 
discuss each of the provisions of the agreement with the informant. 
 
Details of the agreement are to be approved in writing by a supervisor and the 
Chief of Law Enforcement before being finalized with the informant. 
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If requested, the person being considered for use as an informant shall be 
afforded an opportunity to consult with legal counsel at their own expense, before 
they sign the agreement to be an informant Section 914.28, F.S. 

 
V. INFORMANT INTEGRITY 

 
To maintain the integrity of the informant process, the following must be adhered to 
(CFA 5.19 - 15.03M (F) CFA 5.20 - 15.03M (F)): 
 

A. The identity of an informant acting in a confidential capacity shall not be withheld 
from the Director of Gaming Enforcement, Chief of Law Enforcement or their 
authorized designees. 
 
1. Identities of informants acting in a confidential capacity shall otherwise be 

kept confidential. 
 

B. Criminal activity by informants shall not be condoned. 
 

C. Informants shall be told they are not acting as police special agents, employees 
or agents of the Division of Gaming Enforcement, and that they shall not 
represent themselves as such. 
 

D. The relationship between division members and informants shall always be 
ethical and professional. 
 
1. Members shall not become intimately involved with an informant. 

 
2. Social contact shall be avoided unless it is necessary to conduct an official 

investigation, and only with prior approval of the Chief of Law Enforcement. 
 

3. Members shall neither solicit nor accept gratuities or engage in any private 
business transaction with an informant. 
 

E. Special Agents shall not meet with informants in a private place unless 
accompanied by at least one additional special agent or with prior approval of the 
Chief of Law Enforcement. 
 
1. Special Agents may meet informants alone in an occupied public place, such 

as a restaurant. 
 

F. When contacting informants for the purpose of making payments, special agents 
shall arrange for the presence of another special agent. 
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G. In all instances when division funds are paid to informants, a voucher shall be 
completed in advance, itemizing the expenses.  
 

H. Since the decision rests with the appropriate prosecutor, special agents shall not 
promise the informant they will receive any form of leniency or immunity from 
criminal prosecution. 
 

1. Unsuitable Informants 
 
The suitability of any informant should be considered before engaging him/her in 
any way in a covert or other investigative process. Factors to be considered 
include, but are not limited to Section 914.28, F.S., CFA 5.19 - 15.03M (F) CFA 
5.20 - 15.03M (F)): 

 
A. The person's age and maturity. 

 
B. The risk the person poses to adversely affect a present or potential 

investigation or prosecution. 
 

C. The effect upon agency efforts that the disclosure of the person's 
cooperation in the community may have. 
 

D. Whether the person is a substance abuser or has a history of substance 
abuse or is in a court-supervised drug treatment program. 
 

E. The risk of physical harm to the person, his/her immediate family or close 
associates as a result of providing information or assistance or upon the 
disclosure of the person's assistance to the community. 
 

F. Whether the person has shown any indication of emotional instability, 
unreliability or furnishing false information. 
 

G. The person's criminal history or prior criminal record. 
 

H. Whether the use of the person is important to or vital to the success of an 
investigation. 
 

Any member of the Division of Law Enforcement who become aware that an 
informant, who has been previously approved in a covert or other investigative 
process, may be unsuitable will notify the supervisor and the Chief of Law 
Enforcement, who will initiate a review to determine suitability. Until a 
determination is made, the informant should not be used by any member. The 
Chief of Law Enforcement shall determine whether the informant should be used 
by the Division and, if so, what conditions will be placed on his/her participation 
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or any information the informant provides. The supervisor shall document the 
decision and conditions in file notes and mark the file "unsuitable" when 
appropriate. 

 
Considerations for determining whether an informant is unsuitable include, but 
are not limited to, the following: 

 
A. The informant has provided untruthful or unreliable information in the 

past. 
 

B. The informant behaves in a way that may endanger the safety of a 
special agent. 
 

C. The informant reveals to suspects the identity of a special agent or the 
existence of an investigation. 
 

D. The informant appears to be using his/her affiliation with this division to 
further criminal objectives. 
 

E. The informant creates officer-safety issues by providing information to 
multiple law enforcement agencies simultaneously, without prior 
notification and approval of each agency. 
 

F. The informant engages in any other behavior that could jeopardize the 
safety of special agents or the integrity of a criminal investigation. 
 

G. The informant commits criminal acts subsequent to entering into an 
informant agreement. 

 
VI. INFORMANT FILES 

 
Informant files shall be utilized as a source of background information about the 
informant, to enable review and evaluation of information provided by the informant, and 
to minimize incidents that could be used to question the integrity of division members or 
the reliability of the informant. 
 
Informant files shall be maintained in a secure area within the field office. The supervisor 
or the authorized designee shall be responsible for maintaining informant files. Access to 
the informant files shall be restricted to the Director of Gaming Enforcement, Chief of 
Law Enforcement or their authorized designees or those whose access is required by 
court process or order. A notation shall be made in the file each time the file is accessed 
showing the date and who accessed the file Section 914.28, F.S. 
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The Chief of Law Enforcement should arrange for an audit using a representative 
sample or randomly selected informant files on a periodic basis, but no less than one 
time per year. If the supervisor is replaced, the files will be audited before the new 
supervisor takes over management of the files. The purpose of the audit is to ensure 
compliance with file content and updating provisions of this policy. The audit should be 
conducted by a supervisor who does not have normal access to the informant files. 
 
Informant files shall be retained according to the established retention schedule. CFA 
5.19 - 15.03M (A), 15.03M (C), 15.03M (D), 15.03M (K) CFA 5.20 - 15.03M (A), 15.03M 
(C), 15.03M (D), 15.03M (K) 
 

1. File System Procedure 
 
All informant files shall be part of a master informant file used by the Division. A 
separate file shall be maintained on each informant and shall be coded with an 
assigned informant control number. An informant history that includes the 
following information shall be prepared for each file (CFA 5.19 - 15.03M (B), 
15.03M (A) CFA 5.20 - 15.03M (A), 15.03M (B)): 
 

A. Name and aliases 
 

B. Date of birth 
 

C. Physical description: sex, race, height, weight, hair color, eye color, scars, 
tattoos, or other distinguishing features 
 

D. Photograph 
 

E. Current home address and telephone numbers 
 

F. Current employers, positions, addresses, and telephone numbers 
 

G. Vehicles owned and registration information 
 

H. Places frequented 
 

I. Briefs of information provided by the informant and the informant's 
subsequent reliability 
 

1. If an informant is determined to be unsuitable, the informant's file 
is to be marked "unsuitable" and notations included detailing the 
issues that caused this classification. 
 

J. Name of the special agent initiating use of the informant 
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K. Signed informant agreement 

 
L. Update on active or inactive status of informant 

 
VII. INFORMANT PAYMENTS 

 
No informant will be told in advance or given an exact amount or percentage for his/her 
service. The amount of funds to be paid to any informant will be evaluated against the 
following criteria (CFA 5.19 - 15.03M (E), 5.05M (B), 5.05M (F) CFA 5.20 - 15.03M (E), 
5.05M (B), 5.05M (F)): 

 
A. The extent of the informant's personal involvement in the case 

 
B. The significance, value or effect on crime 

 
C. The value of assets seized 

 
D. The quantity of the drugs or other contraband seized 

 
E. The informant's previous criminal activity 

 
F. The level of risk taken by the informant 

 
The field office supervisor will discuss the above factors with the Chief of Law 
Enforcement and recommend the type and level of payment, subject to approval by the 
Director of Gaming Enforcement. 

 
1. Payment Process 

 
1. Payments of $500 and under may be paid in cash from the buy/expense 

fund. CFA 5.19 - 5.05M (C), 5.05M (D), 5.05M (F) CFA 5.20 - 5.05M (C), 
5.05M (D), 5.05M (F) 
 

A. The field office supervisor shall sign the voucher for cash payouts 
from the buy/expense fund.  
 

2. Payments exceeding $500 shall be made by issuance of a check, payable to 
the special agent who will be delivering the payment. 
 

A. The check shall list the case numbers related to and supporting 
the payment. 
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B. A written statement of the informant's involvement in the case 
shall be placed in the informant's file. 
 

C. The statement shall be signed by the informant verifying the 
statement as a true summary of his/her actions in the case. 
 

D. Authorization signatures from the Director of Gaming Enforcement 
and the Executive Director are required for disbursement of the 
funds. 
 

3. To complete the payment process for any amount, the special agent 
delivering the payment shall complete a cash transfer form. 
 

A. The cash transfer form shall include:  
 

1. Date. 
 

2. Payment amount. 
 

3. Division of Gaming Enforcement case number. 
 

4. A statement that the informant is receiving funds in 
payment for information voluntarily rendered. 
 

5. Member's name. 
 

6. Informant's name or identifier. 
 

7. Purpose of payment. 
 

B. The cash transfer form shall be signed by the informant. 
 

C. The cash transfer form will be kept in the informant's file. 
 

2. Reporting of Payment 
 
Each informant receiving a cash payment shall be advised of his/her 
responsibility to report the cash to the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) as income.  
 
The informant shall be provided a letter identifying the amount he/she must 
report on a tax return as “other income” and shall be required to provide a signed 
acknowledgement of receipt of the letter. The completed acknowledgement form 
and a copy of the letter shall be retained in the informant’s file.  
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3. Audit of Payments 
 
The Chief of Law Enforcement or the authorized designee shall be responsible 
for compliance with any audit requirements associated with grant provisions, 
applicable state and federal law, and the accounting system for confidential 
funds. 
 
At least quarterly, the Director of Gaming Enforcement or the authorized 
designee shall conduct an internal audit of all informant funds for the purpose of 
accountability and security of the funds. The audit shall include a report of 
expenditures and shall be forwarded to the Director of Gaming Enforcement 
upon completion. The funds and related documents (e.g., buy/expense fund 
records, cash transfer forms, invoices, receipts, logs) will assist with the audit 
process. CFA 5.19 - 5.05M (E), 5.05M (A) CFA 5.20 - 5.05M (A), 5.05M (E) 
 

VIII. TRAINING 
 
The Division shall ensure that members who are involved in recruiting or handling of 
informants receive periodic training on this policy and any procedures associated with 
the policy. Documentation of the training will be stored in the member's training file 
Section 914.28, F.S., CFA 5.19 - 15.03M (I) CFA 5.20 - 15.03M (I) 
 

IX. ANNUAL REVIEW 
 
The Director of Gaming Enforcement or the authorized designee shall conduct a 
documented annual internal review of the division practices to ensure conformity with 
policies, procedures, and state laws. CFA 5.19 - 15.03M (J) CFA 5.20 - 15.03M (J) 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Personal Protective Equipment POLICY NUMBER 

02.20.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

CFA 5.19 - 14.08M (E)  
CFA 5.20 - 14.08M (E) 

29 CFR 1910.95 
29 CFR 1910.133 
29 CFR 1910.1020 
29 CFR 1910.132 

 

 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
 

I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 
 
The Division of Gaming Enforcement endeavors to protect members by supplying 
certain PPE to members as provided in this policy. 
 

II. PURPOSE 
 
This policy identifies the different types of personal protective equipment (PPE) provided 
by the Division as well as the requirements and guidelines for the use of PPE. 
 
This policy does not address ballistic vests or protection from communicable disease, as 
those issues are addressed in the Body Armor and Communicable Diseases policies. 
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III. DEFINITIONS 

 
Definitions related to this policy include: 
 

A. Personal protective equipment (PPE) - Specialized equipment worn by a 
member for protection against a hazard. PPE is designed to protect a member 
from serious workplace injuries or illnesses resulting from contact with chemical, 
radiological, physical, electrical, mechanical, or other workplace hazards. 
General work clothes (e.g., uniforms, pants, shirts, blouses) that are not intended 
to function as protection against a hazard are not considered to be protective 
equipment. 
 

B. Respiratory PPE - Any device that is worn by the user to protect from exposure 
to atmospheres where there is smoke, low levels of oxygen, high levels of carbon 
monoxide, or the presence of toxic gases or other respiratory hazards. For 
purposes of this policy, respiratory PPE does not include particulate-filtering 
masks such as N95 or N100 masks. 

 
IV. SPECIAL AGENT RESPONSIBILITIES 

 
Members are required to use PPE as provided in this policy and pursuant to their training. 
 
Members are responsible for proper maintenance and storage of issued PPE. PPE should 
be stored in an appropriate location so that it is available when needed. 
 
Any member who identifies hazards in the workplace is encouraged to utilize the 
procedures in the Illness and Injury Prevention Policy to recommend new or improved 
PPE or additional needs for PPE 
 

V. HEARING PROTECTION 
 
Approved hearing protection shall be used by members during firearms training. Hearing 
protection should meet or exceed industry standards for use at firing ranges (29 CFR 
1910.95). 
 

VI. EYE PROTECTION 

Approved eye protection, including side protection, shall be used by members during 
firearms training. Eye protection for members who wear prescription lenses shall 
incorporate the prescription (e.g., eye protection that can be worn over prescription 
lenses). Members shall ensure their eye protection does not interfere with the fit of their 
hearing protection. 
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The Rangemaster should ensure eye protection meets or exceeds consensus standards 
set by the American National Standards Institute (29 CFR 1910.133). 

 
VII. RECORDS 

The Training Coordinator is responsible for maintaining records of all: (a) PPE training. 

The records should be maintained in accordance with the established records retention 
schedule and 29 CFR 1910.1020. 

 
VIII. TRAINING 

Members should be trained in the respiratory and other hazards to which they may be 
potentially exposed during routine and emergency situations. 

All members should be trained in the proper use and maintenance of PPE issued to 
them, including when the use is appropriate; how to put on, remove, and adjust PPE; 
how to care for the PPE; and the limitations (29 CFR 1910.132). 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Crime Analysis POLICY NUMBER 

02.21.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

 

 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
 

I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 
 
It is the policy of the Division of Gaming Enforcement to utilize crime analysis as a tool in 
crime control and prevention efforts. This entails gathering, analyzing and correlating 
data to effectively deploy the resources of this division. 
 

II. PURPOSE 
 
This policy provides guidelines for utilizing crime analysis to support the overall law 
enforcement efforts of the Division of Gaming Enforcement. It addresses the collection 
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and dissemination of crime analysis data that is useful to long-range planning and that 
can assist in identifying enforcement priorities, strategies and tactics. 
 
 

III. DATA SOURCES 
 

Crime analysis data is extracted from many sources including, but not limited to: 
 

1. Crime reports. 
 

2. Field Interview (FI) cards. 
 

3. Parole and probation records. 
 

4. Activity records from Regional Communications Center. 
 

5. Florida Department of Law Enforcement offender databases and alerts. 
 

6. Florida Fusion Center. 
 

7. Florida Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles databases and reports. 
 

IV. CRIME ANALYSIS FACTORS 
 
The following minimum criteria should be used in collecting data for crime analysis: 

 
1. Frequency by type of crime 

 
2. Geographic factors 

 
3. Temporal factors 

 
4. Victim and target descriptors 

 
5. Suspect descriptors 

 
6. Suspect vehicle descriptors 

 
7. Modus operandi factors 

 
8. Physical evidence information 

 
V. CRIME ANALYSIS DISSEMINATION 
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Information developed through crime analysis should be disseminated to the appropriate 
sections or members on a timely basis. Information that is relevant to the operational or 
tactical plans of specific line members should be sent directly to them. Information 
relevant to the development of division strategic plans should be provided to the 
appropriate command staff members. 
 
When information pertains to tactical and strategic plans, it should be provided to all 
affected members. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   



02.21.01 4 of 3 Lexipol #800 
 

Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Custodial Searches POLICY NUMBER 

02.25.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

CFA 5.19 - 2.01M, 21.02M, 22.04M (A), (B) 
CFA 5.20 - 2.01M, 21.02M, 22.04M (A), (B) 

Section 901.211, F.S. 
28 CFR 115.115 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
 

I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 
 
All searches shall be conducted with concern for safety, dignity, courtesy, respect for 
privacy and hygiene, and in compliance with policy and law to protect the rights of those 
who are subject to any search. 
 
Searches shall not be used for intimidation, harassment, punishment or retaliation. 
 

II. PURPOSE 
 
This policy provides guidance regarding searches of individuals in custody. Such 
searches are necessary to eliminate the introduction of contraband, intoxicants or 
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weapons into a law enforcement or jail facility. Such items can pose a serious risk to the 
safety and security of division members, individuals in custody, contractors and the 
public. 
 
Nothing in this policy is intended to prohibit the otherwise lawful collection of evidence 
from an individual in custody. 
 

III. DEFINITIONS 
 
Definitions related to this policy include: 
 

A. Custody search - An in-custody search of an individual and of his/her property, 
shoes and clothing, including pockets, cuffs and folds on the clothing, to remove 
all weapons, dangerous items and contraband. 
 

B. Physical body cavity search - A search that includes a visual inspection and 
may include a physical intrusion into a body cavity. Body cavity means the 
stomach or rectal cavity of an individual, and the vagina of a female person. 
 

C. Strip search - A search that requires an individual to remove or rearrange some 
or all of his/ her clothing to permit a visual inspection of the underclothing, 
breasts, buttocks, anus or outer genitalia (Section 901.211, F.S.). This includes 
monitoring an individual who is changing clothes, where his/her underclothing, 
buttocks, genitalia or female breasts are visible. 

 
IV. FIELD AND TRANSPORTATION SEARCHES 

 
A special agent shall conduct a custody search of an individual for weapons and 
contraband immediately after the individual's arrest, when receiving an individual from 
the custody of another, and before transporting a person who is in custody in any 
division vehicle. 
 
Whenever practicable, a custody search should be conducted by a special agent or 
other on-scene law enforcement officer of the same sex as the person being searched. If 
a special agent of the same sex is not reasonably available, a witnessing special agent 
should be present during the search. CFA 5.19 - 21.02M CFA 5.20 - 21.02M 
 

V. SEARCHES AT POLICE FACILITIES 
 
Custody searches shall be conducted on all individuals in custody, upon entry to the 
Division of Gaming Enforcement facilities. Except in exigent circumstances, the search 
should be conducted by a member of the same sex as the individual being searched. If a 
member of the same sex is not available, a witnessing member must be present during 
the search. 
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Custody searches should also be conducted any time an individual in custody enters or 
re-enters a secure area, or any time it is reasonably believed that a search is necessary 
to maintain the safety and security of the facility. CFA 5.19 - 22.04M (A) CFA 5.20 - 
22.04M (A) 
 

1. Property 
 
Members shall take reasonable care in handling the property of an individual in 
custody to avoid discrepancies or losses. Property retained for safekeeping shall 
be kept in a secure location until the individual is released or transferred. 
 
Some property may not be accepted by a facility or agency that is taking custody 
of an individual from this division, such as weapons or large items. These items 
should be retained for safekeeping in accordance with the Property and Evidence 
Section Policy. 
 
All property shall be inventoried by objective description (this does not include an 
estimated value). The individual from whom it was taken shall be required to sign 
the completed inventory. If the individual's signature cannot be obtained, the 
inventory shall be witnessed by another division member. The inventory should 
include the case number, date, time, member's Division of Gaming Enforcement 
identification number and information regarding how and when the property may 
be released. CFA 5.19 - 22.04M (B) CFA 5.20 - 22.04M (B) 
 

2. Verification of Money 
 
All money shall be counted in front of the individual from whom it was received. 
When possible, the individual shall initial the dollar amount on the inventory. 
Additionally, all money should be placed in a separate envelope and sealed. 
Negotiable checks or other instruments and foreign currency should also be 
sealed in an envelope with the amount indicated but not added to the cash total. 
All envelopes should clearly indicate the contents on the front. The division 
member sealing it should place his/her initials across the sealed flap. Should any 
money be withdrawn or added, the member making such change shall enter the 
amount below the original entry and initial it. The amount of money in the 
envelope should always be totaled and written on the outside of the envelope. 

 
VI. STRIP SEARCHES 

 
A person arrested for a traffic, regulatory or nonviolent misdemeanor offense shall not be 
subjected to a strip search unless the offense involves a weapon or a controlled 
substance, or if there is probable cause to believe the person is concealing a weapon, 
stolen property or a controlled substance (Section 901.211, F.S.). Factors to be 
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considered in determining reasonable suspicion and probable cause include, but are not 
limited to: 
 

A. The detection of an object during a custody search that may be a weapon or 
contraband and cannot be safely retrieved without a strip search. 
 

B. Circumstances of a current arrest that specifically indicate the individual may be 
concealing a weapon or contraband. 
 

1. A felony arrest charge or being under the influence of a controlled 
substance should not suffice as reasonable suspicion absent other facts. 
 

C. Custody history (e.g., past possession of contraband while in custody, assaults 
on division members, escape attempts). 
 

D. The individual's actions or demeanor. 
 

E. Criminal history (i.e., level of experience in a custody setting). 
 

No transgender or intersex individual shall be searched or examined for the sole 
purpose of determining the individual's genital status. If the individual's genital status is 
unknown, it may be determined during conversations with the person, by reviewing 
medical records, or as a result of a broader medical examination conducted in private by 
a medical practitioner (28 CFR 115.115). 
 

1. Strip Search Procedures 
 
Strip searches at Division of Gaming Enforcement facilities shall be conducted as 
follows (28 CFR 115.115; Section 901.211, F.S., CFA 5.19 - 2.01M, CFA 5.20 - 
2.01M): 

 
A. Written authorization from the Special Agent Supervisor shall be obtained 

prior to the strip search. 
 

B.  All members involved with the strip search shall be of the same sex as 
the individual being searched, unless the search is conducted by a 
medical practitioner. 
 

C. All strip searches shall be conducted in a professional manner under 
sanitary conditions and in a secure area of privacy so that the search 
cannot be observed by those not participating in the search. The search 
shall not be reproduced through a visual or sound recording. 
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D. Whenever possible, a second member of the same sex should also be 
present during the search, for security and as a witness to the finding of 
evidence. 
 

E. Members conducting a strip search shall not touch the breasts, buttocks 
or genitalia of the individual being searched. 
 

F. The primary member conducting the search shall prepare a written report 
to include: 
 

1. The facts that led to the decision to perform a strip search. 
 

2. The reasons less intrusive methods of searching were not used or 
were insufficient. 
 

3. The written authorization for the search, obtained from the Special 
Agent Supervisor. 
 

4. The name of the individual who was searched. 
 

5. The name and sex of the members who conducted the search. 
 

6. The name, sex and role of any person present during the search. 
 

7. The time and date of the search. 
 

8. The place at which the search was conducted. 
 

9. A list of the items, if any, that were recovered. 
 

10. The facts upon which the member based his/her belief that the 
individual was concealing a weapon or contraband. 
 

G. No member should view an individual's private underclothing, buttocks, 
genitalia or female breasts while that individual is performing bodily 
functions or changing clothes, unless he/she otherwise qualifies for a strip 
search. 

 
VII. PHYSICAL BODY CAVITY SEARCH 

 
Physical body cavity searches shall be strictly prohibited. CFA 5.19 - 2.01M CFA 5.20 - 
2.01M 
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VIII. TRAINING 
 
The Training Coordinator shall ensure members have training that includes (28 CFR 
115.115):  
 

A. Conducting searches of cross-gender individuals. 
 

B. Conducting searches of transgender and intersex individuals. 
 

C. Conducting searches in a professional and respectful manner, and in the least 
intrusive manner possible, consistent with security needs. 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Body Armor POLICY NUMBER 

02.27.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

CFA 5.19 - 14.10M (A), (B), (C)   
CFA 5.20 - 14.10M (A), (B), (C)   

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
 

I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 
 
It is the policy of the Division of Gaming Enforcement to maximize special agent safety 
through the use of body armor when appropriate in combination with prescribed safety 
procedures. While body armor provides a significant level of protection, it is not a 
substitute for the observance of special agent safety procedures. 
 

II. PURPOSE 
 

The purpose of this policy is to provide special agents with guidelines for the proper use 
of body armor. 
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III. ISSUANCE 
 

The Chief of Law Enforcement shall ensure that body armor is issued to all special 
agents and that, when issued, the body armor meets or exceeds the standards of the 
National Institute of Justice. 
 
Body armor shall be issued when a special agent begins service at the Division of 
Gaming Enforcement and shall be replaced when the body armor becomes expired, 
worn or damaged to the point that its effectiveness or functionality has been 
compromised. CFA 5.19 - 14.10M (B) CFA 5.20 - 14.10M (B) 
 

1. Use 
 
Generally, the required use of body armor is subject to the following (CFA 5.19 - 
14.10M (A), 14.10M (C) CFA 5.20 - 14.10M (A), 14.10M (C)): 

 
A. Members shall only wear division-approved body armor. 

 
B. Members shall wear body armor any time they are in a situation where 

they could reasonably be expected to take enforcement action. 
 

C. Members shall wear body armor when taking part in division range 
training. 
 

D. Members are not required to wear body armor when they are functioning 
primarily in an administrative or support capacity and would not 
reasonably be expected to take enforcement action. 
 

E. Special Agents may be excused from wearing body armor when they are 
involved in undercover or plainclothes work that their supervisor 
determines could be compromised by wearing body armor, or when a 
supervisor determines that other circumstances make it inappropriate to 
mandate wearing body armor. 
 

1. In those instances when body armor is not worn, special agents 
should have reasonable access to their body armor. 

 
2. Inspection 

 
Supervisors should ensure through routine observation and periodic documented 
inspections that body armor is worn and maintained in accordance with this 
policy. 
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Annual inspections of body armor should be conducted by a person trained to 
perform the inspection for fit, cleanliness, signs of damage, abuse, and wear, and 
to confirm the body armor is not expired. 
 

3. Care and Maintenance 
 
The required care and maintenance of body armor is subject to the following: 
 

A. Members are responsible for inspecting their body armor for signs of 
damage, wear and cleanliness at the start of each shift. 
 

1. Unserviceable body armor shall be reported to the supervisor.  
 

B. Members are responsible for the proper storage of their body armor. 
 

1. Body armor should not be stored for an extended period of time in 
an area where environmental conditions (e.g., temperature, light, 
humidity) could potentially degrade its effectiveness. 
 

C. Members are responsible for the care and cleaning of their body armor 
pursuant to the manufacturer’s care instructions. 
 

1. Body armor should not be exposed to any cleaning agents or 
methods not specifically recommended by the manufacturer. 
 

2. Failure to follow manufacturer’s care instructions may damage the 
ballistic performance capabilities of the body armor. If care 
instructions for the body armor cannot be located, the 
manufacturer should be contacted to request the instructions. 
 

D. Body armor should be replaced in accordance with the manufacturer’s 
recommended replacement schedule, or when its effectiveness or 
functionality has been compromised. 

 
IV. CHIEF OF LAW ENFORCEMENT RESPONSIBILITIES 

 
The responsibilities of the Chief of Law Enforcement include, but are not limited to: 
 

A. Monitoring technological advances in the body armor industry for any appropriate 
changes to division-approved body armor. 
 

B. Assessing the level of weapons and ammunition currently utilized by the public 
and the suitability of approved body armor to protect against those threats. 
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C. Educating special agents about the safety benefits of wearing body armor. 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Fitness for Duty POLICY NUMBER 

02.28.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

CFA 5.19 - 2.07M 
CFA 5.20 - 2.07M 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
 

I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 
 
The Division of Gaming Enforcement strives to provide a safe and productive work 
environment and ensure that all members of this division can safely and effectively 
perform the essential functions of their jobs. Under limited circumstances, the Division 
may require a professional evaluation of a member’s physical and/or mental capabilities 
to determine his/her ability to perform essential functions. 
 

II. PURPOSE 
 
Monitoring members’ fitness for duty is essential for the safety and welfare of the 
members of the Division and the community. The purpose of this policy is to ensure that 
all members of this division remain fit for duty and able to perform their job functions. 
 

III. MEMBER RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
It is the responsibility of each member of this division to maintain physical stamina and 
psychological stability sufficient to safely and effectively perform the essential duties of 
his/her position. 
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During working hours, all members are required to be alert, attentive and capable of 
performing their assigned responsibilities. 
 
Any member who feels unable to perform his/her duties shall promptly notify a 
supervisor. In the event that a member believes that another division member is unable 
to perform his/her duties, such observations and/or belief shall be promptly reported to a 
supervisor. 
 

IV. SUPERVISOR RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
All supervisors should be alert to any indication that a member may be unable to safely 
perform his/her duties due to an underlying physical or psychological impairment or 
condition. 
 
Such indications may include: 
 

A. An abrupt and negative change in the member’s normal behavior.  
 

B. A pattern of irrational conduct, hostility or oppositional behavior.  
 

C. Personal expressions of instability. 
 

D. Inappropriate use of alcohol or other substances, including prescribed 
medication. 
 

E. A pattern of questionable judgment, impulsive behavior or the inability to manage 
emotions. 
 

F. Any other factor or combination of factors causing a supervisor to believe the 
member may be suffering from an impairment or condition requiring intervention. 

 
Supervisors shall maintain the confidentiality of any information consistent with this 
policy. 

 
 

1. Reporting 
 
A supervisor observing a member, or receiving a report of a member, who is 
perceived to be unable to safely or effectively perform his/her duties shall 
promptly document all objective information and/or observations. 
 
The supervisor should attempt to meet with the member to inquire about the 
conduct or behavior giving rise to the concerns. 
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Whether a meeting does or does not resolve the supervisor's concerns or does 
not take place, the supervisor shall promptly document his/her observations and 
actions in a written report and inform the Chief of Law Enforcement or in his/her 
absence notify the Director of Gaming Enforcement (Director). 
 

1. Duty Status 
 
In conjunction with the Chief of Law Enforcement, the Director should make a 
preliminary determination regarding the member's duty status. 
 
If a determination is made that the member can safely and effectively perform the 
essential functions of his/her job, the member should be returned to duty and 
arrangements made for appropriate follow-up. 
 
If a preliminary determination is made that the member's conduct or behavior 
represents an inability to safely and effectively perform the essential functions of 
his/her job, the Chief of Law Enforcement or Director should immediately relieve 
the member of duty pending further evaluation. 
 
Employees relieved of duty shall comply with the administrative leave provisions 
of the Personnel Complaints Policy. CFA 5.19 - 2.07M CFA 5.20 - 2.07M 
 

V. FITNESS-FOR-DUTY EVALUATIONS 
 
A fitness-for-duty evaluation may be ordered whenever circumstances reasonably 
indicate that a member is unfit for duty or following an officer-involved shooting or death-
in-custody incident. 
 

1. Process 
 
The Director of Gaming Enforcement, in cooperation with the Office of Human 
Resources, may order the member to undergo a fitness-for-duty evaluation. 
 
The examining practitioner will provide the Division with a report indicating 
whether the member is fit for duty. If the member is not fit for duty, the 
practitioner will include the existing restrictions or conditions in the report. 
 
In order to facilitate the evaluation of any member, the Division will provide all 
appropriate documents and available information. 
 
All reports and evaluations submitted by the examining practitioner shall be part 
of the member’s confidential medical file. 
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Any member ordered to undergo a fitness-for-duty evaluation shall comply with 
the terms of the order and cooperate fully with the examining practitioner. Any 
failure to comply with such an order and any failure to cooperate with the 
practitioner may be deemed insubordination and shall subject the member to 
discipline, up to and including termination. 
 
Determinations regarding duty status of members who are found to be unfit for 
duty or fit for duty with limitations will be made in cooperation with the Office of 
Human Resources. 
 

VI. LIMITATION ON HOURS WORKED 
 
Absent emergency operations, members should not work more than: 
 

 16 hours in a one-day (24 hours) period 
 

 30 hours in any two-day (48 hours) period 
 

 84 hours in any seven-day (168 hours) period 
 

Except in unusual circumstances, members should have a minimum of eight hours off 
between shifts. Supervisors should give consideration to reasonable rest periods and 
are authorized to deny overtime or relieve any member who has exceeded the above 
guidelines to off-duty status. 

 
Limitations on the number of hours worked apply to shift changes, shift trades, rotation, 
holdovers, training, general overtime and any other work assignments. 
 
 

VII. APPEALS 
 
Employees disputing the application or interpretation of this policy may submit a 
grievance as provided in the Grievances Policy. 
 

 
 
 
 

 
________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Uniforms and Civilian Attire POLICY NUMBER 

02.29.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
 

I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 
 

The Division of Gaming Enforcement will provide uniforms for all employees who are 
required to wear them in the manner, quantity and frequency agreed upon in the 
respective employee group’s collective bargaining agreement. The Division may provide 
other division members with uniforms at the direction of the Director of Gaming 
Enforcement. 
 
All uniforms and equipment issued to division members shall be returned to the Division 
upon termination or resignation. 
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II. PURPOSE 
 
This policy provides guidelines for Division of Gaming Enforcement-authorized uniforms 
and civilian attire regulations. It is established to ensure that uniformed members will be 
readily identifiable to the public through the proper use and wearing of division uniforms, 
and that the appearance of members who wear civilian attire reflects favorably on the 
Division. 
 
This policy addresses the wearing and maintenance of division uniforms and badges; 
the requirements for members who wear civilian attire; and the authorized use of 
optional equipment and accessories by members of the Division. 
 
Other related topics are addressed in the Badges, Patches and Identification, Division-
Owned and Personal Property, and Personal Appearance Standards policies. 
 

III. UNIFORMS 
 
The Director of Gaming Enforcement or the authorized designee shall maintain and 
update uniform and equipment specifications, which should be consulted by all members 
as needed. Uniforms shall be worn as described therein and as specified in this policy. 
 
The following shall apply to those assigned to wear division-issued uniforms: 
 

A. Uniforms and equipment shall be maintained in a serviceable condition and shall 
be ready at all times for immediate use. Uniforms shall be neat, clean and appear 
professionally pressed. 
 

B. Uniforms shall be worn in compliance with any applicable division specifications.  
 

C. Members shall wear only the uniforms specified for their ranks and assignments. 
 

D. Civilian attire shall not be worn in combination with any distinguishable part of a 
uniform. 
 

E. Uniforms are only to be worn while on-duty, for court, at official division functions 
or events, while in transit to or from work, or when authorized by the Director of 
Gaming Enforcement or the authorized designee. 
 

F. Members are not to purchase or drink alcoholic beverages while wearing any 
part of division-issued uniforms, including the uniform pants. 
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G. All supervisors will perform periodic inspections of members under their 
commands to ensure conformance to this policy. 

 
1. Mourning Band 

 
Uniformed members shall wear a black mourning band across the division badge 
whenever a law enforcement officer is killed in the line of duty or as directed by 
the Director of Gaming Enforcement. The following mourning periods will be 
observed: 
 

A. Division of Gaming Enforcement special agent - From the time of death 
until midnight on the 14th day after the death. 
 

B. A special agent from this or an adjacent county - From the time of death 
until midnight on the day of the funeral. 
 

C. Funeral attendee - While attending the funeral of an out-of-region fallen 
officer. 
 

D. National Peace Officers’ Memorial Day (May 15) - From 0001 hours until 
2359 hours.  
 

E. As directed by the Director of Gaming Enforcement. 
 

IV. UNIFORM CLASSES 
 
The Director of Gaming Enforcement or the authorized designee shall determine the 
uniform to be worn by each division member or any deviations that may be authorized. 
 
Uniforms are classified as follows: 
 

A. Class C - General utility uniform to be worn by designated Division members 
 

1. Class C Uniform 
 
The Director of Gaming Enforcement or the authorized designee will establish 
the specifications, regulations and conditions for wearing the Class C uniform. 
 

V. CIVILIAN ATTIRE 
 
There are assignments within the Division that do not require a uniform because 
recognition and authority are not essential to their functions. There are also assignments 
for which civilian attire is necessary. 
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A. Civilian attire shall fit properly, be clean and free of stains, and not be damaged 
or excessively worn. 

B. Members assigned to administrative, investigative and support positions shall 
wear business-appropriate clothing that is conservative in style. 
 

C. Variations from this policy are allowed at the discretion of the Director of Gaming 
Enforcement or the authorized designee when the member's assignment or 
current task is not conducive to wearing such clothing. 
 

D. No item of civilian attire may be worn while on-duty that would adversely affect 
the reputation of the Division of Gaming Enforcement or the morale of the 
members. 
 

E. The following items shall not be worn while on-duty or when representing the 
Division in any official capacity: 
 

1. Clothing that reveals cleavage, the back, chest, stomach or buttocks 
 

2. T-shirt alone or exposed undergarments 
 

3. Denim pants of any color 
 

4. Open-toed shoes 
 

5. Clothing, buttons or pins displaying racial, sexual, discriminatory, gang-
related or obscene language 

 
VI. OPTIONAL EQUIPMENT 

 
Any items that are allowed by the Division of Gaming Enforcement but that have been 
identified as optional shall be purchased entirely at the expense of the member. No part 
of the purchase cost shall be offset by the division. 
 
Maintenance of optional items shall be the financial responsibility of the purchasing 
member (e.g., repairs due to normal wear and tear). 
 
Replacement of items listed in this policy as optional shall be managed as follows: 

 
A. When the item is no longer functional because of normal wear and tear, the 

member bears the full cost of replacement. 
 

B. When the item is no longer functional because of damage in the course of the 
member’s duties, it shall be replaced in accordance with the Division-Owned and 
Personal Property Policy. 
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VII. UNAUTHORIZED UNIFORMS, EQUIPMENT AND ACCESSORIES 
 
Division of Gaming Enforcement members may not wear any uniform item, accessory or 
attachment unless specifically authorized by the Director of Gaming Enforcement or the 
authorized designee. 
 
Division members may not use or carry any safety item, tool or other piece of equipment 
unless specifically authorized by the Director of Gaming Enforcement or the authorized 
designee. 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Conflict of Interest POLICY NUMBER 

02.30.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

CFA 5.19 - 12.03  

CFA 5.20 - 12.03 

Section 112.3135, F.S. 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
 

I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 
 
Members of the Division of Gaming Enforcement are expected to conduct themselves 
with the utmost professional integrity and objectivity. Members will guard against actual 
or perceived conflicts of interest in order to ensure the fair and equitable treatment of 
division members and the public, and thereby maintain the trust of the public and 
division members. 
 

II. PURPOSE 
 
The purpose of this policy is to assist members in recognizing and avoiding potential 
conflicts of interest, thereby ensuring effective and ethical operating practices on the part 
of the Division of Gaming Enforcement. 
 
 



02.30.01 2 of 3 Lexipol #1024 
 

 
III. DEFINITIONS 

 
Definitions related to this policy include: 

 
A. Conflict of interest- Any actual, perceived or potential conflict, in which it 

reasonably appears that a member’s action, inaction or decisions are or may be 
influenced by a personal or business relationship. 
 

IV. PROHIBITIONS 
 
The Division prohibits the following types of personal or business relationships among 
members (CFA 5.19 - 12.03 CFA 5.20 - 12.03): 
 

A. Members are prohibited from directly supervising, occupying a position in the line 
of supervision or being directly supervised by any other member who is a relative 
or with whom they are involved in a personal or business relationship. 
 

1. If circumstances require that such a supervisor/subordinate relationship 
exist temporarily, the supervisor shall make every reasonable effort to 
defer matters pertaining to the involved member to an uninvolved 
supervisor. 
 

2. When personnel and circumstances permit, the Division will attempt to 
make every reasonable effort to avoid placing members in such 
supervisor/ subordinate situations. The Division, however, reserves the 
right to transfer or reassign any member to another position within the 
same classification in order to avoid conflicts with any provision of this 
policy. 
 

B. Members are prohibited from participating in, contributing to or recommending 
promotions, assignments, performance evaluations, transfers or other personnel 
decisions affecting a member who is a relative or with whom they are involved in 
a personal or business relationship. 
 

C. Whenever possible, field training officers (FTOs) and other trainers will not be 
assigned to train relatives. Division FTOs and other trainers are prohibited from 
entering into or maintaining personal or business relationships with any member 
they are assigned to train until such time as the training has been successfully 
completed and the person is off probation. 

 
V. MEMBER RESPONSIBILITIES 

 



02.30.01 3 of 3 Lexipol #1024 
 

Members shall avoid situations that create a conflict of interest. Members should take 
reasonable steps to address a perception of a conflict of interest when such a perception 
is reasonably foreseeable and avoidable (e.g., deferring a decision to an uninvolved 
member). 
 
Whenever any member is placed in circumstances that would require him/her to take 
enforcement action or to provide official information or services to any relative or 
individual with whom the member is involved in a personal or business relationship, that 
member shall promptly notify his/ her uninvolved, immediate supervisor. 
 
In the event that no uninvolved supervisor is immediately available, the member shall 
promptly notify the dispatcher to have another uninvolved member either relieve the 
involved member or, minimally, remain present to witness the action. 
 

VI. SUPERVISOR RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
Upon being notified of or otherwise becoming aware of any circumstance that could 
result in or constitute an actual or potential violation of this policy, a supervisor shall take 
all reasonable steps to promptly mitigate or avoid such violations whenever possible. 
Supervisors shall also promptly notify the Director of Gaming Enforcement or the 
authorized designee of such actual or potential violations through the chain of command. 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE: Line-of-Duty Deaths POLICY NUMBER 

02.32.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

Section 112.19, F.S. 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
 

I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 
 
It is the policy of the Division of Gaming Enforcement to make appropriate notifications 
and to provide assistance and support to survivors and coworkers of a member who dies 
in the line of duty. 
 
It is also the policy of this division to respect the requests of the survivors when they 
conflict with these guidelines, as appropriate. 

 
II. PURPOSE 
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The purpose of this policy is to provide guidance to members of the Division of Gaming 
Enforcement in the event of the death of a member occurring in the line of duty and to 
direct the Division in providing proper support for the member’s survivors. 
The Director of Gaming Enforcement may also apply some or all of this policy in 
situations where members are injured in the line of duty and the injuries are life-
threatening. 
 

III. DEFINITIONS 
 
Definitions related to this policy include: 
 

A. Line-of-duty death - The death of a sworn member during the course of 
performing law enforcement-related functions while on- or off-duty, or a non-
sworn member during the course of performing their assigned duties. 
 

B. Survivors - Immediate family members of the deceased member, which can 
include spouse, children, parents, other next of kin or significant others. The 
determination of who should be considered a survivor for purposes of this policy 
should be made on a case-by-case basis given the individual’s relationship with 
the member and whether the individual was previously designated by the 
deceased member. 

 
IV. INITIAL ACTIONS BY COMMAND STAFF 

 
A. Upon learning of a line-of-duty death, the deceased member's supervisor should 

provide all reasonably available information to the Chief of Law Enforcement and 
the Regional Communications Center. 
 

1. Communication of information concerning the member and the incident 
should be restricted to secure networks to avoid interception by the media 
or others (see the External Affairs Director section of this policy). 
 

B. The Special Agent Supervisor should ensure that notifications are made in 
accordance with the Officer-Involved Shootings and Deaths and Major Incident 
Notification policies as applicable. 
 

C. The Director of Gaming Enforcement or the authorized designee should, as soon 
as practicable, notify the Executive Director of the FGCC and the FGCC Division 
of Administration/Human Resources of the member’s death.   

 
D. If the member has been transported to the hospital, the Special Agent Supervisor 

or the designee should respond to the hospital to assume temporary 
responsibilities as the Hospital Liaison. 
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E. The Director of Gaming Enforcement or the authorized designee should assign 
members to handle survivor notifications and assign members to the roles of 
Hospital Liaison (to relieve the temporary Hospital Liaison) and the Division 
Liaison as soon as practicable (see the Notifying Survivors section and the 
Division Liaison and Hospital Liaison subsections in this policy). 

 
V. NOTIFYING SURVIVORS 

 
Survivors should be notified as soon as possible in order to avoid the survivors hearing 
about the incident in other ways. 

 
The Director of Gaming Enforcement or the authorized designee should review the 
deceased member's emergency contact information and make accommodations to 
respect the member's wishes and instructions specific to notifying survivors. However, 
notification should not be excessively delayed because of attempts to assemble a 
notification team in accordance with the member's wishes. 
 
The Director of Gaming Enforcement, Chief of Law Enforcement or the authorized 
designee should select at least two members to conduct notification of survivors. 
 
Notifying members should: 
 

A. Make notifications in a direct and compassionate manner, communicating as 
many facts of the incident as possible, including the current location of the 
member. Information that is not verified should not be provided until an 
investigation has been completed. 
 

B. Determine the method of notifying surviving children by consulting with other 
survivors and taking into account factors such as the child's age, maturity and 
current location (e.g., small children at home, children in school). 
 

C. Plan for concerns such as known health concerns of survivors or language 
barriers. 
 

D. Offer to transport survivors to the hospital, if appropriate. Survivors should be 
transported in division vehicles. Notifying members shall inform the Hospital 
Liaison over a secure network that the survivors are on their way to the hospital 
and should remain at the hospital while the survivors are present. 
 

E. When survivors are not at their residences or known places of employment, 
actively seek information and follow leads from neighbors, other law 
enforcement, postal authorities and other sources of information in order to 
accomplish notification in as timely a fashion as possible. Notifying members 
shall not disclose the reason for their contact other than a family emergency. 
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F. If making notification at a survivor's workplace, ask a workplace supervisor for 

the use of a quiet, private room to meet with the survivor. Members shall not 
inform the workplace supervisor of the purpose of their visit other than to indicate 
that it is a family emergency. 

G. Offer to call other survivors, friends or clergy to support the survivors and to 
avoid leaving survivors alone after notification. 
 

H. Assist the survivors with meeting childcare or other immediate needs. 
 

I. Provide other assistance to survivors and take reasonable measures to 
accommodate their needs, wishes and desires. Care should be taken not to 
make promises or commitments to survivors that cannot be met. 
 

J. Inform the survivors of the name and phone number of the Survivor Support 
Liaison (see the Survivor Support Liaison section of this policy), if known, and the 
Division Liaison. 
 

K. Provide their contact information to the survivors before departing. 
 

L. Document the survivor's names and contact information, as well as the time and 
location of notification. This information should be forwarded to the Division 
Liaison. 
 

M. Inform the Director of Gaming Enforcement or the authorized designee once 
survivor notifications have been made so that other Division of Gaming 
Enforcement members may be apprised that survivor notifications are complete. 
 

1. Out-of-Area Notifications 
 
The Division Liaison should request assistance from law enforcement agencies 
in appropriate jurisdictions for in-person notification to survivors who are out of 
the area. 

 
a. The Division Liaison should contact the appropriate jurisdiction using a 

secure network and provide the assisting agency with the name and 
telephone number of the division member that the survivors can call for 
more information following the notification by the assisting agency. 
 

b. The Division Liaison may assist in making transportation arrangements 
for the member’s survivors, but will not obligate the Division to pay travel 
expenses without the authorization of the Director of Gaming 
Enforcement. 

 



02.32.01 5 of 15 Lexipol #1029 
 

VI. NOTIFYING DIVISION MEMBERS 
 
Supervisors or members designated by the Director of Gaming Enforcement are 
responsible for notifying division members of the line-of-duty death as soon as possible 
after the survivor notification is made. Notifications and related information should be 
communicated in person or using secure networks and should not be transmitted over 
the radio. 
 
Notifications should be made in person and as promptly as possible to all members on-
duty at the time of the incident. Members reporting for subsequent shifts within a short 
amount of time should be notified in person at the beginning of their shift. Members 
reporting for duty from their residence should be instructed to contact their supervisor as 
soon as practicable. Those members who are working later shifts or are on days off 
should be notified by phone as soon as practicable. 
 
Members having a close bond with the deceased member should be notified of the 
incident in person. Supervisors should consider assistance (e.g., peer support, modifying 
work schedules, approving leave for members who are especially affected by the 
incident. 
 
Supervisors should direct members not to disclose any information outside the Division 
regarding the deceased member or the incident. 
 

VII. LIAISONS AND COORDINATORS 
 
The Director of Gaming Enforcement or the authorized designee should select members 
to serve as liaisons and coordinators to handle responsibilities related to a line-of-duty 
death, including but not limited to: 

 
a. Division Liaison. 

 
b. Hospital Liaison. 

 
c. Survivor Support Liaison. 

 
d. Wellness Support Liaison. 

 
e. Funeral Liaison. 

 
f. Mutual aid coordinator. 

 
g. Benefits Liaison. 

 
h. Finance coordinator. 
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Liaisons and coordinators will be directed by the Division Liaison and should be given 
sufficient duty time to complete their assignments. 
Members may be assigned responsibilities of more than one liaison or coordinator 
position depending on available division resources. The Division Liaison may assign 
separate liaisons and coordinators to accommodate multiple family units, if needed. 
 

1. Division Liaison 
 
The Division Liaison should be Chief of Law Enforcement or of sufficient rank to 
effectively coordinate division resources, and should serve as a facilitator 
between the deceased member's survivors and the Division. The Division Liaison 
reports directly to the Director of Gaming Enforcement. The Division Liaison's 
responsibilities include, but are not limited to: 
 

a. Directing the other liaisons and coordinators in fulfilling survivors' needs 
and requests. Consideration should be given to organizing the effort using 
the National Incident Management System (NIMS). 
 

b. Establishing contact with survivors within 24 hours of the incident and 
providing them contact information. 
 

c. Advising survivors of the other liaison and coordinator positions and their 
roles and responsibilities. 
 

d. Identifying locations that will accommodate a law enforcement funeral and 
presenting the options to the appropriate survivors, who will select the 
location. 
 

e. Coordinating all official law enforcement notifications and arrangements. 
Making necessary contacts for authorization to display flags at half-mast. 
 

f. Ensuring that division members are reminded of appropriate information-
sharing restrictions regarding the release of information that could 
undermine future legal proceedings. 
 

g. Coordinating security checks of the member's residence as necessary 
and reasonable. 
 

h. Serving as a liaison with visiting law enforcement agencies during 
memorial and funeral services. 

 
2. Hospital Liaison 
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The Hospital Liaison should work with hospital personnel to: 
 

a. Arrange for appropriate and separate waiting areas for: 
 

1. The survivors and others whose presence is requested by the 
survivors. 
 

2. Division members and friends of the deceased member. 
 

3. Media personnel. 
 

b. Ensure, as much as practicable, that any suspects who are in the hospital 
and their families or friends are not in close proximity to the member’s 
survivors or Division of Gaming Enforcement members (except for 
members who may be guarding the suspect). 
 

c. Ensure that survivors receive timely updates regarding the member 
before information is released to others. 
 

d. Arrange for survivors to have private time with the member, if requested. 
 

1. The Hospital Liaison or hospital personnel may need to explain 
the condition of the member to the survivors to prepare them 
accordingly. 
 

2. The Hospital Liaison should accompany the survivors into the 
room, if requested. 
 

e. Stay with survivors and ensure that they are provided with other 
assistance as needed at the hospital. 
 

f. If applicable, explain to the survivors why an autopsy may be needed. 
 

g. Ensure hospital bills are directed to the Division, that the survivors are not 
asked to sign as guarantor of payment for any hospital treatment and that 
the member’s residence address, insurance information and next of kin 
are not included on hospital paperwork. 
 

Other responsibilities of the Hospital Liaison include, but are not limited to: 
 

 Arranging transportation for the survivors back to their residence. 
 

 Working with investigators to gather and preserve the deceased 
member’s equipment and other items that may be of evidentiary value. 
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 Documenting his/her actions at the conclusion of his/her duties. 

3. Survivor Support Liaison 
 
The Survivor Support Liaison should work with the Division Liaison if they are not 
one and the same, to fulfill the immediate needs and requests of the survivors of 
any member who has died in the line of duty, and serve as the long-term division 
contact for survivors. 

 
The Survivor Support Liaison should be selected by the Chief of Law 
Enforcement. The following should be considered when selecting the Survivor 
Support Liaison: 

 
 The liaison should be an individual the survivors know and with whom 

they are comfortable working. 
 

 If the survivors have no preference, the selection may be made from 
names recommended by the deceased member's supervisor and/or 
coworkers. The deceased member's partner or close friends may not be 
the best selection for this assignment because the emotional connection 
to the member or survivors may impair their ability to conduct adequate 
liaison duties. 

 
 The liaison must be willing to assume the assignment with an 

understanding of the emotional and time demands involved. 
 

The responsibilities of the Survivor Support Liaison include but are not limited to: 
 

a. Arranging for transportation of survivors to hospitals, places of worship, 
funeral homes, and other locations, as appropriate. 
 

b. Communicating with the Division Liaison if they are not one and the 
same, regarding appropriate security measures for the family residence, 
as needed. 
 

c. If requested by the survivors, providing assistance with instituting 
methods of screening telephone calls made to their residence after the 
incident. 
 

d. Providing assistance with travel and lodging arrangements for out-of-town 
survivors. 
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e. Returning the deceased member's personal effects from the Division and 
the hospital to the survivors. The following should be considered when 
returning the personal effects: 
 

1. Items should not be delivered to the survivors until they are ready 
to receive the items. 
 

2. Items not retained as evidence should be delivered in a clean, 
unmarked box. 
 

3. All clothing not retained as evidence should be cleaned and made 
presentable (e.g., items should be free of blood or other signs of 
the incident). 
 

4. The return of some personal effects may be delayed due to 
ongoing investigations. 
 

f. Assisting with the return of division-issued equipment that may be at the 
deceased member's residence. 
 

1. Unless there are safety concerns, the return of the equipment 
should take place after the funeral at a time and in a manner 
considerate of the survivors' wishes. 
 

g. Working with the Wellness Support Liaison to ensure that survivors have 
access to available counseling services. 
 

h. Coordinating with the agency's External Affairs Director (PIO) to brief the 
survivors on pending press releases related to the incident and to assist 
the survivors with media relations in accordance with their wishes (see 
the External Affairs Director section of this policy). 
 

i. Briefing survivors on investigative processes related to the line-of-duty 
death, such as criminal, internal, and administrative investigations. 
 

j. Informing survivors of any related criminal proceedings and 
accompanying them to such proceedings. 
 

k. Introducing survivors to prosecutors, victim's assistance personnel, and 
other involved personnel as appropriate. 
 

l. Maintaining long-term contact with survivors and taking measures to 
sustain a supportive relationship (e.g., follow-up visits, phone calls, cards 
on special occasions, special support during holidays). 



02.32.01 10 of 15 Lexipol #1029 
 

m. Inviting survivors to division activities, memorial services, or other 
functions as appropriate. 
 
Survivor Support Liaisons providing services after an incident resulting in 
multiple members being killed should coordinate with and support each 
other through conference calls or meetings as necessary. 
 
The Division recognizes that the duties of a Survivor Support Liaison will 
often affect regular assignments over many years, and is committed to 
supporting members in the assignment. 
 
If needed, the Survivor Support Liaison should be issued a personal 
communication device (PCD) owned by the Division to facilitate 
communications necessary to the assignment. The division- issued PCD 
shall be used in accordance with the Personal Communication Devices 
Policy. 

 
4. Wellness Support Liaison 

 
The Wellness Support Liaison should work with the division wellness coordinator 
or the authorized designee and other liaisons and coordinators to make wellness 
support and counseling services available to members and survivors who are 
impacted by a line-of-duty death. The responsibilities of the Wellness Support 
Liaison include but are not limited to: 

 
a. Identifying members who are likely to be significantly affected by the 

incident and may have an increased need for wellness support and 
counseling services, including: 
 

1. Members involved in the incident. 
 

2. Members who witnessed the incident. 
 

3. Members who worked closely with the deceased member but 
were not involved in the incident. 
 

b. Ensuring that members who were involved in or witnessed the incident 
are relieved of division responsibilities until they can receive wellness 
support. 
 

c. Ensuring that wellness support and counseling resources (e.g., peer 
support, Critical Incident Stress Debriefing) are available to members as 
soon as reasonably practicable following the line-of-duty death. 
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d. Coordinating with the Survivor Support Liaison if they are not one and the 
same, to ensure survivors are aware of available wellness support and 
counseling services and assisting with arrangements as needed. 
 

e. Following up with members and the Survivor Support Liaison in the 
months following the incident to determine if additional wellness support 
or counseling services are needed. 

 
5. Funeral Liaison 

 
The Funeral Liaison should work with the Division Liaison and Survivor Support 
Liaison it they are not one and the same and survivors to coordinate funeral 
arrangements to the extent the survivors wish. The Funeral Liaison's 
responsibilities include, but are not limited to: 

 
a. Assisting survivors in working with the funeral director regarding funeral 

arrangements and briefing them on law enforcement funeral procedures. 
 

b. Completing funeral notification to other law enforcement agencies. 
 

c. Coordinating the funeral activities of the Division, including, but not limited 
to the following: 
 

1. Honor Guard 
 

a. Casket watch 
 

b. Color guard 
 

c. Pallbearers 
 

d. Bell/rifle salute 
 

2. Bagpipers/bugler 
 

3. Uniform for burial 
 

4. Flag presentation 
 

5. Last radio call 
 

d. Briefing the Director of Gaming Enforcement and command staff 
concerning funeral arrangements. 
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e. Assigning a special agent to remain at the family home during the viewing 
and funeral. 
 

f. Arranging for transportation of the survivors to and from the funeral home 
and interment site using division vehicles and drivers. 

 
6. Mutual Aid Coordinator 

 
The mutual aid coordinator should work with the Division Liaison and the Funeral 
Liaison if they are not one and the same, to request and coordinate any 
assistance from outside law enforcement agencies needed for, but not limited to: 

 
a. Traffic control during the deceased member's funeral. The mutual aid 

coordinator should perform his/her duties in accordance with the Outside 
Agency Assistance Policy. 
 

7. Benefits Liaison 
 
The Benefits Liaison should provide survivors with information concerning 
available benefits and will assist them in applying for benefits. Responsibilities of 
the Benefits Liaison include, but are not limited to: 

 
a. Confirming the filing of workers’ compensation claims and related 

paperwork (see the Work-Related Illness and Injury Reporting Policy). 
 

b. Researching and assisting survivors with application for federal 
government survivor benefits, such as those offered through the: 
 

1. Public Safety Officers’ Educational Assistance (PSOEA) Program. 
 

2. Social Security Administration. 
 

3. Department of Veterans Affairs. 
 

c. Researching and assisting survivors with application for state and local 
government survivor benefits. 
 

1. Florida state death benefits (Section 112.19, F.S.) including, 
where applicable, funeral expenses, monetary survivor benefits, 
health insurance coverage and education cost waivers at state 
schools. 
 

d. Researching and assisting survivors with application for other survivor 
benefits such as: 
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1. Private foundation survivor benefits programs. 

 
2. Survivor scholarship programs. 

 
e. Researching and informing survivors of support programs sponsored by 

police associations and other organizations. 
 

f. Documenting and informing survivors of inquiries and interest regarding 
public donations to the survivors. 
 

1. If requested, working with the finance coordinator to assist 
survivors with establishing a process for the receipt of public 
donations. 
 

g. Providing survivors with a summary of the nature and amount of benefits 
applied for, including the name of a contact person at each benefit office. 
Printed copies of the summary and benefit application documentation 
should be provided to affected survivors. 
 

h. Maintaining contact with the survivors and assisting with subsequent 
benefit questions and processes as needed. 

 
8. Finance Coordinator 

 
The finance coordinator should work with the Director of Gaming Enforcement 
and the Division Liaison to manage financial matters related to the line-of-duty 
death. The finance coordinator’s responsibilities include, but are not limited to: 
 

a. Establishing methods for purchasing and monitoring costs related to the 
incident. 
 

b. Providing information on finance-related issues, such as: 
 

1. Paying survivors’ travel costs if authorized. 
 

2. Transportation costs for the deceased. 
 

3. Funeral and memorial costs. 
 

4. Related funding or accounting questions and issues. 
c. Working with the Benefits Liaison to establish a process for the receipt of 

public donations to the deceased member’s survivors. 
 



02.32.01 14 of 15 Lexipol #1029 
 

d. Providing accounting and cost information as needed. 
 
 
 

 
VIII. EXTERNAL AFFAIRS DIRECTOR 

 
In the event of a line-of-duty death, the FGCC’s External Affairs Director should be the 
agency's contact point for the media. As such, the PIO should coordinate with the 
Division Liaison to: 

 
a. Collect and maintain the most current incident information and determine what 

information should be released. 
 

b. Ensure that division members are instructed to direct any media inquiries to the 
External Affairs Director. 
 

c. Prepare necessary press releases. 
 

1. Ensure coordination with other entities having media roles (e.g., outside 
agencies involved in the investigation or incident). 
 

2.  Ensure that important public information is disseminated, such as 
information on how the public can show support for the division and 
deceased member's survivors. 
 

d. Arrange for community and media briefings by the Director of Gaming 
Enforcement or the authorized designee as appropriate. 
 

e. Respond, or coordinate the response, to media inquiries. 
 

f. If requested, assist the member's survivors with media inquiries. 
 

1. Brief the survivors on handling sensitive issues such as the types of 
questions that reasonably could jeopardize future legal proceedings. 
 

g. Release information regarding memorial services and funeral arrangements to 
division members, other agencies and the media as appropriate. 
 

h. If desired by the survivors, arrange for the recording of memorial and funeral 
services via photos and/or video. 
 
The identity of deceased members should be withheld until the member's 
survivors have been notified. If the media has obtained identifying information for 
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the deceased member prior to survivor notification, the External Affairs Director 
should request that the media withhold the information from release until proper 
notification can be made to survivors. The External Affairs Director should ensure 
that media are notified when survivor notifications have been made. 

 
IX. INVESTIGATION OF THE INCIDENT 

 
The Director of Gaming Enforcement shall ensure that line-of-duty deaths are 
investigated thoroughly and may choose to use the investigation process outlined in the 
Officer-Involved Shootings and Deaths Policy 

. 
Investigators from other agencies may be assigned to work on any criminal investigation 
related to line-of-duty deaths. Partners, close friends or personnel who worked closely 
with the deceased member should not have any investigative responsibilities because 
such relationships may impair the objectivity required for an impartial investigation of the 
incident. 

 
Involved division members should be kept informed of the progress of the investigations 
and provide investigators with any information that may be pertinent to the 
investigations. 
 

X. NON-LINE-OF-DUTY DEATH 
 
The Director of Gaming Enforcement may authorize certain support services for the 
death of a member not occurring in the line of duty. 
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________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE: Investigative and Evidence 
Revolving Fund 

POLICY NUMBER 

02.33.01  

Law Enforcement 
 

AUTHORITY 

925.055 Florida Statutes 
   

 
EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
 

I. Statement of Policy 
 

The Florida Gaming Control Commission (FGCC) shall establish and maintain a 
procedure for the usage and accountability of the Investigative and Evidence (I & E) 
Revolving Fund for the Division of Gaming Enforcement.  

 
II. Purpose 

 
To establish procedures for documenting an audit trail for the usage and accountability 
of I & E funds that are used to purchase information or physical evidence relating to 
criminal activity. FGCC will provide agents funds when it becomes necessary to obtain 
evidence or make payment to confidential sources for information that would otherwise 
be unavailable. 
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III. Procedures 
 
A. Agents must make requests to the Chief of Law Enforcement Services or    

Director of Law Enforcement in advance and utilize the Information and 
Evidence Revolving Funds Operational Accounting form (F#02.001.01).  This 
form allows agents to request funds and return unused funds. This form must 
be completed and approved prior to requesting a check from the Director of 
Administration. No payments are to be made to confidential sources prior to 
receiving requested I & E funds.  

B. All expenditures in any amount, by issue of check, shall require the 
signatures of two of the following three: Director of Administration, Director 
of Gaming Enforcement, and/or Executive Director.    

C. Expenditures of $5,000 or more shall require the Executive Director’s 
approval on the Request for Information and Evidence Revolving Fund 
form prior to submission to the Director of Administration.  

D. Authorized purchases include but are not limited to:   
1. The purchase of information or physical evidence that may lead to 

the arrest of a suspect under FGCC Gaming Enforcement 
investigation. 

2. When expenditures are requested to pay a confidential source, the 
confidential source will not be named on any form but will be 
designated by assigned code name or number. 

E. Audits and reconciliation of the I & E Fund shall be performed in accordance 
with the Chief Financial Officer and the Auditor General of the State of 
Florida. The FGCC Director of Administration, or designee, shall conduct 
quarterly audits of the FGCC I & E Fund. The results of the audit shall be 
forwarded to the Executive Director, the Director of Gaming Enforcement, 
and the Chief of Law Enforcement Services. 

F. The following accounting protocols are established: 
1. The Chief of Law Enforcement Services will be the I & E Fund 

custodian within the Division of Gaming Enforcement.  The Chief of 
Law Enforcement Services, or delegate, will maintain all information 
and backup of all fund requests, case numbers, funds spent, funds 
returned, and accounting of expenses by case number. The Chief of 
Law Enforcement Services shall make these records available to 
internal auditors for reconciliation purposes.   

2. Within 10 days of the use of I & E funds, the Gaming Enforcement 
Agent must complete an Informational and Evidence Revolving 
Funds Usage Operational Summary form that will contain a detailed 
summary of how the I & E funds were spent. Information to include, 
but not limited to, the amount expended with documented results, the 
specific action of expense, the date expended, and any amount of 
unused funds.  This form to be submitted and approved by the Chief 
of Law Enforcement Services and filed in the respective case file(s).   
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3. After a check is signed as described in this policy, Section III.  
Procedures (B), the Agent will retrieve the check from the Director of 
Administration and sign the Information and Evidence Revolving 
Funds Operational Accounting form that the check was received.  A 
copy of the form will be provided for inclusion in the case file.  

4. The monthly statement from the State Treasurer’s Office shall be 
reconciled on a monthly basis by the FGCC Director of 
Administration, or designee.  The state will be compared with the 
check register and computer database to determine that the balance 
is correct. 

5. The unused checks and check register shall be kept in a secure 
location designated by the Director of Administration.   

6. Voided checks will be marked with the word “void” in bold print 
across the face of the check and returned to the Director of 
Administration. 

7. Any unused funds, including partially expended funds, will be 
returned to the Director of Administration.  The agent will complete 
the corresponding Information and Evidence Revolving Funds 
Operational Accounting Form that resides in the case file and 
contains the information regarding when the funds were received by 
the Agent.  The agent will complete the Recovered and Returned 
Information and Evidence Funds section and submit the completed 
form and funds to the Chief of Law Enforcement Services.  The Chief 
of Law Enforcement Services will approve and submit the form and 
funds to the Director of Administration for deposit back into the I & E 
fund. After funds are deposited into the account, the Director of 
Administration will complete the form with the deposit number and 
date and return the form to be included in the respective case file.  

8. In the absence of the Chief of Law Enforcement Services, the 
Director of Gaming Enforcement shall perform the duties assigned to 
the Chief of Law Enforcement Services as outlined in this policy. 
When this occurs and the request for I & E funds is authorized by the 
Director of Gaming Enforcement, the check must be signed by the 
Executive Director and the Director of Administration.  
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________________________________  _________________________
     

Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Registered Offender Information POLICY NUMBER 

02.35.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

CFA 5.19 - 15.16M, 15.17M 

CFA 5.20 - 15.16M, 15.17M 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
 

I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 
 
It is the policy of the Division of Gaming Enforcement to assist offenders who seek advice 
on how to register. 
 

II. PURPOSE 
 
This policy establishes guidelines by which the Division of Gaming Enforcement will 
address issues associated with certain offenders. 

 
III. REGISTRATION 
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In the event a member of the agency is approached and asked how to register as a 
sexual predator or offender, the member will provide the address and telephone of the 
County Sheriff's office where the offender lives. CFA 5.19 - 15.16M, 15.17M CFA 5.20 - 
15.16M, 15.17M 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
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Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Criminal Organizations POLICY NUMBER 

02.39.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

CFA 5.19 - 19.01M (A), (B), (C), (D), 19.02M (A), 
(B), (C), (D) 

CFA 5.20 - 19.01M (A), (B), (C), (D), 19.02M (A), 
(B), (C), (D) 

28 CFR 23.20 

Section 874.01, Fla. Stat. et seq. 

Section 943.0321, Fla. Stat. 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 

 
The Division of Gaming Enforcement recognizes that certain criminal activities often 
involve some degree of regular coordination and may involve a large number of 
participants over a broad geographical area. 
 
It is the policy of this division to collect and share relevant information while respecting 
the privacy and legal rights of the public. 
 

II. PURPOSE 
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The purpose of this policy is to ensure that the Division of Gaming Enforcement 
appropriately utilizes criminal intelligence systems and temporary information files to 
support investigations of criminal organizations and enterprises. 
 
 
 

III. DEFINITIONS 
 
Definitions related to this policy include: 

 
A. Criminal intelligence system - Any record system that receives, stores, 

exchanges or disseminates information that has been evaluated and determined 
to be relevant to the identification of a criminal organization or enterprise, its 
members or affiliates. This does not include temporary information files. 

 
Any criminal intelligence system must be separate from the division's central records 
system. 
 

IV. INVESTIGATIVE CHIEF OF LAW ENFORCEMENT 
 
The Chief of Law Enforcement should ensure procedures are developed (CFA 5.19 - 
19.01M (C), 19.01M (A) CFA 5.20 - 19.01M (A), 19.01M (C)): 

 
A. To ensure that the collection, organization, collation and analysis of criminal 

intelligence information or documentation is conducted in a secure environment, 
is limited to criminal conduct and relates to activities that present a threat to the 
Division of Gaming Enforcement community. 

B. For the utilization of intelligence members, available equipment and/or systems 
and techniques. 

C. For the release of information from authorized criminal intelligence systems to 
division requestors as well as other criminal justice agencies. 

D. For the purging of information from the approved criminal intelligence systems 
that is no longer active. 

 
V. CRIMINAL INTELLIGENCE SYSTEM 

 
No division member may create, submit to or obtain information from a criminal 
intelligence system unless the Director of Gaming Enforcement has approved the 
system for division use. CFA 5.19 - 19.01M (C), 19.02M (A), 19.02M (C), 19.02M (D) 
CFA 5.20 - 19.01M (C), 19.02M (A), 19.02M (C), 19.02M (D) 
 
Any criminal intelligence system approved for division use should meet or exceed the 
standards of 28 CFR 23.20. 
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The Chief of Law Enforcement or designee will be responsible for maintaining each 
criminal intelligence system that has been approved for division use. The Chief of Law 
Enforcement or the authorized designee should ensure the following: 
 

A. Members using any such system are appropriately selected and trained. 
B. Use of every criminal intelligence system is appropriately reviewed and audited. 
C. Any system security issues are reasonably addressed. 

1. Security pertains to physical security as well as the protection against 
unauthorized attempts to access, modify, remove or destroy stored 
information. 

 
1. System Entries 

 
It is the designated supervisor's responsibility to approve the entry of any 
information from a report, field interview (FI), photo, or other relevant document 
into an authorized criminal intelligence system (e.g., the Regional Organized 
Crime Information Center, a Regional Information Sharing System (RISS) 
project, a Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE) database created 
pursuant to the Criminal Gang Prevention Act (Section 874.01, Fla. Stat. et seq.), 
the Florida Domestic Security and Counter-Terrorism Center database created 
pursuant to (Section 943.0321, Fla. Stat.). If entries are made based upon 
information that is not on file with this division, such as open- or public-source 
documents or documents that are on file at another agency, the designated 
supervisor shall ensure copies of those documents are retained in a secure 
storage area separate from the Records Section. Any supporting documentation 
for an entry shall be retained separate from the Records Section in accordance 
with the established records retention schedule and for at least as long as the 
entry is maintained in the system. CFA 5.19 - 19.01M (C), 19.02M (D) CFA 5.20 - 
19.01M (C), 19.02M (D) 
 
The designated supervisor shall ensure that any documents retained are 
appropriately marked as intelligence information. The Records Custodian may 
not purge such documents without the approval of the designated supervisor. 
 

VI. TEMPORARY INFORMATION FILE 
 
No member may create or keep files on individuals that are separate from the approved 
criminal intelligence system. However, members may maintain temporary information that 
is necessary to actively investigate whether a person or group qualifies for entry into the 
division-approved criminal intelligence system only as provided in this section. Once 
information qualifies for inclusion, it should be submitted to the supervisor responsible for 
consideration of criminal intelligence system entries 
 

1. File Contents 
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A temporary information file may only contain information and documents that, 
within one year, will have a reasonable likelihood to meet the criteria for entry 
into an authorized criminal intelligence system. CFA 5.19 - 19.01M (B) CFA 5.20 
- 19.01M (B) 

 
Information and documents contained in a temporary information file: 
 

A. Must only be included upon documented authorization of the responsible 
division supervisor. 

B. Should not be originals that would ordinarily be retained by the Records 
Section or Property and Evidence Section, but should be copies of, or 
references to, retained documents, such as copies of reports, FI forms, 
Regional Communications Center records or booking forms. 

C. Shall not include opinions. No person, organization or enterprise shall be 
labeled as being involved in crime beyond what is already in the 
document or information. 

D. May include information collected from publicly available sources or 
references to documents on file with another government agency. 
Attribution identifying the source should be retained with the information. 

 
2. File review and Purging 

 
The contents of a temporary information file shall not be retained longer than one 
year. At the end of one year, the contents must be purged. CFA 5.19 - 19.01M 
(D) CFA 5.20 - 19.01M (D) 
 
The designated supervisor shall periodically review the temporary information 
files to verify that the contents meet the criteria for retention. Validation and 
purging of files is the responsibility of the supervisor. 
 

VII. INFORMATION RECOGNITION 
 
Division members should document facts that suggest an individual, organization or 
enterprise is involved in criminal activity and should forward that information 
appropriately. Examples include, but are not limited to: 

 
A. Information related to an illegal gambling operation. 
B. Information related to organized criminal organizations and their subordinate 

partners. 
 

Division supervisors who utilize an authorized criminal intelligence system should work 
with the Training Coordinator to train members to identify information that may be 
particularly relevant for inclusion. CFA 5.19 - 19.01M (B) CFA 5.20 - 19.01M (B) 
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VIII. RELEASE OF INFORMATION 
 
Division members shall comply with the rules of an authorized criminal intelligence 
system regarding inquiries and release of information. 
 
Information from a temporary information file may only be furnished to division members 
and other law enforcement agencies on a need-to-know basis and consistent with the 
Records Maintenance and Release Policy. CFA 5.19 - 19.02 M (B) CFA 5.20 - 19.02 M 
(B) 
 

IX. TRAINING 
 
The Training Coordinator should provide training on best practices in the use of each 
authorized criminal intelligence system to those tasked with investigating criminal 
organizations and enterprises. Training should include: 
 

A. The protection of civil liberties. 
B. Participation in a multi-agency criminal intelligence system. 
C. Submission of information into a multi-agency criminal intelligence system or the 

receipt of information from such a system, including any governing federal and 
state rules and statutes. 

D. The type of information appropriate for entry into a criminal intelligence system or 
temporary information file. 

E. The review and purging of temporary information files. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Chief Executive Officer POLICY NUMBER 

02.41.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

Section 943.13, Fla. Stat. 

11B-35.006, F.A.C. et seq. 

11B-30.006, F.A.C. et seq. 

Section 943.135, Fla. Stat. 

Section 16.711, Fla. Stat. 

Section 16.713, Fla. Stat. 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
 

I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 
 
It is the policy of the Division of Gaming Enforcement that the Director of Gaming 
Enforcement meets the minimum standards for exercising his/her authority granted by 
law. 

 
II. PURPOSE 

 
 This policy provides guidelines for the appointment of the Director of the Division of 
Gaming Enforcement, who is required to exercise the powers and duties of the office as 
prescribed by state law. 
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III. DIRECTOR OF GAMING ENFORCEMENT REQUIREMENTS 

 
The Director of Gaming Enforcement of this division, as a condition of employment, 
shall:  

 
A. Meet the following minimum qualifications (Sections 16.711; 16.713; 943.13, Fla. 

Stat.): 
 
1. Be certified as a law enforcement officer as defined in section 943.10(1), Fla. 

Stat. 
2. Be at least 19 years of age 
3. Be a citizen of the United States 
4. Have earned a high school diploma or equivalent (GED) 
5. Not have been convicted of any felony or of a misdemeanor involving perjury 

or false statement 
6. Never have received a dishonorable discharge from any of the Armed Forces 

of the United States 
7. Not have plead guilty or nolo contendere or have been found guilty of any 

felony or of a misdemeanor involving perjury or a false statement after July 1, 
1981 

8. Not have been convicted of or found guilty of or pled nolo contendere to, 
regardless of adjudication, a felony within 5 years before the date of 
application for employment with the Florida Gaming Control Commission 

9. Not have been convicted of or found guilty of or pled nolo contendere to, 
regardless of adjudication, a misdemeanor within 5 years before the date of 
application which the Commission determines bears a close relationship to 
the duties and responsibilities of the Director of Gaming Enforcement 

10. Not have been dismissed from prior employment for gross misconduct or 
incompetence or intentionally making a false statement concerning a material 
fact in connection with the application for employment with the Commission 

11. Have documentation of processed fingerprints on file with the Commission 
12. Pass a physical examination by a licensed physician, physician assistant, or 

certified advanced registered nurse practitioner 
13. Have good moral character as determined by a background investigation 

under procedures established by the Criminal Justice Standards and Training 
Commission (CJSTC) 

14. Be eligible for employment pursuant to section 16.713(2), Fla. Stat. 
B. Successfully complete the required CJSTC certified course of training, or obtain 

a CJSTC exemption from training, pursuant to Rule 11B-35.006, F.A.C. et seq. 
C. Successfully complete the State Officer Certification Exam (SOCE) pursuant to 

Rule 11B-30.006, F.A.C. et seq., and obtain and retain a CJSTC Basic Certificate 
pursuant to Rule 11B-35, F.A.C. 
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D. Comply with the continuing training or education requirements of Section 
943.135, Fla. Stat. 

E. Comply with the powers, duties, and obligations required by Section 16.711, Fla. 
Stat. 

F. Execute and submit to the Division an affidavit-of-applicant form authorized by 
the CJSTC. 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Biased Policing POLICY NUMBER 

02.43.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

CFA 5.19 - 2.06M (A), (B), (C), (E), (F) 

CFA 5.20 - 2.06M (A), (B), (C), (E), (F) 

Rule 11B-27.00212, F.A.C. 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 

 
The Division of Gaming Enforcement is committed to providing law enforcement services 
to the regulated business community with due regard for the racial, cultural or other 
differences of those served. It is the policy of this division to provide law enforcement 
services and to enforce the law equally, fairly, impartially and without discrimination 
toward any individual or group. 
 

II. PURPOSE 
 
This policy provides guidance to division members that affirms the Division of Gaming 
Enforcement 's commitment to policing that is fair and impartial. 
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Nothing in this policy prohibits the use of specified characteristics in law enforcement 
activities designed to strengthen the division's relationship with its diverse communities 
and regulated businesses. 
Additional guidance on handling complaints from the public can be found in the 
Personnel Complaints policy. 
 

III. DEFINITIONS 
 
Definitions related to this policy include CFA 5.19 - 2.06M (C) CFA 5.20 - 2.06M (C): 
 

A. Biased policing - An inappropriate consideration of specified characteristics 
while enforcing the law or providing law enforcement services. Specified 
characteristics include but are not limited to actual or perceived race, ethnicity or 
ethnic background, national origin, religion, sex or gender, sexual orientation, 
gender identity or expression, economic or socioeconomic status, age, cultural 
group, disability, political status, affiliation with any non-criminal group, or any 
other legally protected characteristics (protected characteristics). 

 
IV. BIASED POLICING PROHIBITED 

 
Biased policing is strictly prohibited. 
However, nothing in this policy is intended to prohibit a special agent from considering 
protected characteristics in combination with credible, timely, and distinct information 
connecting a person or people of a specific characteristic to a specific unlawful incident, 
or to specific unlawful incidents, specific criminal patterns, or specific schemes. 
Complaints of biased policing shall be handled and processed in accordance with the 
Personnel Complaints Policy. CFA 5.19 - 2.06M (F) 
 

1. Enforcement or Services 
The prohibition of biased policing extends to all division services and actions such 
as field contacts, searches and seizures, and in asset seizure and forfeiture efforts. 
 

V. MEMBER RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
Every member of this division shall perform their duties in a fair and impartial manner and 
is responsible for promptly reporting any suspected or known instances of biased policing 
to a supervisor. Members should, when reasonable to do so, intervene to prevent any 
biased actions by another member. 
 

1. Reason for Contact 
Special Agents contacting a person shall be prepared to articulate sufficient 
reason for the contact, independent of the protected characteristics of the 
individual. 
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To the extent that written documentation would otherwise be completed (e.g., 
arrest report, field interview (FI) card), the involved should include those facts 
giving rise to the contact, as applicable. 
Except for required data-collection forms or methods, nothing in this policy shall 
require any special agent to document a contact that would not otherwise require 
reporting. 
 

VI. SUPERVISOR RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
Supervisors should monitor those individuals under their command for compliance with 
this policy and shall handle any alleged or observed violations in accordance with the 
Personnel Complaints Policy. CFA 5.19 - 2.06M (B) CFA 5.20 - 2.06M (B) 
 

A. Supervisors should discuss any issues with the involved special agent and the 
special agent's supervisor in a timely manner. 

a. Supervisors should document these discussions, in the prescribed 
manner. 

B. Supervisors shall notify the Chief of Law Enforcement of any actual or alleged 
violations of this policy. 

a. Corrective measures shall be taken, in accordance with the Personnel 
Complaint Policy, if biased policing occurs 

C. Supervisors should take prompt and reasonable steps to address any retaliatory 
action taken against any member of this division who discloses information 
concerning biased policing. 

 
VII. ADMINISTRATION 

 
The Chief of Law Enforcement shall conduct an annual review the efforts and 
procedures of the Division to provide fair and impartial policing and submit the annual 
administrative review, including public concerns and complaints, to the Director of 
Gaming Enforcement. The annual review should not contain any identifying information 
about any specific complaint, member of the public, or special agent. It should be 
reviewed by the Director of Gaming Enforcement to identify any needed changes in 
policy, training, equipment, or operations, or any discipline issues that should be 
addressed. 
 
Supervisors should review the annual administrative review and discuss the results with 
those they are assigned to supervise. CFA 5.19 - 2.06M (E) CFA 5.20 - 2.06M (E) 
 
 

2. Community Awareness 
 
Community awareness of the division's policy against biased policing shall be 
promoted during public education events through the External Affairs Director or 
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another member tasked with the responsibility. The Division's policy may be 
posted on the Commission's web page. CFA 5.19 - 2.06M (D) CFA 5.20 - 2.06M 
(D) 
 

3. Annual report Topics 
 
The annual report should cover at least the following topics CFA 5.19 - 2.06M (E) 
CFA 5.20 - 2.06M (E): 
 

 Seizures 
 Forfeitures 
 Field contacts 
 Complaints 

 
VIII. TRAINING 

 
Training on fair and impartial policing and review of this policy should be conducted as 
directed by the Chief of Law Enforcement or designee. 
 
This training shall include legal aspects, in accordance with Florida statutes, the 
curriculum developed by the Florida Criminal Justice Standards and Training 
Commission and may include traffic stop procedures identified by the Florida Police 
Chiefs Association (Rule 11B-27.00212, F.A.C.), CFA 5.19 - 2.06M (A) CFA 5.20 - 
2.06M (A). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

________________________________  _____________________________ 
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Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   





02.46.01 1 of 4 Lexipol#402 
 

 

 

FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Response to Bomb Calls POLICY NUMBER 

02.46.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

CFA 5.19 - 17.07M (A), (B), (C) (D), (E), (F), (G),  
(H), (I), 17.08M (D) 

CFA 5.20 - 17.07M (A), (B), (C) (D), (E), (F), (G), 
(H), (I), 17.08M (D) 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
 

I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 
 
It is the policy of the Division of Gaming Enforcement to place a higher priority on the 
safety of persons and the public over damage or destruction to public or private property. 
 

II. PURPOSE 
 
The purpose of this policy is to provide guidelines to assist members of the Division of 
Gaming Enforcement in their initial response to incidents involving explosives or explosive 
devices, explosion/bombing incidents or threats of such incidents. Under no 
circumstances should these guidelines be interpreted as compromising the safety of first 
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responders or the public. When confronted with an incident involving explosives, safety 
should always be the primary consideration. 
 

III. RECEIPT OF BOMB THREAT 
 
Division members receiving a bomb threat shall obtain as much information from the 
individual as reasonably possible, including the type, placement and alleged detonation 
time of the device. If the bomb threat is received on a recorded line, reasonable steps 
shall be taken to ensure that the recording is preserved in accordance with established 
division evidence procedures. 
 
The member receiving the bomb threat shall ensure that the local jurisdiction where the 
threat is located is immediately advised and informed of the details. This will enable the 
Special Agent Supervisor to ensure that the appropriate personnel are dispatched, and, 
as appropriate, the threatened location is given an advance warning. CFA 5.19 - 17.07M 
(A), 17.07M (B) CFA 5.20 - 17.07M (B), 17.07M (A) 
 

1. Notifications 
After notifying the local jurisdiction, the Division member shall ensure notification 
of the Director of Gaming Enforcement and the Chief of Law Enforcement. CFA 
5.19 - 17.07M (B) CFA 5.20 - 17.07M (B) 
 

IV. GOVERNMENT FACILITY OR PROPERTY 
 
A bomb threat targeting a government facility may require a different response based on 
the government agency. 
 

1. Division of Gaming Enforcement Facility 
If the bomb threat is against the Division of Gaming Enforcement facility or 
regulated business, the Special Agent Supervisor will direct and assign special 
agents as required for coordinating a general building search or evacuation of the 
Commission facility or regulated business, as he/ she deems appropriate. CFA 
5.19 - 17.07M (D), 17.07M (F) CFA 5.20 - 17.07M (D), 17.07M (F) 

 
V. FOUND DEVICE 

 
When handling an incident involving a suspected explosive device, the following 
guidelines, while not all inclusive, should be followed (CFA 5.19 - 17.07M (C), 17.07M 
(D), 17.07M (F), 17.07M (H), 17.08M (D) CFA 5.20 - 17.07M (C), 17.07M (D), 17.07M 
(F), 17.07M (H), 17.08M (D)): 

 
A. No known or suspected explosive item should be considered safe regardless of 

its size or apparent packaging. 
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B. The device should not be touched or moved except by the bomb squad or 
military explosive ordnance disposal team. 

C. Personnel should not transmit on any equipment that is capable of producing 
radio frequency energy within the evacuation area around the suspected device. 
This includes: 

1. Two-way radios. 
2. Cell phones. 
3. Other personal communication devices. 

D. The appropriate bomb squad or military explosive ordnance disposal team 
should be summoned for assistance. 

E. The largest perimeter reasonably possible should initially be established around 
the device based upon available personnel and the anticipated danger zone. 

F. A safe access route should be provided for support personnel and equipment. 
G. Search the area for secondary devices as appropriate and based upon available 

resources. 
H. Consider evacuation of buildings and personnel near the device or inside the 

danger zone and the safest exit route. 
I. Promptly relay available information to the Special Agent Supervisor including: 

1. The time of discovery. 
2. The exact location of the device. 
3. A full description of the device (e.g., size, shape, markings, 

construction). 
4. The anticipated danger zone and perimeter. 
5. The areas to be evacuated or cleared 

 
1. Notifications 

 
When a possible explosive device is located, the following notifications should be 
made, as appropriate, and efforts coordinated if they respond (CFA 5.19 - 
17.07M (E), 17.07M (G), 17.08M (D) CFA 5.20 - 17.07M (E), 17.07M (G), 17.08M 
(D)): 
 

A. Bomb squad (if the device is of possible military origin, a military bomb 
team should be notified at the direction of the bomb squad leader) 

B. Fire department 
C. Additional division personnel, such as investigators and forensic services 

 
VI. EXPLOSION/BOMBING INCIDENTS 

 
1. Considerations 

 
Special Agents responding to explosions, whether accidental or a criminal act, 
should consider the following actions (CFA 5.19 - 17.07M (C), 17.07M (I) CFA 
5.20 - 17.07M (C), 17.07M): 
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A. Assess the scope of the incident, including the number of victims and 

extent of injuries. 
B. Request additional personnel and resources, as appropriate. 
C. Assist with first aid. 
D. Identify and take appropriate precautions to mitigate scene hazards, such 

as collapsed structures, bloodborne pathogens and hazardous materials. 
E. Assist with the safe evacuation of victims, if possible. 
F. Establish an inner perimeter to include entry points and evacuation 

routes. Search for additional or secondary devices. 
G. Preserve evidence. 
H. Establish an outer perimeter and evacuate if necessary. 
I. Identify witnesses. 

 
2. Notifications 

 
When an explosion has occurred, the following people should be notified as 
appropriate: 
 

 Fire department 
 Bomb squad 
 Director of Gaming Enforcement 
 Other law enforcement agencies, including local, state or federal 

agencies, such as the FBI and the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms 
and Explosives (ATF) 

 Other government agencies, as appropriate 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   





02.49.01 1 of 2 Lexipol#102 
 

 

 

 

FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Oath of Office POLICY NUMBER 

02.49.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

Section 876.05 Fla. Stat. 

Art. II, Section 5, Fla. Const. 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 

 
It is the policy of the Division of Gaming Enforcement that, when appropriate, division 
members affirm the oath of their office as an expression of commitment to the 
constitutional rights of those served by the Division and the dedication of its members to 
their duties. 
 

II. PURPOSE 
 
The purpose of this policy is to ensure that oaths, when appropriate, are administered to 
division members. 
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III. OATH OF OFFICE 
 
All division members, when appropriate, shall take and subscribe to the oaths or 
affirmations applicable to their positions as required by Art. II, section 5, Fla. Const. and 
Section 876.05(1), Fla. Stat. 
 
I, (employee name), a citizen of the State of Florida and of the United States of America, 
and being employed by or an officer of the Division of Gaming Enforcement and a 
recipient of public funds as such employee or officer, do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I 
will support, protect and defend the Constitution and Government of the United States 
and of the State of Florida; that I am duly qualified to hold office under the Constitution of 
the State; and that I will well and faithfully perform the duties of a Special Agent, on 
which I am now about to enter, so help me God." 
 
If a member is opposed to taking an oath, he/she shall be permitted to substitute the 
word "affirm" for the word "swear." 
 

IV. MAINTENANCE OF RECORDS 
 
The oath of office shall be filed with the records of the Division of Gaming Enforcement 
prior to the approval of any voucher for the payment of salary, expenses or other 
compensation (Section 876.05(2), Fla. Stat.). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Accreditation Standards POLICY NUMBER 

02.50.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

CFA 5.19 - 10.18 

CFA 5.20 - 10.18 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 

 
The Division of Gaming Enforcement participates in the CFA certification or accreditation 
standards established for Florida law enforcement agencies. 
 

II. PURPOSE 
 
The purpose of this policy is to establish the roles and responsibilities associated with 
compliance with Commission for Florida Law Enforcement Accreditation (CFA) 
certification and accreditation standards. 
 

III. ACCREDITATION MANAGER 
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The Director of Gaming Enforcement or the authorized designee shall appoint an 
accreditation manager to oversee the certification and accreditation process for the 
Division of Gaming Enforcement. 
 

1. Accreditation Manager Responsibilities   
 
The accreditation manager or the authorized designee is responsible for ensuring 
that division policy content is in compliance with CFA accreditation standards, 
including but not limited to: 
 

A. Compiling and maintaining a list of all periodic reports, reviews, audits, 
inspections, and other activities mandated by applicable CFA 
accreditation standards. 

B. Developing and maintaining a system for tracking such activities. 
C. Maintaining detailed records of all CFA and policy compliance tasks. 
D. Ensuring that the required reports or other necessary actions are 

completed in a timely manner. 
E. Submitting an annual report to CFA by January 31 each year. 
F. Providing public notice at least 30 days prior to any CFA accreditation 

assessment. 
 

IV. ACCREDITATION MANAGER TRAINING 
 
Newly appointed accreditation managers shall receive specialized accreditation training 
before their appointment or no later than 12 months after their appointment to the 
position. Training should include, at a minimum (CFA 5.19 - 10.18 CFA 5.20 - 10.18): 
 

 Essential components of the accreditation process. 
 The accreditation standards manual. 
 Accreditation file maintenance. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Badges, Patches and 
Identification 

POLICY NUMBER 

02.51.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 

 
Members of the Division will use the FGCC badge and identification card, as well as the 
likeness of these items, appropriately and professionally. 
 

II. PURPOSE 
 
The Division of Gaming Enforcement (FGCC) badge and identification card, as well as the 
likeness of these items and the name of the Division, are property of the Division. Their 
use shall be restricted as set forth in this policy. 
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III. UNAUTHORIZED USE 
 
The FGCC badge and identification card shall not be displayed or used by any member 
except when acting in an official or authorized capacity. 
Division members shall not: 
 

A. Display or use the FGCC badge or identification card for personal gain or benefit. 
B. Loan the FGCC badge or identification card to others or permit these items to be 

reproduced or duplicated. 
C. Use images of the FGCC badge or identification card, or the likeness thereof, or 

the Division of Gaming Enforcement name, for personal or private reasons 
including, but not limited to, letters, memoranda and electronic communications, 
such as email, blogs, social networking or websites. 

 
1. Lost Badge or Identification Card 

 
Division members shall promptly notify their supervisors whenever their FGCC 
badges or identification cards are lost, damaged or are otherwise removed from 
their control. 
 

IV. BADGES 
 
The Director of Gaming Enforcement shall determine the form of badges authorized for 
use by division members. No other badges may be used, carried, worn or displayed. 
Only badges issued by this division are authorized to be used, displayed, carried or worn 
by members while on-duty or otherwise acting in an official or authorized capacity. 
Members, with the written approval of the Director of Gaming Enforcement, may 
purchase at their own expense a second badge. 
 

1. Retiree Badges 
 
The Director of Gaming Enforcement may establish rules for allowing honorably 
retired members to keep their badges in some form upon retirement, for use as 
private memorabilia. 
 

2. Permitted Use by Employee Groups 
 
The likeness of the FGCC badge shall not be used for any purpose without the 
express authorization of the Director of Gaming Enforcement and shall be 
subject to the following: 
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A. An authorized employee group may use the likeness of the FGCC badge 
for merchandise and official employee group business provided it is used 
in a clear representation of the employee group and not the Division of 
Gaming Enforcement. The following modification shall be included: 
 
1. Any text identifying the Division of Gaming Enforcement is replaced 

with the name of the employee group. 
2. A badge number is not included. That portion of the badge may 

display the acronym of the employee group. 
 
V. IDENTIFICATION CARDS 

 
All members will be issued an official FGCC identification card bearing the member's 
name, full- face photograph, member identification number, member's signature and 
signature of the Director of Gaming Enforcement or the official seal of the Division. All 
members shall be in possession of their division-issued identification cards at all times 
while on-duty or in division facilities. 
 

A. Whenever on-duty or acting in an official capacity representing the Division, 
members shall display their division-issued identification cards in a courteous 
manner to any person upon request and as soon as practicable. 

B. Special Agents or other members working specialized assignments may be 
excused from the possession and display requirements when directed by the 
Chief of Law Enforcement. 

 
VI. BUSINESS CARDS 

 
The FGCC will supply business cards to those members whose assignments involve 
frequent interaction with the public or who may require the use of a business card. The 
only authorized business cards are those issued or approved by the Executive Director 
of the FGCC and should contain identifying information including, but not limited to, the 
member’s name, section, badge or other identification number and contact information 
(e.g., telephone number, email address). 
 
Members should provide a business card upon request. 
 
 
 

 
 

________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Contracts and Temporary 
Detentions 

POLICY NUMBER 

02.54.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

CFA 5.19 - 15.07 (A), (B), (C)  

CFA 5.20 - 15.07 (A), (B), (C) 

Section 901.151, Fla. Stat. 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
 

I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 
 
The Division of Gaming Enforcement respects the right of the public to be free from 
unreasonable searches or seizures. Due to an unlimited variety of situations confronting 
the special agent, the decision to temporarily detain a person and complete an FI, pat-
down search or field photograph shall be left to the special agent based on the totality of 
the circumstances, officer safety considerations and constitutional safeguards. 
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II. PURPOSE 
 
The purpose of this policy is to establish guidelines for temporarily detaining but not 
arresting persons in the field, conducting field interviews (FI) and pat-down searches, and 
the taking and disposition of photographs. 

 
III. DEFINITIONS 

Definitions related to this policy include: 

A. Consensual encounter - When a special agent contacts an individual but does 
not create a detention through words, actions, or other means. In other words, a 
reasonable individual would believe that his/her contact with the special agent is 
voluntary. 

B. Field interview (FI) - The brief detainment of an individual, whether on foot or in 
a vehicle, based on reasonable suspicion for the purpose of determining the 
individual's identity and resolving the special agent's suspicions. 

C. Field photographs - Posed photographs taken of a person during a contact, 
temporary detention, or arrest in the field. Undercover surveillance photographs 
of an individual and recordings captured by the normal operation of a Mobile 
Audio/Video (MAV) system, body-worn camera, or public safety camera when 
persons are not posed for the purpose of photographing are not considered field 
photographs. 

D. Pat-down search - A type of search used by special agents in the field to check 
an individual for dangerous weapons. It involves a thorough patting-down of 
clothing to locate any weapons or dangerous items that could pose a danger to 
the special agent, the detainee, or others. 

E. Reasonable suspicion - When, under the totality of the circumstances, a special 
agent has articulable facts that criminal activity may be afoot and a particular 
person is connected with that possible criminal activity. 

F. Temporary detention - When a special agent intentionally, through words, 
actions, or physical force, causes an individual to reasonably believe he/she is 
required to restrict his/her movement without an actual arrest. Temporary 
detentions also occur when a special agent actually restrains a person’s freedom 
of movement. 

IV. FIELD INTERVIEWS 

Based on observance of suspicious circumstances or upon information from 
investigation, a special agent may initiate the stop of a person, and conduct an FI, when 
there is articulable, reasonable suspicion to do so. A person, however, shall not be 
detained longer than is reasonably necessary to resolve the special agent’s suspicion. 

Nothing in this policy is intended to discourage consensual contacts. Frequent casual 
contact with consenting individuals is encouraged by the Division of Gaming 
Enforcement to strengthen community involvement, community awareness and problem 
identification. CFA 5.19 - 15.07 (A) CFA 5.20 - 15.07 (A) 
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1. Initiating A Field Interview 

When initiating the stop, the special agent should be able to point to specific facts 
which, when considered with the totality of the circumstances, reasonably 
warrant the stop. Such facts include but are not limited to an individual’s (CFA 
5.19 - 15.07 (A) CFA 5.20 - 15.07 (A)): 

A. Appearance or demeanor suggesting that he/she is part of a criminal 
enterprise or is engaged in a criminal act. 

B. Actions suggesting that he/she is engaged in a criminal activity. 
C. Presence in an area at an inappropriate hour of the day or night. 
D. Presence in a particular area is suspicious. 
E. Carrying of suspicious objects or items. 
F. Excessive clothes for the climate or clothes bulging in a manner that 

suggest he/she is carrying a dangerous weapon. 
G. Location in proximate time and place to an alleged crime. 
H. Physical description or clothing worn that matches a suspect in a recent 

crime. 
I. Prior criminal record or involvement in criminal activity as known by the 

special agent. 

 
V. PAT-DOWN SEARCHES 

Once a valid stop has been made, and consistent with the special agent's training and 
experience, a special agent may pat a suspect’s outer clothing for weapons if the special 
agent has a reasonable, articulable suspicion the suspect may pose a safety risk. The 
purpose of this limited search is not to discover evidence of a crime, but to allow the 
special agent to pursue the investigation without fear of violence. Circumstances that 
may establish justification for performing a pat-down search include but are not limited to 
(Section 901.151, Fla. Stat.): 

A. The type of crime suspected, particularly in crimes of violence where the use or 
threat of weapons is involved. 

B. Where more than one suspect must be handled by a single special agent. 
C. The hour of the day and the location or area where the stop takes place. 
D. Prior knowledge of the suspect's use of force and/or propensity to carry 

weapons.  
E. The actions and demeanor of the suspect. 
F. Visual indications which suggest that the suspect is carrying a firearm or other 

dangerous weapon. 

Whenever practicable, a pat-down search should not be conducted by a lone 
special agent. A cover special agent should be positioned to ensure safety and 
should not be involved in the search. 
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VI. FIELD PHOTOGRAPHS 

All available databases should be searched before photographing any field detainee. If a 
photograph is not located, or if an existing photograph no longer resembles the detainee, 
the special agent shall carefully consider, among other things, the factors listed below. 
CFA 5.19 - 15.07 (B) CFA 5.20 - 15.07 (B) 

1. Field Photographs Taken with Consent 

Field photographs may be taken when the subject being photographed knowingly 
and voluntarily gives consent. When taking a consensual photograph, the special 
agent should have the individual read and sign the appropriate form 
accompanying the photograph. CFA 5.19 - 15.07 (B) CFA 5.20 - 15.07 (B) 

2. Field Photographs Taken without Consent 

Field photographs may be taken without consent only if they are taken during a 
detention that is based upon reasonable suspicion of criminal activity, and the 
photograph serves a legitimate law enforcement purpose related to the detention. 
The special agent must be able to articulate facts that reasonably indicate that 
the subject was involved in or was about to become involved in criminal conduct. 
The subject should not be ordered to remove or lift any clothing for the purpose 
of taking a photograph. 

If, prior to taking a photograph, the special agent's reasonable suspicion of 
criminal activity has been dispelled, the detention must cease and the 
photograph should not be taken.  

All field photographs and related reports shall be submitted to a supervisor and 
retained in compliance with this policy. CFA 5.19 - 15.07 (B) CFA 5.20 - 15.07 
(B) 

3. Disposition of Photographs 

All detainee photographs must be adequately labeled and submitted to the 
Special Agent Supervisor with either an associated FI card or other 
documentation explaining the nature of the contact. If an individual is 
photographed as a suspect in a particular crime, the photograph should be 
submitted as an evidence item in the related case, following standard evidence 
procedures. CFA 5.19 - 15.07 (C) CFA 5.20 - 15.07 (C) 

If a photograph is not associated with an investigation where a case number has 
been issued, the Special Agent Supervisor should review and forward the 
photograph to one of the following locations: 

A. If the photograph and associated FI or documentation is relevant to 
criminal organization/enterprise enforcement, the Special Agent 
Supervisor will forward the photograph and documents to the designated 
criminal intelligence system supervisor. The supervisor will ensure the 
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photograph and supporting documents are retained as prescribed in the 
Criminal Organizations Policy. 

B. Photographs that do not qualify for retention in a criminal intelligence 
system or temporary information file shall be forwarded to the Records 
Section. 

When a photograph is taken in association with a particular case, the investigator 
may use such photograph in a photo lineup. Thereafter, the individual 
photograph should be retained as a part of the case file. All other photographs 
shall be retained in accordance with the established records retention schedule. 

4. Supervisor Responsibilities 

While it is recognized that field photographs often become valuable investigative 
tools, supervisors should monitor such practices in view of the above listed 
considerations. This is not to imply that supervisor approval is required before 
each photograph is taken. 

Access to, and use of, field photographs shall be strictly limited to law 
enforcement purposes. 

 
VII. WITNESS IDENTIFICATION AND INTERVIEWS 

 
Because potential witnesses to an incident may become unavailable or the integrity of 
their statements compromised with the passage of time, special agents should, when 
warranted by the seriousness of the case, take reasonable steps to promptly coordinate 
with an on-scene supervisor and/or criminal investigator to utilize available members for 
the following: 
 
A. Identifying all persons present at the scene and in the immediate area. 

 
1. When feasible, a recorded statement should be obtained from those who claim 

not to have witnessed the incident but who were present at the time it occurred. 
2. Any potential witness who is unwilling or unable to remain available for a formal 

interview should not be detained absent reasonable suspicion to detain or 
probable cause to arrest. Without detaining the individual for the sole purpose of 
identification, special agents should attempt to identify the witness prior to his/her 
departure. 
 

B. Witnesses who are willing to provide a formal interview should be asked to meet at a 
suitable location where criminal investigators may obtain a recorded statement. Such 
witnesses, if willing, may be transported by division members. 
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1. A written, verbal or recorded statement of consent should be obtained prior to 
transporting a witness. When the witness is a minor, consent should be obtained 
from the parent or guardian, if available, prior to transport 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Fictitious Identification for Law 
Enforcement Purposes 

POLICY NUMBER 

02.55.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
I. Statement of Policy 

 
To develop an undercover identity, it is necessary to utilize various fictitious documents 
to establish creditability. These fictitious documents may include driver’s licenses, credit 
cards, social security cards, vehicle registrations, birth certificates and physical 
examination forms, etc.  A procedure for obtaining, utilizing and returning these 
documents must be established to regulate the proper use of these documents. Only 
approved agency members will be eligible to receive any fictitious identification 
documents. 
 

II. Purpose 
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The purpose of this order is to establish guidelines for the use and issue of undercover 
identification. 

III. Procedures 
 
A. The Chief of Law Enforcement will maintain all files for agency members using 

fictitious documents to include driver’s licenses, credit cards, social security cards, 
vehicle registrations, birth certificates and physical examination forms, etc.  The 
Chief of Law Enforcement will facilitate, coordinate, and manage all alias SSNs 
processes per the Florida Department of Law Enforcement’s (FDLE) Memo of 
Understanding on Provision of Alias Social Security Program (herein referred to as 
MOU) and will be designated as the agency’s point of contact for the FDLE.  The 
Chief of Law Enforcement shall adhere to all requirements and responsibilities of 
the FDLE’s MOU. 
 

B. All fictitious documents and financial instruments will be used for law enforcement 
purposes only and will not be used for any personal reason. There are unique 
undercover operations that may require additional fictitious documents not listed 
in this procedure. All applications for and use of any fictitious documents require 
prior approval from the Director of Gaming Enforcement via chain of command.  
 
Once any fictitious document is received, a copy shall be provided to the Chief of 
Law Enforcement.  All fictitious documents delivered to Gaming Enforcement will 
be verified and issued to the user via a signed receipt. A copy of this receipt will 
be forwarded to the Director of Administration to be included on the employee’s 
annual inventory checklist. 
 
Personnel receiving any fictitious document from Gaming Enforcement may 
photocopy the forms and receipts for their records, but the originals shall be stored 
in a secure file maintained by the Chief of Law Enforcement or designee.   
Upon termination of an undercover assignment for any reason, all fictitious records 
and documents will be returned to the Chief of Law Enforcement for proper filing 
or destruction. 

 
Personnel in possession of a fictitious document shall produce the document at 
any time upon demand of the Chief of Law Enforcement or designee.  
 
Personnel shall take every reasonable measure to protect the document(s) from 
loss or theft. 
 

C. Due to the federal REAL ID Act, any law enforcement official wishing to obtain a 
fictitious driver's license/identification must provide proof of an alias social security 
number to establish compliance. Obtaining a fictitious identification for law 
enforcement purposes is a two-part process involving two separate issuing 
authorities. The Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE) maintains the 
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Alias Social Security Program, and the Florida Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles 
(FLHSMV) Confidential Credentialing Unit (CCU) is the issuer of fictitious driver 
licenses/identifications. 
 

D. Alias Social Security Number 
 
1. To obtain an alias social security number, the agency member shall 

complete the following and forward to the Chief of Law Enforcement, who 
shall coordinate the request with FDLE in accordance with the MOU.  
 
a. Memorandum of request to the Director of Gaming Enforcement via 

chain of command to apply for an alias SSN and fictitious driver's 
license/identification for use during authorized law enforcement 
activities. The memo must contain the intended alias name  

b. Social Security Administration application (Form SS-5)  
c. Individual Alias SSN Application and Certification - Initial proof of 

citizenship  
d. Copy of driver's license  
e. Copy of law enforcement identification  
f. Payment "check" in the amount of $125.00 
 

2. The original alias social security card will be mailed to FDLE in accordance 
with the MOU.  Should the original be needed by the agency member, the 
Chief of Law Enforcement will contact FDLE to request that the card be 
mailed overnight to the Gaming Enforcement’s office.  Once the original 
card is no longer needed, it will be returned to FDLE. 
 

3. If the alias SSN is used to obtain any financial instruments, the agency 
member shall: 
 
a. Immediately provide the Chief of Law Enforcement with the 

institution’s name and account number associated with the fictitious 
account. 

b. Immediately notify the Chief of Law Enforcement of any earnings 
and any benefits issued to the agency member, of which the 
member becomes aware that have been claimed on the alias SSN.  
 

4. Upon completion of the member’s assignment, the member will return the 
alias SSN to the Chief of Law Enforcement. 
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E. Fictitious Driver’s License 
 
1. To obtain a fictitious Florida driver's license, the agency member must have 

received prior approval from the Director of Gaming Enforcement and 
received the required Alias Social Security Card. The agency member shall 
submit a request to the Chief of Law Enforcement  
and provide the following: 
 
a. A copy of the agency member's true driver's license 
b. The agency member's fictitious name, fictitious date of birth, and 

fictitious address  
c. A completed Self-Certification of Social Security Number as 

required by the Florida Department of Highway Safety and Motor 
Vehicles. 

 
2. Primary identification and proof of residential address under the fictitious 

name will be supplied by Criminal Intelligence. 
3. A letter signed by the Director of Gaming Enforcement or designee 

requesting the fictitious driver's license and mailed to the Department of 
Motor Vehicles in Tallahassee with the aforementioned information. Once 
approved, the Department of Motor Vehicles will return a letter with 
instructions for obtaining the license.  

4. Upon the agency member receiving the fictitious driver’s license, the 
member will provide a copy of the fictitious driver’s license to the Chief of 
Law Enforcement. 

5. During undercover operations, this fictitious license may be used to 
maintain an undercover identity.  

6. Upon completion of an assignment, agency members will return the 
fictitious driver’s licenses to the Chief of Law Enforcement.  The licenses 
will be returned to the Department of Motor Vehicles along with a letter 
signed by the Director of Gaming Enforcement or designee.  
 

F. Fictitious Credit Card 
 
To obtain a fictitious credit card, the agency member shall submit a request to the 
Director of Gaming Enforcement via the chain of command.  This credit card will 
be issued in the undercover identity of the agency member. This credit card will be 
used to maintain undercover status. The usage and accountability are the sole 
responsibility of the assigned agency member, who shall adhere to the following 
parameters: 
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1. Upon the member receiving a fictitious credit card, the agency member will 
provide a copy of the credit card, along with a copy of the agency member’s 
identification, to the Chief of Law Enforcement. 

2. The account balance of the credit card will be paid off totally at the end of 
each billing period. 

3. Any investigative expenses incurred by the use of the credit card will be 
documented and reviewed by the member and their supervisor. 

4. Upon completion of the member’s assignment, the member will return the 
undercover credit card to the Chief of Law Enforcement. 
 

G. The Chief of Law Enforcement shall: 
 
1. Establish and maintain a file system that readily identifies all uses of the 

alias SSN and the true identity associated with a particular alias SSN. The 
file will include: 
 
a. a photocopy of the alias SSN card,  
b. the SS-5 form,  
c. the Individual Alias SSN Application,  
d. proof of citizenship,  
e. proof of identity,  
f. proof of employment,  
g. letter requesting the issuance of the alias SSN; and  
h. a copy of the payment check 

 
2. Certify to FDLE on an annual basis that all alias SSNs provided to the 

agency are only being used in an appropriate manner consistent with the 
MOU. 

3. Retain all fictitious identification together with any supporting or underlying 
documents and materials for a period of five (5) years after the fictitious 
identification has been deactivated or longer if required by law. 
 

H. Audit 
 
1. Personnel receiving an alias social security number, fictitious driver's 

license, fictitious vehicle registration, fictitious credit card, or any fictitious 
document shall participate in any audit.  

2. The Chief of Law Enforcement shall compile the audits and submit an 
annual report to the Director of Gaming Enforcement.  The report shall 
confirm active, valid status of each fictitious driver license/identification in 
use by agency members. 

 
           Adopted by the Florida Gaming Control Commission on: 
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________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Policy Manual POLICY NUMBER 

02.58.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

CFA 5.19 - 3.01M (C), (E) 
                     CFA 5.20 - 3.01M (C), (E) 

 
 
 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
I. Statement of Policy 

 
Except where otherwise expressly stated, the provisions of this manual shall be 
considered as guidelines. It is recognized that the work of law enforcement is not always 
predictable and that circumstances may arise that warrant departure from these 
guidelines. It is the intent of this manual to be viewed from an objective standard, taking 
into consideration the sound discretion entrusted to members of this division under the 
circumstances reasonably available at the time of any incident. 
 
Commission for Florida Law Enforcement Accreditation, Inc. (CFA) In 1993, Florida 
Statute 943.125 encouraged the Florida Sheriffs Association (FSA) and the Florida 
Police Chiefs Association (FPCA) to create an independent voluntary law enforcement 
agency accreditation program. The Commission’s purpose is to establish a program for 
accreditation that can be achieved by all Florida law enforcement agencies and 
Inspectors General investigations offices. 

 
The provisions contained in the Policy Manual are not intended to create an employment 
contract nor any employment rights or entitlements. The policies contained within this 
manual are for the internal use of the Division of Gaming Enforcement and shall not be 
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construed to create a higher standard or duty of care for civil or criminal liability against 
the State, its officials or division members. Violations of any provision of any policy 
contained within this manual shall only form the basis for administrative action, training 
or discipline. 

 
The Gaming Enforcement Policy Manual is comprised of policies that have completed 
the process defined in the FGCC agency policy number 01.01.01 Adopting, Changing 
and Repealing Administrative Policies and Procedures.   

 
II. Purpose 

 
The manual of the Division of Gaming Enforcement is hereby established and shall be 
referred to as the Policy Manual or the manual. The manual is a statement of the current 
policies, procedures, rules and guidelines of this division. All members are to conform to 
the provisions of this manual. 

 
III. Authority 

 
The Director of Gaming Enforcement or the authorized designee is authorized to issue 
Gaming Enforcement Division Directives, which shall modify those provisions of the 
manual to which they pertain. Division Directives shall be approved by the Executive 
Director. These Directives shall remain in effect until such time as they may be 
permanently incorporated into the manual. CFA 5.19 - 3.01M (E) CFA 5.20 - 3.01M (E)  
Modifications to Gaming Enforcement Policies contained in Division Directives shall be 
adopted, in accordance with FGCC policy.  
 

IV. Definitions 
 
The following words and terms shall have these assigned meanings throughout the 
Policy Manual, unless it is apparent from the content that they have a different meaning: 

 
A. Adult - Any person 18 years of age or older. 
B. State - The State of Florida 
C. Non-sworn - Employees and volunteers who are not a special agent or, as 

specified by the Criminal Justice Standards and Training Commission (CJSTC), 
other professional employee in the criminal justice system (§ 943.10(11), Fla. 
Stat.). 

D. CJSTC - Criminal Justice Standards and Training Commission. 
E. Employee - Any person employed by the Division. 
F. DHSMV -- Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles. 
G. FDLE - Florida Department of Law Enforcement. 
H. FHP - Florida Highway Patrol. 
I. Manual - The Division of Gaming Enforcement Policy Manual. 
J. May - Indicates a permissive, discretionary or conditional action. 
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K. Member - Any person employed or appointed by the Division of Gaming 
Enforcement, including: 

• Full- and part-time employees 
• Certified special agents 
• Reserve or part-time special agents 
• Non-sworn employees 
• Volunteers 
• Interns 

L. Special Agent - Those members, regardless of rank, who are elected, 
appointed, or employed full time by the Division of Gaming Enforcement; who are 
vested with authority to carry firearms and make arrests; and whose primary 
responsibilities are the prevention and detection of crime or the enforcement of 
the laws of the state. This definition includes all certified supervisory and 
command personnel whose duties include, in whole or in part, the supervision, 
training, guidance and management responsibilities of full-time special agents or 
part-time special agents but does not include support personnel (§ 943.10(1), 
Fla. Stat.). 

M. On-duty - A member's status during the period when he/she is actually engaged 
in the performance of his/her assigned duties. 

N. Order - A written or verbal instruction issued by a superior. 
O. Part-time special agent - Those members who are employed or appointed less 

than full time, with or without compensation, who are vested with authority to 
bear arms and make arrests and whose primary responsibilities are the 
prevention and detection of crime or the enforcement of the penal, criminal, traffic 
or highway laws of the state (§ 943.10(6), Fla. Stat.). 

P. Rank - The title of the classification held by a special agent. 
Q. Shall or will - Indicates a mandatory action. 
R. Should - Indicates a generally required or expected action, absent a rational 

basis for failing to conform. 
S. Supervisor - A person in a position of authority that may include responsibility 

for hiring, transfer, suspension, promotion, discharge, assignment, reward or 
discipline of other division members, directing the work of other members or 
having the authority to adjust grievances. The supervisory exercise of authority 
may not be merely routine or clerical in nature but requires the use of 
independent judgment. 
The term "supervisor" may also include any person (e.g., special agent-in-
charge, lead or senior worker) given responsibility for the direction of the work of 
others without regard to a formal job title, rank or compensation. 
When there is only one division member on-duty, that person may also be the 
supervisor, except when circumstances reasonably require the notification or 
involvement of the member's off-duty supervisor or an on-call supervisor. 
 

V. Issuing the Policy Manual 
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An electronic version of the Policy Manual will be made available to all members on the 
division network for viewing and printing. No changes shall be made to the manual 
without authorization from the Director of Gaming Enforcement or the authorized 
designee. 
 
Each member shall acknowledge that he/she has been provided access to and has had 
the opportunity to review the Policy Manual and Departmental Directives. Members shall 
seek clarification as needed from an appropriate supervisor for any provisions that they 
do not fully understand. 
 

VI. Periodic Review of the Policy Manual 
 
The Director of Gaming Enforcement will ensure that the Policy Manual is periodically 
reviewed and updated as necessary. CFA 5.19 - 3.01M (C) CFA 5.20 - 3.01M (C) 
 

VII. Revisions to Policies 
 
All revisions to the Policy Manual will be provided to each member upon execution. Each 
member will be required to acknowledge that he/she has reviewed the revisions and 
shall seek clarification from an appropriate supervisor as needed. 

 
Members are responsible for keeping abreast of all Policy Manual revisions. 
Each Supervisor will ensure that members under his/her command are aware of any 
Policy Manual revision. 
 
All division members suggesting revision of the contents of the Policy Manual shall 
forward their written suggestions to their supervisors, who will consider the 
recommendations and forward them to the command staff as appropriate. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Retiree Concealed Firearms POLICY NUMBER 

02.61.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Law Enforcement 

AUTHORITY 

18 USC § 926C 

Section 943.132, Fla. Stat. 

Rule 11B-27.014, F.A.C 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
 
REVISED:       

 

 
I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 

 
It is the policy of the Division of Gaming Enforcement to provide identification cards to 
qualified former or retired special agents to facilitate the lawful carrying of concealed 
weapons by those individuals. 
 

II. PURPOSE 
 
The purpose of this policy is to provide guidelines for the issuance, denial, suspension or 
revocation of Division of Gaming Enforcement identification cards to qualified former or 
retired law enforcement officers under the Law Enforcement Officers’ Safety Act (LEOSA) 
and Florida law (18 USC § 926C; Section 943.132, Fla. Stat.; Rule 11B-27.014, F.A.C). 
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III. LEOSA 
 
The Director of Gaming Enforcement may issue an identification card for LEOSA 
purposes to any qualified former special agent of this division who (18 USC § 926C): 
 

A. Separated from service in good standing from this division as a special agent. 
B. Before such separation, had regular employment as a law enforcement officer for 

an aggregate of 10 years or more or, if employed as a law enforcement officer for 
less than 10 years, separated from service after completing any applicable 
probationary period due to a service-connected disability as determined by this 
division. 

C. Has not been disqualified for reasons related to mental health. 
D. Has not entered into an agreement with this division where the special agent 

acknowledges that he/she is not qualified to receive a firearms qualification 
certificate for reasons related to mental health. 

E. Is not prohibited by federal law from receiving or possessing a firearm. 
 

1. LEOSA Identification Card Format 
 
The LEOSA identification card should contain a photograph of the former special 
agent and identify him/her as having been employed as a special agent. 
If the Division of Gaming Enforcement qualifies the former special agent, the 
LEOSA identification card or separate certification should indicate the date the 
former special agent was tested or otherwise found by the Division to meet the 
active duty standards for qualification to carry a firearm. 
 

2. Authorization 

Any qualified former law enforcement officer, including a former special agent of 
this division, may carry a concealed firearm under 18 USC § 926C when he/she 
is: 

 
A. In possession of photographic identification that identifies him/her as 

having been employed as a law enforcement officer, and one of the 
following: 
 
1. An indication from the person’s former law enforcement agency that 

he/she has, within the past year, been tested or otherwise found by 
the law enforcement agency to meet agency-established active duty 
standards for qualification in firearms training to carry a firearm of the 
same type as the concealed firearm. 
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B. A certification, issued by either the state in which the person resides or by 
a certified firearms instructor who is qualified to conduct a firearms 
qualification test for active duty law enforcement officers within that state, 
indicating that the person has, within the past year, been tested or 
otherwise found to meet the standards established by the state or, if not 
applicable, the standards of any agency in that state (Section 943.132, 
Fla. Stat.; Rule 11B-27.014, F.A.C) 

C. Not under the influence of alcohol or another intoxicating or hallucinatory 
drug or substance. 

D. Not prohibited by federal law from receiving a firearm. 
E. Not in a location prohibited by Florida law or by a private person or entity 

on his/her property if such prohibition is permitted by Florida law. 
 

IV. FIREARMS PROFICIENCY VERIFICATION CARD 
 
Qualified retired law enforcement special agents must obtain a Firearms Proficiency 
Verification Card authorized by the Florida Criminal Justice Standards and Training 
Commission (CJSTC) and issued by a Rangemaster with current certifications from 
CJSTC (Section 943.132, Fla. Stat.; Rule 11B-27.014, F.A.C) A retiree shall meet 
the same firearms proficiency standards as required for active special agents with the 
Division 

 
1. Firearms Proficiency Verification Card Format 

The Firearms Proficiency Verification Card shall indicate the former special 
agent's name and the date he/she achieved a passing score on the firing range 
testing component of the firearms proficiency course Section 943.132, Fla. Stat. 

 
2. Authorization 

 
Qualified former special agents with a Firearms Proficiency Verification Card 
issued by a CJSTC-certified instructor under state law may carry concealed, within 
this state, any firearm inspected and approved by the Division. The card does not 
itself authorize a retiree to carry a concealed firearm outside this state. The former 
special agent must also meet state and LEOSA requirements. 
 

V. FORMER SPECIAL AGENT RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
A former special agent with a card issued under this policy shall immediately notify the 
Special Agent Supervisor of his/her arrest or conviction in any jurisdiction, or that he/she 
is the subject of a court order, in accordance with the Reporting of Arrests, Convictions 
and Court Orders Policy. 
 

1. Responsibilities Under LEOSA 
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In order to obtain or retain a LEOSA identification card, the former special agent 
shall: 

A. Sign a waiver of liability of the Division for all acts taken related to 
carrying a concealed firearm, acknowledging both his/her personal 
responsibility as a private person for all acts taken when carrying a 
concealed firearm as permitted by LEOSA and also that these acts were 
not taken as an employee or former employee of the Division. 

B. Remain subject to all applicable division policies and federal, state and 
local laws. 

C. Demonstrate good judgment and character commensurate with carrying a 
loaded and concealed firearm. 

D. Successfully pass an annual criminal history background check indicating 
that he/she is not prohibited by law from receiving or possessing a 
firearm. 

 
VI. DENIAL, SUSPENSION OR REVOCATION 

 
A LEOSA identification card may be denied or revoked upon a showing of good cause as 
determined by the Division. In the event that an identification card is denied, suspended 
or revoked, the former special agent may request a review by the Director of Gaming 
Enforcement. The decision of the Director of Gaming Enforcement is final. 
 

VII. FIREARM QUALIFICATIONS 
 
The Rangemaster may provide former special agents from this division an opportunity to 
qualify. Written evidence of the qualification and the weapons used will be provided and 
will contain the date of the qualification. The Rangemaster shall maintain a record of the 
qualifications and weapons used. 
 

VIII. FIREARM QUALIFICATIONS FOR NON-DIVISION RETIREES 
 
If the Rangemaster is authorized to provide qualifications for former law enforcement 
officers who did not retire from this division, the Rangemaster is required to follow the 
requirements of Section 943.132, Fla. Stat.; Rule 11B-27.014, F.A.C 
 
 
 

 
 
 

________________________________  _____________________________ 
    
Louis Trombetta      Date   
Executive Director   
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE: Standards of Conduct POLICY NUMBER 

03.01.01  

FGCC Section 
 

Human Resource Management 
 

AUTHORITY 
 

Section 112.313, F.S. 
Section 112.0455, F.S. 
Chapter 60L-36, F.A.C. 

Rule 60L-34.0042(3), F.A.C. 
 

  

EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
REVISED:       

 

 

I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 
 

A. This policy establishes standards of conduct that are consistent with the values and 
mission of the Florida Gaming Control Commission (“FGCC,” “Commission”) and are 
expected of all FGCC employees. The standards contained in this policy are not 
intended to be an exhaustive list of requirements and prohibitions, but they do identify 
many of the important matters concerning conduct. 
 

B. The continued employment or appointment of every employee of the FGCC shall be 
based on conduct that reasonably conforms to the guidelines set forth herein. Failure 
to meet the guidelines set forth in this policy, whether on- or off-duty, may be cause 
for disciplinary action. 

 
C. Employees are expected to act in a professional, responsible, and courteous manner 

deserving of public trust and to foster a positive, healthy, and productive work 
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environment. Behavior that is disruptive, unproductive, or unprofessional is cause for 
discipline up to and including dismissal. All employees are responsible for ensuring 
that the work environment at the Commission is positive, healthy, and productive. 
  

D. FGCC expects employees to use common sense and good judgment. It is impossible 
to identify all unacceptable conduct. Employees cannot excuse their unacceptable 
conduct because it is not specified in this policy. Supervisory and managerial 
employees determine what is considered as acceptable behavior, not the employee. 
 

II. DEFINITIONS 
 

A. Lawful Order: an order given by a supervisor or person in a supervisory role that is 
authorized, sanctioned, and not forbidden by law, rules, policies, or procedures. 

 
III. DUTY TO OBEY LAWFUL ORDERS 

 
A. Employees shall obey any lawful order from any division director or person in a position 

of authority, absent a reasonable and bona fide justification. This includes orders from 
a supervisor that are relayed by another employee. 
 

B. Supervisors shall not knowingly issue orders or directives that, if carried out, would 
result in a violation of any law or Commission policy. Supervisors should not issue 
orders that conflict with any previous order without making reasonable clarification that 
the new order is intended to countermand the earlier order. 

 
C. No employee is required to obey any order that appears to be in direct conflict with 

any federal law, state law or local ordinance. Following a known unlawful order is not 
a defense and does not relieve the employee from criminal or civil prosecution or 
discipline. If the legality of an order is in doubt, the affected employee shall ask the 
issuing supervisor to clarify the order or shall confer with a higher authority. The 
responsibility for refusal to obey rests with the employee, who shall subsequently be 
required to justify the refusal. 

 
D. Unless it would jeopardize the safety of any individual, employees who are presented 

with a lawful order that is in conflict with a previous lawful order, Commission policy or 
other directive shall respectfully inform the issuing supervisor of the conflict. The 
issuing supervisor is responsible for either resolving the conflict or clarifying that the 
lawful order is intended to countermand the previous lawful order or directive, in which 
case the employee is obligated to comply. 

 
E. Employees who are compelled to follow a conflicting lawful order after having given 

the issuing supervisor the opportunity to correct the conflict will not be held 
accountable for not complying with the lawful order or directive that was initially issued. 
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The person countermanding the original order shall notify, in writing, the person issuing 
the original order, indicating the action taken and the reason. 

 
IV. SUPERVISOR RESPONSIBILITIES 

 
A. Supervisors and managers are required to follow all policies and procedures and may 

be subject to discipline for: 
 

1. Failure to be reasonably aware of the performance of their subordinates or 
to provide appropriate guidance and control. 

2. Failure to report any known misconduct of an employee promptly and fully to 
his/her immediate supervisor or to document such misconduct appropriately 
or as required by policy. 

 
3. Directing a subordinate to violate a policy or directive, acquiescing to such a 

violation, or exhibiting indifference to such a violation. 
 

4. Exercising unequal or disparate authority toward any employee for malicious 
or other improper purpose. 

 
V. GENERAL STANDARDS 

 
A. Employees shall conduct themselves, whether on- or off-duty, in accordance with all 

applicable laws, ordinances, and rules. 
 

B. Employees shall familiarize themselves with policies and procedures and are 
responsible for compliance with each. Employees should seek clarification and 
guidance from supervisors in the event of any perceived ambiguity or uncertainty. 
 

C. Discipline may be initiated for any good cause. No punitive action may be taken 
against any law enforcement offer unless he/she is notified of the action and the 
reason or reasons for the action before the effective date of the action. 
 

D. It is not mandatory that a specific policy or rule violation be cited to sustain discipline. 
This policy is not intended to cover every possible type of misconduct. 

 
VI. CAUSES FOR DISCIPLINE 

 
Rule 60L-36.005, F.A.C., Disciplinary Standards, provides the minimum standards of 
conduct that applies to all FGCC employees. A violation of this rule may result in dismissal. 
Disciplinary action may be imposed for violations which shall include, but not be limited to 
the following: 
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A. Poor performance. Employees shall strive to perform at the highest level of efficiency 
and effectiveness; they shall do more than “just get by.” 

 
1. Employees are expected to be reliable and dependable. They should, for 

example, show up for work, ready to work; observe established work hours 
and scheduled meetings; complete work on time; and obtain permission 
before being off work and schedule leave in a manner that minimizes work 
disruption. 

 
2. Employees are expected to be effective. They should, for example, organize 

their work; stay focused on job related activities during work hours; provide 
the level of effort necessary to get the job done; demonstrate willingness and 
ability to make decisions and exercise sound judgment; produce work that 
consistently meets or exceeds expectations; accept responsibility for their 
actions and decisions; adapt to changes in work assignments, procedures, 
and technology; and be committed to improving individual performance. 

 
B. Negligence. Employees shall exercise due care and reasonable diligence in the 

performance of job duties. 
 

C. Inefficiency or inability to perform assigned duties. Employees shall, at a minimum, be 
able to perform duties in a competent and adequate manner. 

 
D. Inappropriate idleness while working. Continued and deliberate idleness during work 

periods that results in the employee’s failure to perform assigned tasks. This includes, 
but is not limited to, deliberately wasting time, engaging in idle talk or gossip or 
conducting personal business during work periods. 

 
E. Insubordination. Employees shall follow lawful orders and carry out the directives of 

persons with duly delegated authority. Employees shall resolve any differences with 
management in a constructive manner. 

 
F. Violation of law or agency rules. Employees shall abide by the law and applicable rules 

and policies and procedures, including those of the FGCC and the rules of the State 
Personnel System. All employees are subject to Part III of Chapter 112, F.S., 
governing standards of conduct, which agencies shall make available to employees. 
FGCC may determine that an employee has violated the law even if the violation has 
not resulted in arrest or conviction. Employees shall abide by both the criminal law, for 
example, drug laws; and the civil law, for example, laws prohibiting sexual harassment 
and employment discrimination. 

 
G. Abuse of sick leave privileges. Employees shall use sick leave in accordance with Rule 

60L-34.0042(3), F.A.C. Employees shall not use or claim sick leave for inappropriate, 
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unjustified purposes. For example, calling in sick on a day where annual leave was 
requested and denied. 

 
H. Conduct unbecoming a public employee. Employees shall conduct themselves, on 

and off the job, in a manner that will not bring discredit or embarrassment to the state. 
 

1. Employees shall be courteous, considerate, respectful, and prompt in dealing 
with and serving the public and co-workers. 

 
2. Employees shall maintain high standards of honesty, integrity, and 

impartiality. Employees shall place the interests of the public ahead of 
personal interests. Employees shall not use, or attempt to use, their official 
position for personal gain or confidential information for personal advantage. 

 
3. Employees shall protect state property from loss or abuse, and they shall use 

state property, equipment and personnel only in a manner beneficial to the 
agency. 

 
I. Misconduct. Employees shall refrain from conduct which, though not illegal or 

inappropriate for a state employee generally, is inappropriate for a person in the 
employee’s particular position. For example, cowardice may be dishonorable in people 
generally, but it may be entirely unacceptable in law enforcement officers. By way of 
further example, people are generally free to relate with others, but it may be entirely 
unacceptable for certain employees to enter into certain relations with others, such as 
supervisors in romantic relationships with their subordinates. 

 
J. Revealing confidential information to unauthorized person(s). It is crucial that 

employees exercise appropriate care with confidential information and adhere to all 
agency requirements governing confidentiality. Maintaining the security of personal 
and medical information of employees and Commission business are responsibilities 
of paramount importance. Knowingly and improperly disclosing confidential 
information acquired as a public servant to benefit personal interests or discussion of 
confidential information not relevant to the business need is strictly prohibited. 

 
K. Habitual drug use. FGCC shall not tolerate violations of Florida’s Drug Free Workplace 

Act, Section 112.0455, F.S. or other misuse of mood- or mind-altering substances, 
including alcohol and prescription medications. 

 
L. Convictions. Conviction of any crime, including a plea of nolo contendere and a plea 

of guilty with adjudication withheld, as set forth in section 16.713, Florida Statutes 
 

VII. DISCIPLINARY ACTION FOR VIOLATIONS 
 

A. There must be evidence that an employee failed to comply with a standard or 
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expectation before corrective action is taken. 
 

B. Supervisors shall follow the procedures as outlined in Policy 03.01.XX, Employee 
Counseling and Discipline prior to taking any disciplinary action against an employee. 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Adopted by the Florida Gaming Control Commission on:  
 
 
 
_________________________________________  ______________  
   
Louis Trombetta, Executive Director      Date    
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FLORIDA GAMING CONTROL COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  

 

TITLE:  Overtime Compensation  POLICY NUMBER 

03.13.01 

FGCC SECTION 

Human Resource Management 

AUTHORITY 
 

Chapter 110, Florida Statutes (F.S.) 
Chapter 112, F.S. 

U.S. Department of Labor Federal Fair Labor 
Standards Act (FLSA), 29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq. 

29 CFR 553.20-28 
Chapter 60L-32, F.A.C. 
Chapter 60L-34, F.A.C. 

 

 
EFFECTIVE DATE:  
  
 
REVISED:     
 
 
  

 

 

I. STATEMENT OF POLICY 
 
1) This policy establishes guidelines and procedures regarding overtime for employees, in 

conformance with the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA). 
 

2) Guidelines set forth herein include, but are not limited to, the approval of overtime by 
supervisors and provisions for earning, utilizing, and payment of overtime. 
 

3) The Florida Gaming Control Commission (“FGCC” “Commission”) will compensate included 
employees who work authorized overtime either by payment of wages or by the accrual of 
compensatory leave. Employees who are excluded from FLSA are not compensated for 
overtime worked. 
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II. DEFINITIONS 
 
A. Excluded: A position that has been designated as exempt from the overtime provisions of the 

Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA). 
 

B. Included: A position that receives overtime pay or compensatory leave credits in accordance 
with the FLSA. 
 

C. Overtime: Hours of work suffered, permitted or required, in excess of 40 hours during the 
established workweek or in excess of the number of full-time contract hours in the established 
extended work period, for which included employees are paid at the rate of time and one half, 
in accordance with the FLSA. 

 
III. GENERAL GUIDELINES 

 
A. Management is responsible for scheduling the normal hours of work for Commission 

employees.  
B. Commission employees are not authorized to work overtime without the prior approval of a 

supervisor. 
C. Supervisors will establish regular work schedules to limit the occurrence of overtime and 

should make every effort to ensure that additional hours worked are adjusted (offset) during 
the workweek or extended work period for included employees and during the regular work 
period for excluded employees.  

D. Prior to working overtime, employees will obtain approval through their chain of command, 
regardless of whether they intend to receive paid overtime or accrue compensatory leave. 
Additionally, included employees will not work in excess of 16 hours, including regularly 
scheduled work time in any consecutive 24-hour period without supervisory approval. 

E. People First is the system of record for recording time worked. All employees shall record 
their actual time worked in the People First system. Time worked shall be recorded in quarter 
increments as follows. 
 

Minutes Indicate on Timesheet 
- 07 0.0 

08 – 22 0.25 
23 – 37 0.50 
38 – 52 0.75 
53 – 60  1.00 

 

F. Payment of wages to included employees for overtime, or accrual of compensatory leave in 
lieu of compensation for overtime worked, shall be at the rate of one and one-half hours for 
each hour worked in excess of the employee’s workweek or extended work period. 

1. If an included employee separates from the Commission or moves to an 
excluded position with accumulated credits, the Commission shall pay the 
employee for all unused credits at the employee’s current straight time regular 
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hourly rate of pay or the rate in effect when the leave was accrued, whichever is 
greater, in accordance with the FLSA. 

2. The Commission may allow the accrual and payment of FLSA 
compensatory leave credits on a biannual or annual basis. At the close of business 
on the relevant date or dates, the Commission shall pay the included employee for 
all unused credits at the employee’s current straight time regular hourly rate of pay, 
in accordance with the FLSA. 

G. As addressed in Policy 03.04.01, Attendance and Leave, if an excluded career service 
employee is required to work hours in excess of the regular work period, the employee shall 
earn regular compensatory leave credits on an hour-for-hour basis; provided, no employee 
may accrue more than 240 hours. 

1. The regular compensatory leave credits shall not transfer to another 
agency or pay plan. Unused credits shall be forfeited upon separation from the 
Commission or the pay plan. 

2. If an employee is laid off, the Commission shall hold the credits in abeyance 
and, if the employee is reemployed within one year following layoff, shall credit 
them to the employee upon reemployment. 

H. Supervisors may not authorize or approve their own overtime. 
 
IV. SUPERVISOR RESPONSIBILITIES 

 
A. Prior to authorizing an employee to work overtime, supervisors shall evaluate the need for the 

overtime. Supervisors should not authorize any request to work overtime if the overtime 
would not be an appropriate use of the Commission’s resources. 

B. Supervisors shall verify the actual time worked by the employee prior to approving the 
employee’s timesheet in People First. Supervisors identifying any unauthorized overtime or 
discrepancy shall counsel with the employee or initiate disciplinary action consistent with the 
Standards of Conduct and Discipline policy. 
 

V. REQUESTING USE OF COMPENSATORY LEAVE 
 
A. Employees who have accrued compensatory leave credits shall be allowed to use that leave 

for time off within a reasonable period after making a request if the request does not unduly 
disrupt the unit’s operations. Requests to use compensatory leave will be submitted to the 
employee’s supervisor at least 24 hours in advance of its intended use. Supervisors may 
make exceptions in unusual or extraordinary circumstances. 

B. Compensatory leave may not be used for time off for a date and time when the employee is 
required to appear in court on Commission-related matters. Supervisors shall not 
unreasonably deny an employee’s request to use compensatory leave. 

 
VI. SUBSTITUTION OF SPECIAL COMPENSATORY LEAVE AND THE HIERARCHY FOR 

SUBSTITUTING 
 

A. The Commission shall require all employees to use accrued special compensatory leave 
credits before approving an employee’s request for annual leave or regular compensatory 
leave, unless otherwise provided by an applicable collective bargaining agreement. 

B. The hierarchy for substituting compensatory leave before annual leave is as follows: 
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1. Special compensatory leave credits 
2. Regular compensatory leave credits 
3. Annual leave credits, unless such annual leave credits are being substituted for an 

employee’s unpaid individual medical leave granted in accordance with the federal 
Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA), or family medical leave or parental leave 
granted in accordance with section 110.221, F.S., the FMLA, or both. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Adopted by the Florida Gaming Control Commission on:  
 
 
 
_________________________________________  ______________   
  
Louis Trombetta, Executive Director      Date    
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